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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good morning. My

          3  name is James Sanders, Jr., and I am the Chair of

          4  the Committee on Economic Development. Today, as

          5  well as the hearing on the proposed stadium for the

          6  west side of Manhattan, we are going to review and

          7  vote on one final set of applications for a Zone

          8  Equivalent Area shift resolution.

          9                 As you may recall, the Committee has

         10  held hearings on shift resolutions as they pertain

         11  to companies who are applying for a wage tax credit

         12  with New York State for having created jobs in Zone

         13  Equivalent Areas. These are authorized by the New

         14  York State Legislature and designated by the New

         15  York State Department of Economic Development. They

         16  are census tracks that have poverty and unemployment

         17  demographics that are equivalent to those found in

         18  empire zones but are located outside the empire

         19  area.

         20                 The ZEA applicants require the

         21  approval of a shift resolution by the City Council

         22  in order for the State to then review their

         23  application for the certification that would make

         24  them eligible for the wage tax credit.

         25                 The ZEA provision of the current
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          2  empire zone legislation is set to expire on June

          3  13th. Applicants have until June 11th to submit

          4  their applications to the State, along with a shift

          5  resolution approved by the Council.

          6                 The Committee staff has received five

          7  more applications for a shift resolution and has

          8  done due diligence on them.

          9                 Today we are going to consider and

         10  vote on these resolutions, which is an amended

         11  version of the resolution that was introduced.

         12                 The amended version reflects the

         13  three new applications that were submitted and

         14  reviewed as of the Stated Meeting on May 19th when

         15  the resolution was referred to this Committee.

         16  Therefore, the shift resolution we are voting on

         17  involves five applicants in total. We are going to

         18  put this to a vote.

         19                 Are there any discussion before we go

         20  to a vote by Committee members?

         21                 I must say that I wish that we had

         22  more time to look at this matter. I know that these

         23  are very important, but I also understand that there

         24  has been quite an amount of controversy on the

         25  Committee, and I must state my own unreadiness. If
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          2  we are ready to call a question?

          3                 Yes, I'm ready for the roll call.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Abstain.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I vote aye, but

          8  I just wanted to go on the record stating that being

          9  a member of this Committee, I'm concerned about

         10  approving these zone equivalent areas and the

         11  shifts, concerning the job creation portion that we

         12  don't follow up with some of these companies, and

         13  I'm not too sure how we can partner up, if we can

         14  explore how to partner up with many of these

         15  companies that are claiming to retain jobs, how

         16  we're able to hold them accountable, and

         17  specifically to areas where there's high

         18  unemployment rates, how we can merge these two

         19  entities to be able to sustain some of the poverty

         20  levels that we have in certain neighborhoods outside

         21  of Manhattan to be able to give back what they're

         22  gaining from these Zone Equivalent Areas.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: My colleague,

         24  will you forgive me if I say, I hear your position,

         25  and only because time is not our friend, I'm going
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          2  to accept what you're saying, you've voting aye on

          3  this but you want further discussion on this issue.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chair, may

          9  I just be given a moment to explain my vote?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: As you stated

         12  in the opening of this vote, the concern has reached

         13  a feverous pitch with respect to the courtesies

         14  being given to this Committee in order to make an

         15  informed decision about matters that we're voting

         16  on, very important matters with respect to the

         17  economic development and incentives for development

         18  in the City of New York.

         19                 I have reached a point where I think

         20  certainly our votes are being taken for granted, and

         21  for that very reason, I think a signal needs to be

         22  sent to those who keep sending us these last-minute

         23  items. Without providing us the opportunity to have

         24  due diligence, that this is not the way the City of

         25  New York does business, therefore, I abstain, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Mr. Chair, I'd

          5  just like a moment to explain my vote very briefly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely, sir.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I'm glad that

          8  this Committee is finally hearing some of the

          9  statements I made in the past in regard to these

         10  zone shifts being sent to this Committee without

         11  giving the Committee and the members of this

         12  Committee the respect to thoroughly review them, and

         13  I'm glad that today under your leadership on this

         14  issue that you abstain, and I feel compelled based

         15  on the past few hearings that we had to this regard

         16  on other companies under this subject matter, I'm

         17  proud to abstain alongside you.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Pass.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gonzalez.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Aye. And I

         24  just want to have permission, Chair, to just explain

         25  briefly.
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          2                 My concern is for the future of the

          3  City of New York, and along with my colleagues and

          4  exactly what Council Member Reyna said, I have

          5  concerns and we need to continue to be vigilant,

          6  because we have a responsibility as elected

          7  officials. Our positions and our work are not

          8  ceremonial. We work very hard and we need to keep

          9  the eye and the focus on what our economy is going

         10  to be in the future.

         11                 Thank you. Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         15  Sanders.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I'm going to

         17  change my vote on this issue, so we can have further

         18  discussion on this. I vote aye so it can go further.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         20  the affirmative, zero in the negative and two

         21  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         22                 Council Members, please sign the

         23  Committee reports.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Why don't we
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          2  leave this vote open until the end of the day.

          3                 All right, let's get to the matter

          4  that has brought everyone to the table. My name is

          5  James Sanders, Jr., and I am, of course, the Chair

          6  of the Committee on Economic Development. I am very

          7  pleased to hold this important hearing of the

          8  Economic Development Committee to explore the

          9  proposal for the development of the New York Sports

         10  and Convention Center and the Javits Center

         11  expansion, as part of the Hudson Yards Redevelopment

         12  Plan.

         13                 There is intense debate between the

         14  proponents of the proposal, and those opposed.

         15  Proponents of the proposal welcome what they believe

         16  will be an economic boom to New York City and to

         17  Manhattan in particular.

         18                 They cite the jobs and the visitors

         19  spending that will result if the multi-use sports

         20  center and the Javits Center expansion become a

         21  reality.

         22                 And, of course, many sports

         23  enthusiasts are thrilled at the prospects of New

         24  York City becoming home to the Jets Football Team.

         25                 On the other hand, some opponents of
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          2  this plan doubt that the multi-use stadium will

          3  result in much economic benefit to the City and

          4  question their propriety of the use of tax revenues

          5  and payments in lieu of taxes that will fund certain

          6  aspects of the plan.

          7                 Furthermore, many believe that the

          8  development will unfairly displace hundreds of

          9  residents and many businesses and cause serious

         10  congestion in what they said is an already congested

         11  area.

         12                 It is vital that the facts

         13  surrounding the Hudson Yards' plan be made clear so

         14  that the public and the government officials that

         15  serve them can engage in informed discussions of the

         16  likely impact of the development.

         17                 Accordingly, the purpose of this

         18  hearing is to unearth the facts surrounding the

         19  proposal so that all involved, including the

         20  Council, can take appropriate actions.

         21                 We expect there will be a large

         22  number of people that wish to testify today. The

         23  Committee will make every attempt to hear from as

         24  many people as possible. Please note, that although

         25  witnesses, other than invited witnesses, are
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          2  typically called to testify in the order in which

          3  they submit a request to testify. There may be a

          4  slight departure from this process today in order to

          5  provide a balance in the testimony received.

          6                 Please be understanding of our

          7  attempt to provide the Committee and those in

          8  attendance with as many different perspectives as

          9  possible.

         10                 I would like to thank Beverly Reid

         11  and Danette Dargan, the staff of the Economic

         12  Development Committee, for their hard work on this

         13  hearing.

         14                 With that, I invite the Speaker of

         15  the City Council, Council Member Gifford Miller, to

         16  say a few words.

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman. Thank you for your leadership in bringing

         19  us all here together on this very important issue. I

         20  want to thank all of our witnesses today, both for

         21  and against the stadium. This is a very important

         22  discussion that governs the future of this City in

         23  many important ways. There are other important

         24  issues, of course, but this is one that is a very

         25  considerable expenditure of public resources, of
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          2  enormous portion of available land for development,

          3  in a very important area, and I'm glad to see so

          4  many people here. This is precisely what the City

          5  Council is here for, to have this kind of public

          6  discussion about a matter of such public importance.

          7                 I want to say that I am strongly in

          8  favor of the expansion of the Javits Center, and in

          9  favor also of the considerable upzoning of this

         10  portion of the west side, in order to accommodate

         11  greater commercial and residential development.

         12                 That zoning is a matter of a ULURP

         13  process, which we expect to go forward in the near

         14  future. The Council will make a final decision on

         15  that. There are a lot of legitimate concerns to be

         16  addressed as part of that process, and I look

         17  forward to working with the community and with the

         18  Administration in order to try to address all those

         19  concerns.

         20                 With regard to the stadium itself, I

         21  have said before and I'll say again, I am not

         22  opposed per se to the notion of a stadium on this

         23  site. My concern, and it is a real concern, is about

         24  the expenditure of public dollars for the

         25  construction of a football stadium. And I think that

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  there are real questions that have to be answered.

          3                 First of all, how much is the public

          4  investment? And I know that the plans that have been

          5  released thus far have indicated 300 million in

          6  terms of City funding and 300 million in State

          7  funding. I'm still confused as to exactly who is

          8  paying what for the development rights of the

          9  stadium.

         10                 This is a very valuable piece of

         11  land, particularly once the City or the State spends

         12  the money to put a deck over it. It has very

         13  considerable rights. There is a considerable amount

         14  of those development rights that would be used for

         15  the construction of the stadium. In fact, Mr. Cross

         16  and I discussed this just the other day.

         17                 So, I'm still unclear as to who is

         18  paying what for those development rights, and what

         19  happens to the residual rights, and what rate is

         20  being paid for those rights so that we can really

         21  make a decision about just how much public resources

         22  actually are being expended here.

         23                 Once that's determined, I think then

         24  there are two questions that have to be answered.

         25  The first question is, is this a good investment? In
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          2  terms of the return for the City and the State

          3  public investment.

          4                 And the second question is, even if

          5  it is a good investment, is it an investment that

          6  draws resources away from other very important good

          7  investments? Because there are a lot of good

          8  investments that we could make. We need better

          9  schools. We need more parks. We need stronger

         10  communities. And what I am concerned about,

         11  therefore, is that in making sure that not only is

         12  this an investment that gets us a return, and how

         13  much that investment is, but also in determining

         14  that this is not an investment that draws away from

         15  other important investments.

         16                 There are some other areas, of

         17  course, of concern that I think are legitimate that

         18  I expect to be addressed as part of this hearing and

         19  going forward, regarding traffic congestion and

         20  environmental causes with regard to drawing dollars

         21  away from Battery Park City Authority and from

         22  available public housing, not public, affordable

         23  housing investments, these are concerns that can be

         24  addressed.  But my central concern is the matter

         25  that I related to at the beginning. I think this
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          2  hearing is an important step in the process of the

          3  public discussion of exactly those kinds of

          4  concerns. I'm glad that so many people have come

          5  here to participate in that, and I look forward to

          6  working with all the parties involved to try to make

          7  sure that we do what's right and in the best

          8  interests to the City in the future. And I thank all

          9  my colleagues for their time and their attention.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         11                 Council Member Weprin, I believe you

         12  have a short remark to make?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes. Thank

         14  you, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 I'm here today to voice my strong

         16  support for the West Side Development Plan. The New

         17  York Sports and Convention Center is a vital part of

         18  New York City's economic development plan. The plan

         19  includes the expansion of the Javits Center, as well

         20  as a multi-use stadium, which would also serve as

         21  the home of the New York Jets.

         22                 The most crucial answer to the

         23  question of why the Jets must land in New York City,

         24  is the fact that the Jets currently reside in New

         25  Jersey, meaning a move to New York represents
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          2  incremental tax revenue that the City is not now

          3  realizing.

          4                 A Tischman Construction Report serves

          5  to confirm that all those wishing to reframe the

          6  discussion as a battle between Manhattan and Queens

          7  are completely out of bounds. We must stop that

          8  debate, as it can only hurt the chances of this plan

          9  being a reality, and New York City cannot afford to

         10  miss this opportunity.

         11                 The Javits' expansion allows New York

         12  City to bid on over 60 large trade shows and

         13  expositions that the current venue is too small to

         14  house. Today's trade shows and expositions require a

         15  facility that can host multimedia events and see

         16  tens of thousands of people for plenary and keynote

         17  events.

         18                 This expansion will lead to over

         19  400,000 additional hotel night reservations, and

         20  millions of restaurant and cultural dollars that

         21  this City currently is not receiving. In fact, New

         22  York can look forward to incremental tax revenues of

         23  over $75 million per year.

         24                 I have given my opinion as to why the

         25  New York City Sports and Convention Center is a good
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          2  deal for New York City.

          3                 I have pointed out New York's unique

          4  opportunity to leverage an unprecedented $800

          5  million private investment by the New York Jets for

          6  a multi-use facility on the west side.

          7                 I have reached this conclusion based

          8  on an Ernst and Young report that states from an

          9  economic standpoint the Javits' expansion and

         10  stadium plan are a no-brainer, and from a Tischman

         11  Construction report that emphasizes the importance

         12  to siting this project on the west side.

         13                 As Chairman of the City Council's

         14  Finance Committee, I urge that the West Side Plan

         15  move forward. That is what economic development is

         16  all about. It's about leveraging public dollars with

         17  private dollars, such as the $800 million being

         18  funded by the Jets.

         19                 It is about expanding existing

         20  venues, such as the Javits Center, to make them more

         21  appealing to potential tenants. And it's about

         22  developing projects that will have incremental

         23  benefits across the economic arena, such as creating

         24  thousands of jobs in the construction, hotel, motel,

         25  restaurant and tourist industries.
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          2                 Economic development in New York City

          3  is about creating a better future. Economic

          4  development is about creating great investments for

          5  New York City. The West Side Plan, in my opinion,

          6  does both of these things and more.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          9                 Council Member Chris Quinn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         11                 I represent the area in question for

         12  today's hearing, and I first want to very much thank

         13  Chairperson Sanders for having this hearing.

         14                 As was referenced, this is not a

         15  hearing that the Council is required to have, and I

         16  think it really speaks to the Chair's dedication to

         17  the entire City and the economic well-being of the

         18  entire City, that he has willingly, without

         19  requirement, entered into having this endless

         20  hearing. So, I very much want to thank him for that.

         21                 I also want to thank Deputy Mayor

         22  Doctoroff and his office and the Jets. Although I

         23  have been in disagreement with them about this

         24  proposal, both the Jets and the Deputy Mayor and his

         25  office have been nothing but forthcoming and helpful
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          2  in my quest for information, which I usually use

          3  then to oppose them. So, thank you both very much

          4  for that.

          5                 As I've said, I am opposed to the

          6  proposal for a sports and convention center, a

          7  multi-use facility, a stadium on the west side. I am

          8  very, very supportive of the idea of expanding the

          9  Javits Convention Center.

         10                 I think the best thing we can do for

         11  the economic development future of our City is to

         12  focus our collective resources on expanding the

         13  Javits Center.

         14                 If you look at the 18 cities that

         15  beat us in convention business, two of those have

         16  convention centers which are connected to stadiums.

         17  The majority of the cities that beat us out have

         18  21st century convention centers. Not convention

         19  centers that flow into a domed stadium. That is what

         20  we should focus on here. That is what we can unite

         21  behind, and that is what will bring jobs to the

         22  City.

         23                 Every time a municipality has funded

         24  in part or full an athletic stadium, that

         25  municipality, more importantly its taxpayers, have
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          2  ended up financial losers.

          3                 Stadia do not create the outward

          4  flowing, economic circles that I believe convention

          5  centers can and would create in this City.

          6                 Beyond that, this proposal, of

          7  course, has particular implications on the

          8  neighborhoods I represent. Although Mayor Bloomberg

          9  has repeatedly contended that only 150 people live

         10  in this area, in fact, the room tells otherwise, but

         11  in fact 21,000 people live in the 50 square block

         12  area that will be rezoned as part of the overall

         13  effort related to this proposal. And that's why

         14  today's hearing is so important, because it gives us

         15  an opportunity to look at all of the issues, the

         16  financing, the zoning, the state and the City

         17  financial allocations more holistically, because

         18  they are very connected.

         19                 And as it relates, you know, this

         20  proposal, in addition to the impact it will have on

         21  zoning, in addition to the taking us away from the

         22  focus exclusively on an expanded Javits Center, we

         23  are also talking about $600 million of City and

         24  State capital funds going into this project. And

         25  although the Mayor has tried to make that seem like
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          2  it isn't a big financial investment, we are all

          3  involved now in the budget process.

          4                 Every Council member on this dais can

          5  tell you how hard they are fighting to get more

          6  capital dollars into the schools and senior centers

          7  and clinics in their district.

          8                 This, as so much of government is, is

          9  a moment about choices and priorities. And if we

         10  have $300 million, where is the better investment?

         11  What is the better investment that will certainly

         12  yield benefit for the City? I don't think the facts

         13  in other cities shows the best investment is a

         14  stadium, and I think the needs, the capital needs in

         15  this City, the schools without working bathrooms,

         16  the middle schools without libraries, our public

         17  hospitals which are in desperate need of capital

         18  investment, those are the priorities and the places

         19  we should be putting our money, not short scarce

         20  public dollars into a stadium for the Jets.

         21                 I hope that out of today's hearing we

         22  can refocus and all unite around a zoning plan which

         23  creates development on the west side, but also

         24  recognizes the existing neighborhood, and focuses us

         25  on a 21st century expanded Javits Center that will
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          2  really be a draw that will move us up from 18 into

          3  the top number of convention cities in this country.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. Quiet

          6  down, please.

          7                 I've been informed that we're at a

          8  capacity crowd, meaning that there are people

          9  outside who cannot come in. Therefore, those people

         10  need seats. The easiest way to give them seats is to

         11  start pointing out people who need to be removed.

         12                 If you'll work with me, you can stay

         13  seated. I have not been good at my housekeeping, and

         14  I have not even named who is here today, in terms of

         15  the Committee.

         16                 We have been joined by, of course,

         17  Council Member Gonzalez, Recchia, Clarke, Reyna,

         18  Gioia, Gerson and Dilan from the Committee. And we

         19  have been, of course, joined by Council Member

         20  Weprin, Reed, and Quinn, who joined us today.

         21                 We've also been joined, we have a

         22  stellar panel before us, and we're very anxious to

         23  get to this panel, and I believe that all the fun

         24  we've had before that moment, that moment is now.

         25  And Council Member James. I couldn't see you over
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          2  there, Ma'am.

          3                 We've been joined by a panel that we

          4  really need to hear from. I'm just doing great this

          5  morning. You should see my next act. It might come

          6  soon.

          7                 We have been joined, of course, by

          8  many different people, and I will speak to them, but

          9  first let us hear from the President of the Empire

         10  State Development Corporation, Mr. Charles Gargano.

         11  Sir, thank you very much for coming out to join us

         12  and your testimony.

         13                 MR. GARGANO: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14  Chairman Sanders, Council Member Weprin, and members

         15  of the City Council, and all other officials here

         16  today, I am honored to be here to discuss something

         17  I strongly support, how a new multi-use facility on

         18  the west side will be the most successful economic

         19  development venture in New York in years, which will

         20  benefit the City and State for decades to come.

         21                 Governor Pataki and Empire State

         22  Development Corporation are dedicated to this

         23  project, and we are confident that its construction

         24  will yield unlimited benefits for all New Yorkers,

         25  and that is why the State has committed to an
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          2  investment of $300 million to support its

          3  development.

          4                 Empire State Development Corporation

          5  has a proven track record of accelerating economic

          6  progress by way of construction and development

          7  across New York State.

          8                 We have spearheaded projects that

          9  have revitalized neighborhoods, created jobs,

         10  spurred economic growth, and brought thousands of

         11  tourists into the gateway of New York each and every

         12  day.

         13                 There is no better example of

         14  revitalization than the transformation of 42nd

         15  Street. Ten years ago, nobody had heard of addresses

         16  like Five Times Square, B.B. King's Nightclub, the

         17  Conde' Nast Building or the New Victory Theater.

         18  Today, these properties are valuable icons of

         19  economic growth, each site bringing thousands of

         20  dollars into the City daily.

         21                 As a result of Empire State

         22  Development's vision and commitment to renewing this

         23  dilapidated part of the west side, 42nd Street is

         24  now a pulsating entertainment mecca for millions of

         25  tourists and residents.
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          2                 But our achievements in development

          3  have materialized through the progress rising up all

          4  over the state. The revitalization of Niagara Falls

          5  is well underway. In fact, in a few weeks, we will

          6  unveil a brand new 116,000 square foot conference

          7  and convention center, which is already attracting

          8  tourists to new restaurants and shops in downtown

          9  Niagara Falls.

         10                 We are also carrying out the

         11  Governor's initiatives to reclaim New York's

         12  waterfronts, from the redevelopment of the 12 acres

         13  along the Erie Canal, to the advancements of the

         14  Queens West Waterfront, and the Brooklyn Bridge

         15  Park. And of course, the most notable example of a

         16  commitment to economic development is the rebuilding

         17  of Lower Manhattan.

         18                 But we have not celebrated these

         19  successes or achieved these goals entirely on our

         20  own. Empire State Development engages in

         21  public/private partnerships in an effort to maximize

         22  the State's investment in projects within the State

         23  and the City.

         24                 And there's no better illustration of

         25  how public/private partnerships can maximize
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          2  opportunities for New Yorkers than the New York

          3  Sports and Convention Center. The New York Jets

          4  investment of $800 million is a testament to their

          5  confidence in the success of this unique facility.

          6                 The investment represents one of the

          7  largest private investments in a stadium in history.

          8  While some critics have questioned the location of

          9  the new facility, the fact remains that the Jets

         10  selected the west side as the base for its future

         11  home games because they know this investment will

         12  benefit all New Yorkers, while offering the finest

         13  location to the team.

         14                 The New York Sports and Convention

         15  Center will be the most advanced multi-purpose

         16  facility of its kind in the world.

         17                 The scale of the project will be

         18  phenomenal. It will be built with approximately

         19  80,000 tons of steel. That is almost 60,000 more

         20  tons of steel than in the Chrysler Building when it

         21  was constructed.

         22                 But more important, as a reflection

         23  of the Governor's new environmental agenda, the

         24  structure will be a model building in sustainable

         25  design, and will not generate the usual level of
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          2  pollution common with most construction projects.

          3                 It will function as a stadium, a home

          4  to Jets' games, major events, and sporting events,

          5  such as the Final Four, the Super Bowl, and perhaps

          6  even the Olympics in 2012.

          7                 But when the Jets are not in town,

          8  the new multi-use facility will complement and

          9  enhance the Jacob Javits Center's expansion, and

         10  will bring New York City's expo and convention

         11  capacity to among the top five in the nation.

         12                 The New York Sports and Convention

         13  Center will house 186,000 square feet of exhibition

         14  space linked via an underground concourse to the

         15  Javits Convention Center.

         16                 This new space could provide for

         17  countless new expo events and numerous plenary

         18  sessions.

         19                 We all know that the current

         20  convention center is outdated and inadequate. That

         21  is one of the many reasons why today Governor Pataki

         22  proposed legislation that would authorize the

         23  expansion and improvement of the Jacob Javits

         24  Convention Center.

         25                 But how exactly will the City and
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          2  State's economy be impacted by these new facilities?

          3  Initial estimates show that combined, these projects

          4  will create almost 25,000 construction-related jobs.

          5                 And the multi-use facility alone is

          6  estimated to create over 14,000 construction-related

          7  jobs.

          8                 In addition, our preliminary

          9  estimates show that overall activity at the

         10  multi-use facility will generate over 4,500 jobs and

         11  over $65 million in tax revenues to the City of New

         12  York and the State of New York.

         13                 Lastly, it's important to recognize

         14  the impact that the stadium will have on our tourism

         15  industry.

         16                 New York City is the epicenter of the

         17  State's tourism initiatives. Working with our

         18  partners in the tourism industry, such as NYC and

         19  Co., we have showcased, celebrated and marketed the

         20  wealth of attraction to the greatest City in the

         21  world. Through our arts and culture, our history and

         22  rich heritage, our hotels, restaurants, shops,

         23  fashion and vibrant nightlife.

         24                 And there is no doubt that a new

         25  stadium will significantly advance these initiatives
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          2  and inject unlimited economic growth into the City

          3  and State.

          4                 It will bring decades of

          5  ever-increasing new tourism revenues to the City as

          6  these facilities come into full swing.

          7                 Following the conclusion of a

          8  comprehensive environmental review, we expect

          9  construction to begin on the new convention corridor

         10  in the spring of 2005.

         11                 This project is about much more than

         12  just a sports team. It is about the existing local

         13  merchants whose businesses will greatly improve from

         14  increased visitors.

         15                 It is about the new stores and

         16  restaurants which will move to the neighborhood to

         17  serve the increased consumer demand.

         18                 This project is about the rebirth of

         19  an economically vibrant west side, that will create

         20  new benefits for all New Yorkers for generations to

         21  come.

         22                 Thank you very much for this

         23  opportunity to present this information. I'll be

         24  happy to answer any questions, if you have any.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.
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          2  I know that your time, as you have stated earlier,

          3  there are many very worthy appointments that you

          4  must keep. We're going to depart from, slightly from

          5  protocol to raise some questions with you.

          6                 MR. GARGANO: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I will encourage

          8  my colleagues to join me in brevity, that not only

          9  our questions need to be sharp, remember that we are

         10  trying to make sure that we hear from some of these

         11  worthy people, some of the citizens of New York.

         12                 Sir, there are many worthy

         13  investments that we could make in New York City. Is

         14  this the investment that you believe, or is this the

         15  key investment that you believe that can trigger the

         16  rebirth that all of us want to see?

         17                 MR. GARGANO: The primary purpose of

         18  this project is the expansion of Javits north and

         19  south. Certainly if the private sector is willing to

         20  spend $800 million, we, the State of New York,

         21  consider investing $300 million in a platform to

         22  create an opportunity for an economic development

         23  project, we believe that $300 million investment by

         24  the State leveraging 800 million from the private

         25  sector is certainly a good deal.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Mr. Speaker.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: Thank you,

          4  Ambassador, for coming, the rest of the

          5  distinguished panel, I appreciate it.

          6                 On the point that I raised earlier in

          7  my remarks, with regard to the development rights,

          8  this is a valuable site that's under the MTA's

          9  control. This City is inputting, as you mentioned,

         10  300, the State 300. The State's investment is to put

         11  a platform, right?

         12                 MR. GARGANO: That's correct.

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, the question that

         14  I have then is, where the value of the property that

         15  the Jets would be gaining by being able to build on

         16  this site, how do we value that value? What loss of

         17  value is there to the MTA? And how does this deal

         18  compensate the public and the MTA for the loss of

         19  value?

         20                 MR. GARGANO: Well, first of all, I'd

         21  like to mention that we have an MOU between the MTA,

         22  the City of New York and the State of New York, and

         23  in this MOU, those things do have to be worked out.

         24                 The MTA clearly will determine what

         25  the value is of the air rights.
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          2                 I have been told in discussions with

          3  the MTA that some of the air rights will be

          4  transferred to the easterly portion of the rail

          5  yards, therefore keeping that value of air rights.

          6                 But there will be a value that the

          7  MTA will obviously put on the table when the MOU

          8  comes into a final agreement.

          9                 SPEAKER MILLER: And, so, is the City

         10  or the State going to pay for that? Are the Jets

         11  going to pay for that?

         12                 What you're saying is basically we

         13  don't know yet what that value is, we should know

         14  that some time in the relatively near future?

         15                 MR. GARGANO: We should know that.

         16  That will be an agreement between the New York Jets

         17  and the MTA.

         18                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. Thank you very

         19  much for the answer to that question.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Quinn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Just a quick

         23  follow-up on the air rights. Have the Jets agreed to

         24  pay for whatever price it is that the MTA sets, or

         25  is there a threshold price, or do they have a cap at
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          2  which point the City or State might have to then

          3  pick up the rest?

          4                 MR. GARGANO: The City and State, at

          5  this point are capped at 600 million. Three-hundred

          6  million the State will be spending toward the

          7  platform. The City of New York will be contributing

          8  100 million towards that platform, which is a total

          9  cost of 400 million. And then 200 million for the

         10  retractable dome.

         11                 We are capped at that, the City and

         12  State, at that number. In the MOU, as I stated

         13  earlier, there will have to be a worked out

         14  agreement between the Jets and the MTA, and that

         15  will be between those two parties.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I guess I'll

         17  ask the Jets what will happen if the MTA wants more

         18  than they do want to spend.

         19                 For the State portion of the money

         20  for the 300 million, that obviously is capital

         21  money, and it's going to be floated off of bonds,

         22  which they'll be issued and hopefully paid for based

         23  on the pilots, et cetera, the money that comes out

         24  of the development. Do we have for the State portion

         25  of it, a schedule how many buildings need to be
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          2  built by when to help pay back X part of it, that

          3  type of a thing? Is there any kind of schedule or

          4  timetable that relates to the bonds and the

          5  infrastructure pilots and the infrastructure

          6  projects and how they intersect with the pilots in

          7  the other payments for the anticipated commercial

          8  development?

          9                 I guess I want a sense of what has to

         10  happen to make sure it all gets paid back?

         11                 MR. GARGANO: Councilwoman Quinn, are

         12  you referring to the Hudson Yards, or are you

         13  referring to the Sports Corridor, Sports Convention

         14  Center Corridor?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, I'm

         16  actually interested to know what the schedule is for

         17  all of the capital money that's going into it.

         18                 So, for this question I really want

         19  to get a sense of what has to happen to pay the debt

         20  that's associated with the State's $300 million

         21  outlay?

         22                 MR. GARGANO: Right. The State

         23  anticipates that we will have to begin payments

         24  somewhere around 2008, 2009, at a time where the

         25  facility will be operating, and we anticipate
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          2  revenue, added revenue to the City and State of, as

          3  I mentioned before, our estimate is $64 million a

          4  year, which will more than cover, if you divide that

          5  in half between City and State is 32 million, we

          6  anticipate our payments to be about 20 million, 21

          7  million, so we will have revenue, more than enough

          8  revenue to offset the cost of payments.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What has to

         10  happen to make that 32 million a reality?

         11                 MR. GARGANO: First of all, it's a

         12  financial plan that has been evaluated and we

         13  anticipate that revenue as a result of, as an

         14  example, the state income tax on the players, sales

         15  tax, other taxes, when you add them all together, we

         16  have come up, using our model in New York State,

         17  which is very close to the City's model, City's

         18  amount, and a little different from the Jets, not

         19  that much, and we anticipate that we will be, the

         20  added revenue annually will be $32 million to the

         21  State, with an expenditure of about $21 million in

         22  payments.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The financial

         24  plan or document you referenced that had been

         25  analyzed, what document was that? Was that the Ernst
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          2  and Young study?

          3                 MR. GARGANO: That's correct. It's

          4  something that the Jets had asked for. And we, like

          5  the City of New York, we have made our own

          6  evaluations using our models in New York State,

          7  which we use for all projects that we are going to

          8  be involved in. So, our model, as I said, was a bit

          9  different, not too much different from the City, but

         10  we have a model that tells us that we'll have an

         11  added revenue of $64 million a year.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And the State's

         13  model was not, a basis for that was not the Ernst

         14  and Young data, it was other data?

         15                 MR. GARGANO: It was us evaluating the

         16  Ernst and Young data, that's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: A final

         18  question, Council Member.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sure.

         20                 One, I would like to get a copy of,

         21  if the Committee could get a copy of the information

         22  that you said kind of pieces together the 32

         23  million, the State tax on the players, the income

         24  tax, any development, I'd like to get a copy of that

         25  so we could see it. Because it's slightly
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          2  speculative, so to see it on paper, I think would be

          3  very helpful.

          4                 MR. GARGANO: I believe that that

          5  report, the Ernst and Young report is available. The

          6  difference is using our models.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Correct.

          8                 MR. GARGANO: We can show you

          9  information where we use our models, if that's what

         10  you're interested in.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes, I would

         12  like to get a copy. I have the Ernst and Young

         13  report, but I'd like to get a copy of --

         14                 MR. GARGANO: This is the State's

         15  portion that we're talking about.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes,

         17  absolutely. And I'd like to get a copy of the

         18  State's model or module or whatever that you

         19  referenced, if that's okay? Is that a yes?

         20                 MR. GARGANO: Yes. I said that before.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 And I just want to ask, is it typical

         24  that the State, with a project of this magnitude,

         25  would analyze the applicant's or the proponent's
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          2  economic data as opposed to commissioning their own?

          3                 It seems to me that it would only add

          4  kind of support to your position, had you

          5  commissioned your own economic study because then

          6  somebody like me couldn't raise the question aren't

          7  you basing this on data which was paid for by those

          8  who want a particular result. Just the same way if

          9  you used data that I had commissioned and paid for,

         10  it might, you know, one could raise the question

         11  that of course it showed it was bad because the

         12  opponents commissioned it.

         13                 MR. GARGANO: Ernst and Young is a

         14  reputable firm. We use them on many, many occasions

         15  to evaluate projects that we are engaged in and

         16  therefore using that particular information and then

         17  attaching our models that we use to the data, we

         18  come up with our own conclusion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So it is

         20  typical then that the State uses the --

         21                 MR. GARGANO: It is typical indeed,

         22  yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: All right,

         24  thank you. I find that of concern to me, but it's

         25  good to know that it's typical and I very much
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          2  appreciate getting that information. Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 MR. GARGANO: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

          6                 Sir, if you would be kind enough to

          7  submit that study to the Committee, I would

          8  appreciate it also.

          9                 MR. GARGANO: I will.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Let me alert

         11  everyone that this session of questions is

         12  state-related questions, since we had a State

         13  representative speaking on it.

         14                 Council Member Gioia.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I have just a

         16  follow-up, one follow-up on that.

         17                 It's common practice not to do our

         18  own accounting procedures but to use the accounting

         19  procedures of the applicant for the State to do

         20  that?

         21                 MR. GARGANO: I'll try and clear it up

         22  again.

         23                 I believe that, first of all, the

         24  applicant does not do the work, it's given to a

         25  professional firm, and if we have confidence in that
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          2  professional firm, which we do in this case, because

          3  we use them for many of our projects, we will look

          4  at the information, we will then apply our models to

          5  it, see if we come up with the same conclusions and

          6  the same numbers.

          7                 But the facts are the facts: There

          8  are numbers that are used, we evaluate those

          9  numbers, the information that's provided, and if we

         10  disagree with it, we obviously will not use that

         11  information. But if we agree with it, we will then

         12  use our models, which sometimes are a bit more

         13  conservative and draw our own conclusions.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: There are other

         15  examples of this process. When outside accounting

         16  firms hired by applicants reviews their data?

         17                 MR. GARGANO: We have, as I said

         18  before in the past, professionals have been hired to

         19  do particular work, financial analysis and

         20  projections, we will not duplicate that. We will

         21  look at that information. If we agree with the way

         22  it was done, and then applying our models, which as

         23  I said, might be somewhat more conservative, we will

         24  then take those final numbers, which may vary and

         25  may not, and we will be comfortable with those
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          2  numbers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: A final

          4  question, Council member.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: To the best of

          6  your recollection, has there ever been a time when

          7  your own independent analysis was not comfortable

          8  with the numbers supplied by the applicant?

          9                 MR. GARGANO: I can't give you that

         10  answer directly. But one thing that I would like to

         11  point out is that these are professional firms there

         12  that do this, they are the experts in this field,

         13  and I think I am sensing there is an indication here

         14  that maybe because they were hired by a particular

         15  firm, that projections were made on that basis. As

         16  long as I have been doing this, and hiring firms, I

         17  don't believe that that really is the case. I think

         18  that's speculative and we're very comfortable using

         19  -- providing it's a reputable firm.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And I'll just

         21  conclude on that, I think there is, I'm sure there's

         22  agreement in this room that Ernst and Young is a

         23  reputable firm, but certainly Arthur Anderson was a

         24  reputable firm at one point as well.

         25                 And, so, I would just think that we
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          2  would want to verify information when we're dealing

          3  with public dollars, and if there was a time, and

          4  that's why I'm asking, I'm not questioning your

          5  procedures, but if there was a time when numbers

          6  provided by an applicant were sent back because our

          7  own independent analysis showed that it wasn't, I

          8  think that it would lend credence to exactly what

          9  you're saying because then you'd say, well, in the

         10  past we threw the numbers out because we didn't

         11  agree with them, but this time we've looked at them

         12  and we do agree with them. But if it's just

         13  proforma, then it certainly would raise questions.

         14                 MR. GARGANO: Well, I would just like

         15  to reiterate, and not to take up too much time here,

         16  what we do is we look at their analysis, our own

         17  financial people. If we agree with the methodology

         18  used, and then we apply our models, we're

         19  comfortable with that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council Member

         22  James.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Good afternoon,

         24  Chairman Gargano.

         25                 MR. GARGANO: Good afternoon.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Above and

          3  beyond the $300 million commitment from the State,

          4  do you anticipate any additional subsidies for

          5  infrastructure improvement, such as the pedestrian

          6  tunnel, public parks and/or a parking garage?

          7                 MR. GARGANO: No, we do not.

          8                 In fact, the items you mentioned are

          9  inclusive in our estimate for Javits expansion north

         10  and Javits expansion south.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So the

         12  contribution from the State will be limited to $300

         13  million?

         14                 MR. GARGANO: As I mentioned, we are

         15  capped between the City and State at $300 million

         16  for the City and $300 million for the State, for the

         17  southerly expansion of Javits.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And will the

         19  State Legislature vote on any aspect of this sports

         20  complex?

         21                 MR. GARGANO: No. The legislation is

         22  required for three pieces of the northerly

         23  expansion, but not the southerly expansion.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I believe

         25  it's the Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation,

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  will that be subject to approval by the Public

          3  Authorities Control Board?

          4                 MR. GARGANO: I don't know. You'd have

          5  to speak to the City of New York about that, in

          6  terms of that project.

          7                 It depends on what is being asked of

          8  the State to participate in.

          9                 Certainly whenever there is financial

         10  support involved, we are subject to go before that

         11  committee board.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: What is the

         13  relationship between Hudson Yards Infrastructure

         14  Corporation and the Transitional Financing

         15  Authority?

         16                 MR. GARGANO: That is something you'll

         17  have to deal with the City of New York on.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 I'm going to tolerate one question

         23  per Council member for this panelist. I have to move

         24  on.

         25                 Council Member Reyna.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 Good afternoon, Chairman Gargano.

          5                 MR. GARGANO: Good afternoon.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: It's good to

          7  see you.

          8                 I just wanted to find out, you have

          9  mentioned in your testimony the reference to a

         10  memorandum of understanding, and this is the first

         11  time I hear of an MOU being mentioned.

         12                 I'd like you to share with us who are

         13  the interested parties who will be signing off to

         14  this MOU, and in particular, what are you trying to

         15  achieve through the MOU?

         16                 MR. GARGANO: The process, whenever a

         17  project is initiated, is the first thing we have to

         18  have is a memorandum of understanding between the

         19  parties, because if we have that, then we know that

         20  we can move forward and try to finalize the final

         21  deal. It's like similar if you buy a home, you go to

         22  contract and then you go to closing. This is like

         23  going to contract, and the parties involved are the

         24  MTA, the City of New York and the State of New York.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: MTA, City of
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          2  New York and the State.

          3                 MR. GARGANO: State of New York.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And where does

          5  the Javits Center fall in, as well as the Jets?

          6                 MR. GARGANO: The State of New York,

          7  as far as the Javits Center goes and the City of New

          8  York, the Jets are the private sector who are

          9  investing $800 million, they're a signatory

         10  obviously as well. I should say that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay, so we

         12  have the Jets.

         13                 MR. GARGANO: The Jets, the MTA, the

         14  City of New York, the State of New York.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And the Javits

         16  Center represented by?

         17                 MR. GARGANO: The State of New York.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: The State of

         19  New York.

         20                 And the achievement through the MOU,

         21  because I'm very familiar with memorandum of

         22  understandings, and I've participated in discussions

         23  of a memorandum of understanding, and years later

         24  I've seen a memorandum of understanding not being

         25  obliged by.
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          2                 MR. GARGANO: Well, a memorandum of

          3  understanding, as I mentioned before, is like going

          4  to contract, and then you work out the final details

          5  in agreement between all of the parties, into a

          6  final -- in the case of a home, a purchase, in this

          7  case a final agreement between all the parties on

          8  all of the items mentioned in the MOU.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: We're working

         10  right now with Deputy Mayor Doctoroff on a

         11  memorandum of understanding that was signed off 20

         12  years ago, the Broadway Triangle, and we have not

         13  seen anything move on that. And that was supposed to

         14  be economic development spurs. So, I'm just making

         15  reference to it because I'm not too sure what we're

         16  signing off on a memorandum of understanding, and

         17  what is it that we're trying to hold people

         18  accountable for.

         19                 MR. GARGANO: Well, it's not a final

         20  agreement. It's a way of a party laying out at least

         21  the outline of what they're going to be responsible

         22  for, and then details are normally worked out

         23  between the parties, between the attorneys of the

         24  parties, all the final details for the final

         25  agreement. That's what it really amounts to. And if
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          2  it never goes to an MOU --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council member,

          4  I must move on you, but I do want to recognize we

          5  have been joined by Council Member Margarita Lopez,

          6  and we have, of course, been joined by Council

          7  Member Quinn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Chairman, if

          9  you can just request a copy of that memorandum of

         10  understanding?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         14                 Council Member Quinn and Council

         15  Members Katz and Brewer.

         16                 I want to thank you for your

         17  testimony here today. We are of course looking

         18  forward to those two documents that we can take a

         19  look at, the MOU and your own study of the Ernst and

         20  Young Report.

         21                 Thank you very much, sir.

         22                 MR. GARGANO: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23  Thank you, all members of the Council.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: If you can

         25  tolerate one more question for Council Member Dilan?
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          2  One question, sir.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you, Mr.

          5  Gargano, for obliging.

          6                 I just have one simple question and

          7  it's in regard to the State's portion of the $300

          8  million that they'll put up.

          9                 How does the State plan to come up

         10  with the money? Would it be through State bonds?

         11  Would it be through tax increases? What does it mean

         12  for the State taxpayers?

         13                 MR. GARGANO: It will be by the added

         14  revenue to the State, as I mentioned before,

         15  approximately $32 million added revenue that we

         16  wouldn't have had without the project, to pay off

         17  approximately $21 million. It's something that has

         18  to be worked out within the budget process in the

         19  State.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 Sir, I appreciate your being here,

         23  and I have to move on, otherwise we will not get to

         24  the rest of these panels.

         25                 Thank you very much for being here
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          2  today.

          3                 Council Member Gerson wanted to vote

          4  on the ZEA application. Sir, would you be kind

          5  enough to have him vote on this matter?

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye on all.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member James.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Aye.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: All right, let's

         12  move on to the next panel, and we are going to hear

         13  from, I believe in the order that they submitted, to

         14  the President of the Javits Center, President Robert

         15  Boyle, President of the Board. Good that you're here

         16  this afternoon.

         17                 MR. BOYLE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         18  Speaker Miller, Members of the Committee, members of

         19  the City Council.

         20                 Thank you for the invitation to

         21  address the issues of the proposed West Side

         22  Development Complex and it's impact on the City. And

         23  I will speak with the highest dedication to brevity.

         24                 Obviously the Javits Center Operating

         25  Corporation has a very large stake in this proposal,
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          2  and we fully support the Convention Corridor Program

          3  proposed by Mayor Bloomberg and endorsed by Governor

          4  Pataki.

          5                 I feel privileged to be here with

          6  Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, Chairman Gargano, and the

          7  Jets President, to ask for your support.

          8                 The Javits Center currently operates

          9  successfully in a part of New York City that can

         10  best be described at times as desolate, particularly

         11  as the Javits programs are letting out in the early

         12  and late evenings.

         13                 What we need is commercial enterprise

         14  to bring the activity to our part of the City. The

         15  Convention Corridor, anchored by a new convention

         16  hotel at 42nd and 11th, and the Stadium to our

         17  south, will give us a center of robust activity.

         18                 It will give New York City a new

         19  center of activity on the west side. This new

         20  convention corridor with the expansion north of the

         21  existing Javits Center, and expansion south with

         22  badly needed exhibit space in the new Sports and

         23  Convention Complex, will give the Javits Center the

         24  opportunity to bring to New York at least some of

         25  the business that we turn away every year, for lack
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          2  of space to house new shows and exhibits.

          3                 The convention corridor will complete

          4  our program in a fashion that will make us an even

          5  more attractive venue for new business.

          6                 We are currently the only major

          7  convention center in the country without a

          8  convention hotel adjacent or in close proximity to

          9  our center.

         10                 The hotel, with its restaurants and

         11  other guest facilities will have the opportunity to

         12  glean business, not only from the expanded

         13  convention facilities, but it will have the

         14  additional sources of revenue from the operation of

         15  the stadium.

         16                 In all, new commercial activity in an

         17  area of New York City that cries out for activity,

         18  and can well accommodate the stellar plans that the

         19  City has put on the drawing board, and that our

         20  Governor has wholeheartedly endorsed.

         21                 Finally, the new convention corridor

         22  will give New York enough total space to move us

         23  from 18th in the country to fifth in total capacity.

         24                 Capacity rank in itself is

         25  meaningless, unless we can fill that space with
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          2  active business.

          3                 Every study that has been done to

          4  date assures that New York City is a venue that can

          5  fill our convention space at least two times over,

          6  and I promise you, we will do just that.

          7                 We are currently responsible for at

          8  least 400,000 hotel room nights booked annually, and

          9  we fully expect that the new convention corridor

         10  will more than double that number. More restaurant

         11  activity, more Broadway show activity, more

         12  shopping, more cab rides, and more people generally

         13  to enjoy our great City.

         14                 The economic activity to be generated

         15  has been well documented. What has not been so well

         16  documented is how much economic potential is missed

         17  in this City when we can't get together to do the

         18  things that are so badly needed, when we can't get

         19  together to do the things that are needed to improve

         20  this City's economics, when we can't get together to

         21  improve on the plethora of New York City karma that

         22  has been left to us by past generations.

         23                 Much has been said about Javits

         24  expansion. Thankfully, most of it positive, and that

         25  is as it should be. What has not been said enough is
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          2  that New York City can use and book every square

          3  foot of convention and exhibit space that we can

          4  build. The additional expansion footage that we

          5  generate from the Sports and Convention Center will

          6  impact our operation in two very positive ways:

          7                 First, it will give our whole house

          8  shows additional badly-needed space to expand. Even

          9  more important, it will give us more space to bring

         10  in the new smaller shows and exhibits that by their

         11  very nature are in the growing stages, and cannot be

         12  accommodated even in an expanded Javits Center.

         13                 My thanks to the Mayor and the

         14  Governor, Deputy Mayor Dan Doctoroff, who not only

         15  dare to dream, but put real plans on the table and

         16  to suffer through the painful process that bold

         17  action inevitably provokes.

         18                 It might take some imagination, but

         19  reflect a moment on a new hotel at 41st and 11th, a

         20  new 7 Line subway to 34th and 11th, a Javits Center

         21  that extends from 33rd to 41st Street, a Sports and

         22  Convention Center as the southern anchor, and a

         23  pedestrian promenade to replace the grotesque

         24  skeleton of the highline.

         25                 That, ladies and gentlemen, is just
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          2  the beginning of a new west side. I can only hope

          3  that this City Council, with its ability to provide

          4  bold leadership, will help us to succeed, and it

          5  will be able to look proudly on a major

          6  accomplishment for New York City and the generations

          7  to follow.

          8                 Mr. Chairman, I have two copies of

          9  our Price Waterhouse Coopers economic study and

         10  feasibility study. I know the Council Speaker

         11  probably has a copy already, but I have two copies

         12  with me, if you would like to have those?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         14  Would you be kind enough to make sure that my

         15  Counsel gets that. Thank you very much.

         16                 President Cross, will you speak into

         17  the mic and identify yourself and begin your

         18  testimony, sir?

         19                 MR. CROSS: Good afternoon. I'm Jay

         20  Cross. I'm President of the New York Jets.

         21                 Before I begin, I would like to thank

         22  Speaker Miller and Chairman Sanders for convening

         23  this important hearing. The Jets recognize the

         24  Sports and Convention Center presents many public

         25  policy issues to consider, and we agree those issues
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          2  should be considered publicly.

          3                 We also appreciate the opportunity to

          4  set the record straight, and believe you have made a

          5  wise decision not to accept Cablevision's offer to

          6  hold this overflow hearing at Madison Square Garden

          7  today. That was just a joke.

          8                 In 1984, when the New York Jets

          9  played our first game in the Meadowlands, the

         10  indignity of playing in another team's stadium in

         11  another's state's city was almost unbearable. But we

         12  took comfort in the belief that we would only be

         13  there for five years, while an NFL stadium was built

         14  in New York. Well, five years soon became ten, and

         15  ten became 15, and now two decades later, we still

         16  await word from across the river, it's time to come

         17  home.

         18                 The New York Jets are so committed to

         19  this project, we're prepared to invest more than any

         20  other team in history, a record-breaking $800

         21  million. But this is about more than bringing the

         22  Jets home.

         23                 That's because to call the New York

         24  Sports and Convention Center a stadium is to call

         25  Carnegie Hall a nice auditorium or Grand Central
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          2  Terminal a stop on the 4 Train, or Central Park a

          3  playground - technically true, but doesn't begin to

          4  tell the story.

          5                 If the New York Sports and Convention

          6  Center was just a stadium, it would not include a

          7  state-of-the-art 200,000 square foot convention

          8  center, or an innovative retractable roof. If it

          9  were just a convention center, it would not have

         10  five internationally renowned restaurants, four

         11  90-foot-long interactive video walls, an Off

         12  Broadway Theater, a museum and spectacular lighting

         13  and graphic effects.

         14                 If the rail yards was just a vacant

         15  parcel of land, our $800 million investment would

         16  fund the entire cost of the stadium without a penny

         17  of public investment.

         18                 Some people question then, why would

         19  we build more than a stadium when a stadium is all

         20  we need? Well, the answer is, because a stadium

         21  alone isn't good enough for New York - for the hotel

         22  industry, for Broadway, for the tourism industry and

         23  for the design community. Rather than simply build a

         24  home for a football team, New York expects that we

         25  build a showcase for the City that sets new
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          2  standards and energizes visitors and New Yorkers

          3  alike.

          4                 As Deputy Mayor Doctoroff will

          5  explain, the Sports and Convention Center does not

          6  represent simply an extension of a convention

          7  building, but the expansion of the convention

          8  business. The industry is not one size fits all, but

          9  rather has multiple silos, and successful cities

         10  like Chicago or Los Angeles offer small, mid and

         11  large size convention centers.

         12                 In contrast, New York has just one

         13  convention center, Javits, which has performed

         14  remarkably well, despite its limiting size.

         15                 Every year New York cedes hundreds of

         16  small- to mid-size events to other cities that have

         17  wisely invested in their convention industry while

         18  we have not.

         19                 In addition to losing mid-size

         20  conventions, we also lose major shows to Atlanta and

         21  Las Vegas, because we lack space for large-scale

         22  plenary sessions. For example, the American Bar

         23  Association cannot host their annual convention in

         24  New York City without a room where 30,000 people can

         25  listen to Bill Clinton deliver a keynote address.
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          2                 At the opposite end of the spectrum,

          3  we need a smaller space where New York can incubate

          4  shows that can grow into big Javits shows. The New

          5  York Sports and Convention Center will fill all of

          6  these voids in our convention industry. It will

          7  serve as New York's only true mid-size convention

          8  center. In less than one day's time, the first 25

          9  rows of seats can retract, the palletized field

         10  removed, the lighting grid dropped down, and the

         11  facility is instantly transformed into a 200,000

         12  square foot convention hall of column-free space and

         13  virtually infinite height.

         14                 At times, it will complement Javits,

         15  offering ancillary space to existing shows, such as

         16  the gift show and auto show. Other times it will

         17  serve as a state-of-the-art stand-alone convention

         18  center, offering the finest corporate hospitality in

         19  the nation, which will enable New York to compete

         20  for the biggest conventions.

         21                 Today, I know you will hear from some

         22  who will argue that the convention industry is

         23  oversaturated, that there is no demand for this

         24  space. I would ask, if that is the case, why have

         25  four of the biggest trade show producers in the
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          2  world, and the biggest user of Javits - George

          3  Little Management, VNU Productions, Reed

          4  Exhibitions, and GL Events, whom you will hear from

          5  today - committed to bring at least 30 new shows to

          6  the New York Sports and Convention Center? If the

          7  critics are right, why has the biggest art fair in

          8  the world initiated discussions with us? And why

          9  can't we have a garden show to rival London's

         10  Chelsea Flower Show? We have enough interest to book

         11  the space for an entire year before the first shovel

         12  is in the ground.

         13                 Today I'm sure you will also hear

         14  from skeptics who doubt New York can attract the

         15  biggest sporting events in the world. I would point

         16  out that just last Tuesday, Commissioner Tagliabue

         17  announced a decision to award New York City a Super

         18  Bowl could be made as early as next spring. One

         19  Super Bowl alone would bring in $27 million in new

         20  tax revenue to the City and the State and hundreds

         21  of millions of dollars more in economic impact.

         22                 And why is the Super Bowl so big?

         23  Because as the Commissioner likes to say, NFL

         24  Football means super-human athletes doing super

         25  human acts, unlike anything else. Sounds like New
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          2  York City to me.

          3                 But we will go well beyond the Super

          4  Bowl. The Sports and Convention Center will restore

          5  the tradition of college football in this great

          6  City. We will capture the NCAA final four basketball

          7  championship. We will host international soccer

          8  tournaments. In fact, we are currently in talks with

          9  the Big East Conference and Manchester United. And

         10  we will welcome the torch, should our nation light

         11  the flame in 2012. Cricket, hockey, cycling, world

         12  track and field championships, lacrosse, gymnastics,

         13  Sesame Street, even graduations, all will find a

         14  home here.

         15                 The skeptics say deliver, and we

         16  will. Over the next several months, the Jets will

         17  announce a series of agreements to deliver the best

         18  shows and convention events in the world, that have

         19  long passed us up, it's time for New York to catch

         20  up.

         21                 Today you will hear from one

         22  purported expert or another who will argue stadiums

         23  do not generate new tax revenue. We have heard those

         24  arguments too. But I ask, where is their data? Where

         25  is their data to suggest otherwise? We can only
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          2  offer the data we have, painstakingly researched and

          3  gathered over three years that demonstrates a net

          4  return after debt service in excess of $30 million a

          5  year annually to the City and the State.

          6                 Going back to the beginning of my

          7  remarks, the real answer to those experts is that

          8  the Sports and Convention Center is not just a

          9  stadium. That's why the same tired economic analysis

         10  that might apply to fully subsidized stadium-only

         11  facilities in cities like Baltimore and Cincinnati

         12  does not apply to this model, the New York model.

         13                 We have, that is to say New York and

         14  the New York Sports and Convention Center, a unique

         15  situation. The academics have to go back to first

         16  principles and completely comprehend two distinct

         17  industries, sports and conventions. They have not

         18  done that.

         19                 Right now we are the "New York" Jets

         20  in name, but we are in many respects a New Jersey

         21  business. We play games in New Jersey, we sell hot

         22  dogs in New Jersey, we sell tickets in New Jersey.

         23  Every year we generate over $9 million a year in

         24  state and local taxes to New Jersey. So, if this New

         25  Jersey business were to migrate to New York, that
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          2  tax revenue would follow. And since our games are

          3  100 percent sold out on a season ticket basis, there

          4  is no substitution effect; the money is already

          5  committed, meaning all that revenue is new

          6  incremental revenue to the City and the State.

          7                 But the football team provides only

          8  about one-third of the impact. The majority of the

          9  fiscal impact is actually derived from conventions,

         10  plenary sessions, super events. If convention

         11  centers did not generate tax revenue, why did

         12  municipalities all over the City, all over the

         13  country, rather, invest money to build them and

         14  operate them at a loss? Because they do generate

         15  millions of dollars in fiscal and economic activity.

         16                 I must point out, though, that not

         17  all of them operate at a loss, because thanks to Bob

         18  Boyle, and his team which puts every year Javits

         19  Center in the black, we prove again, once again, the

         20  New York model is unique.

         21                 Today I'm sure you will hear from

         22  those who claim that stadiums deter community

         23  development. But ask them, how do they explain

         24  Jacobs Field in Cleveland, where 22 new restaurants

         25  and retail establishments have sprouted up around
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          2  the stadium since 1995, and 85 storefronts

          3  renovated? How do they explain Coors Field in

          4  Denver, where land once assessed for $1.77 per

          5  square foot now commands $27 a foot? How do they

          6  explain Bank One Ballpark in Phoenix, where downtown

          7  restaurants and bars realized a $90 million increase

          8  in the first year the stadium began operation? How

          9  do they explain Toronto, where over thousands of

         10  housing units have been built around Skydome since

         11  1989? How do they explain Miami, where around the

         12  American Airlines arena, they are right now building

         13  two condo projects, a new science museum, a new art

         14  museum and a new performing arts center?

         15                 Today some will argue that the Jets

         16  should pay even more. But consider the investment we

         17  are making. We are funding the entire cost of the

         18  stadium, 800 million dollars, the largest private

         19  investment in stadium history. On top of that, we

         20  have accepted an obligation beyond what any tenant

         21  of sound mind would assume; that is to say, the

         22  public investment is capped at $600 million. The

         23  Jets alone are completely liable for any and all

         24  cost overruns, be they on the platform, the roof or

         25  the Sports and Convention Center itself.
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          2                 The Jets will also reimburse MTA for

          3  all engineering and legal costs associated with the

          4  entire project as they are incurred. Paul Weiss,

          5  representing the MTA, is currently working on behalf

          6  of the MTA on our nickel. The MTA has been a

          7  terrific partner in this project, and they, along

          8  with City and State agencies, have been working

          9  overtime in an unprecedented collegial team to make

         10  this complex agreement work.

         11                 I also want to thank Governor Pataki

         12  and Mayor Bloomberg, Chairman Gargano and Deputy

         13  Mayor Doctoroff, for their unwaivering commitment to

         14  seeing this project through. The leadership of this

         15  City and State is one of the reasons why we feel so

         16  confident making such an enormous investment in the

         17  future of New York.

         18                 But despite our investment, let's be

         19  clear: The Jets will not actually own the Sports and

         20  Convention Center. It belongs to the public. We will

         21  hold a long-term lease, which every year will pay a

         22  ground rent to the MTA, based on the fair market

         23  value of the air space we use. That value will be

         24  arrived at and negotiated within full view of the

         25  public. So, not only will the MTA be made whole,
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          2  they will monetize their air space for the first

          3  time and reap a profit in so doing, money that will

          4  go back into the public transit system to the

          5  benefit of straphangers.

          6                 Finally, there are those who say the

          7  Sports and Convention Center does not generate

          8  enough of a return on the investment, that New York

          9  should await some hypothetical project on the

         10  distant horizon. First, I would ask, what is an

         11  appropriate return on the public investment? The

         12  Sports and Convention Center will generate a 75

         13  percent return annually to the City and State - a

         14  $70 million return on a $40 million annual cost. In

         15  1999, the Citizens' Budget Commission concluded that

         16  a public investment in a stadium on the west side

         17  would be justified if it generated only a ten

         18  percent return on an investment. Applying that rate

         19  of logic, this project would only need to generate

         20  just $44 million of fiscal impact.

         21                 But more to the point, so many plans

         22  for the rail yards have come and gone. No private

         23  investor has ever come forward with $800 million,

         24  not even Cablevision. And there is no reason to

         25  believe anyone is waiting in the wings in lieu of
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          2  the Jets. For the New York Jets, our choice is not a

          3  choice between Queens and Manhattan, but New York or

          4  New Jersey.

          5                 And so, if you want to know what the

          6  alternative use is of the site, go down there this

          7  afternoon and take a look at the rail pit. Because

          8  that's it. That's the alternative use. We don't

          9  pretend to be the ultimate catalyst for neighborhood

         10  development, but we will remove the ultimate

         11  impediment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: May I ask you to

         13  summarize?

         14                 MR. CROSS: Okay.

         15                 Finally, let me talk about the

         16  millions of jobs that we will generate.

         17  Fourteen-thousand jobs, carpenters, steel workers,

         18  electricians, over 6,000 permanent jobs, good jobs,

         19  stationary and operating engineers, video control

         20  room technicians, food and beverage managers,

         21  entry-level jobs in custodial and concession

         22  operations, part-time jobs for students, actors, and

         23  writers.

         24                 It will create an opportunity for

         25  minority firms to participate in the most inclusive
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          2  and comprehensive MWBE program seen to date.

          3                 Today I'm pleased to announce we

          4  agreed to a partnership and process where the Jets

          5  and the Minority Business Leadership Council will

          6  work together to develop a model MWBE program for

          7  the New York Sports and Convention Center, not one

          8  based on hitting arbitrary percentage targets, but a

          9  program based on ensuring real MWBE participation

         10  and real growth for minority businesses. That's one

         11  of the reasons today why we believe we got the

         12  endorsement of the Amsterdam News.  It's also one of

         13  the ways the Jets will demonstrate the depth of our

         14  commitment to New York City over the coming months

         15  and years. We realize there are challenges ahead,

         16  and the plan can always be improved. But it is a

         17  work in progress. We want your input, and the input

         18  of everyone in this room, because this building

         19  literally belongs to all New Yorkers. Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         22                 Thank you, sir. I apologize for that.

         23                 Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, I believe

         24  you're in the Doctoroff seat there, but I also

         25  believe that you're going to show us what is being
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          2  proposed. Would you be kind enough to state your

          3  name and title for the record, and begin, sir.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Thank you

          5  very much. I'm Dan Doctoroff, Deputy Mayor for

          6  Economic Development and Rebuilding.

          7                 Chairman Sanders, members of the City

          8  Council, it is a real honor to be here. We very much

          9  appreciate the opportunity to explain really what

         10  the New York Sports and Convention Center is all

         11  about.

         12                 I think it's fair to say that over

         13  the past several months, is debate on this topic has

         14  intensified. There has been a vast amount of

         15  misinformation that's been spread. That's why I want

         16  to take my time here today to walk you through a

         17  series of myths and truths about the New York Sports

         18  and Convention Center, so that today's hearing can

         19  focus on the facts.

         20                 Let me repeat what I think is the

         21  most significant myth; and that is, that the New

         22  York Sports and Convention Center will just be a

         23  stadium. It's not just a stadium. The New York

         24  Sports and Convention Center will be alive with

         25  year-round activity from convention business,
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          2  retail, cultural and recreational uses.

          3                 As Mr. Cross has explained, this will

          4  be the most technologically advanced building of its

          5  kind in the entire world, a building that within

          6  hours can be converted from its stadium

          7  configuration to the most modern facilities for

          8  convention, trade shows and other major events.

          9                 It's a building that will have 40,000

         10  square feet of retail activity both inside and

         11  outside. It's a building that will have restaurants.

         12  It's a building that will be used for cultural

         13  purposes, like the museum and a small feeder. And

         14  very significantly, this is not a stadium that sits

         15  out in the middle of a parking lot in some suburban

         16  area, this is a building that has been designed to

         17  carefully integrate into the surrounding

         18  communities. It will be surrounded on all four sides

         19  by parks, including a dramatic connection to the

         20  Hudson River waterfront.

         21                 Let me just take you on a quick tour

         22  around the New York Sports and Convention Center.

         23                 This is a New York Sports and

         24  Convention Center from the south, where it will link

         25  up with the high line, which where we are working
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          2  with the City Council, as well as the Friends of the

          3  High Line to restore and create a beautiful

          4  promenade that will extend over a mile long.

          5  Underneath it will be a beautiful market.

          6                 Just to the south of that will be a

          7  beautiful park, that will extend between 29th Street

          8  and 30th Street. To the west of the New York Sports

          9  and Convention Center will be a terrace that will be

         10  built over Route 9A, extending down to the Hudson

         11  River Park.

         12                 To the north of the New York Sports

         13  and Convention Center will be an elegant arcade,

         14  that will be a part of another block-long park. As I

         15  said, to the south at 30th Street, between 29th and

         16  30th Streets, will be a block-long park that will

         17  serve the community to the south.

         18                 This facility will provide for the

         19  first time great access to the waterfront. From that

         20  terrace that will extend to the west of the New York

         21  Sports and Convention Center, you'll be able to

         22  enter the Hudson River Park.

         23                 So, on all four sides, north, south,

         24  east and west, this building will be surrounded by

         25  parks. You know, in the entire 360 acre area that we
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          2  call the "Hudson Yards," there are a grand total of

          3  615 trees, shrubs and bushes. It is the least

          4  tree'd, least green area in New York City. The New

          5  York Sports and Convention Center is going to help

          6  to change that.

          7                 Let me talk about the second myth,

          8  the New York Sports and Convention Center is just

          9  about football. As Mr. Boyle convincingly

         10  demonstrated, the New York Sports and Convention

         11  Center is a critical component of an expanded

         12  convention corridor.

         13                 We all agree that our position in the

         14  convention business, is wholly inadequate. In fact,

         15  our position as the 16th largest convention center

         16  in America is pathetic. For the world's largest

         17  market, they have the 16th largest convention

         18  center, trailing such major metropolises as

         19  Rosemont, Illinois, is simply not acceptable. And

         20  the plan that has been developed, which combines the

         21  New York Sports and Convention Center with the

         22  expansion of the Javits Center, gives us a facility

         23  that while it won't be the largest in the country,

         24  we think will have a series of features and

         25  facilities that will enable us, will give us a
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          2  competitive advantage to attract every major

          3  convention trade show or large event that's held in

          4  America.

          5                 These will be two integrated

          6  facilities, integrated physically, underneath 34th

          7  Street, and integrated operationally as well. As Mr.

          8  Cross mentioned, literally within a day the building

          9  can be transformed from its stadium configuration

         10  into truly unique convention space. This will be the

         11  largest single hall, and here you see the New York

         12  Sports and Convention Center in its convention mode.

         13  This will be the largest single hall in New York

         14  City with 200,000 square feet of exhibition space.

         15  Thirty-thousand square feet of meeting room space,

         16  ideal for expansion capacity for large Javits shows

         17  and for small- and medium-sized trade shows.

         18                 In total, in total our Javits Center

         19  will go from having 760,000 square feet of

         20  exhibition space, to 1.5 million square feet of

         21  exhibition space. We'll go from having 30,000 square

         22  feet of meeting rooms to 395,000 square feet of

         23  meeting rooms. We'll go from having no ballroom, to

         24  having the largest ballroom in New York City, 86,000

         25  square feet. And we'll go from not having a location
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          2  to seat between five and 40,000 people for large

          3  plenary sessions or large group meetings, to having

          4  a wonderful facility to do just that.

          5                 So, yes, we will not be the largest,

          6  but we will be the best. And it's the combination of

          7  the expansion of Javits to the north and the

          8  creation of the New York Sports and Convention

          9  Center that give us what everybody has said we want,

         10  a world class facility. Take away the New York

         11  Sports and Convention Center, take away the Jets

         12  $800 million contribution to that building, and you

         13  don't have the best. You have a mediocre facility

         14  that simply won't be able to compete for the

         15  lucrative business that we need to provide jobs and

         16  tax revenues.

         17                 Third myth: The New York Sports and

         18  Convention Center is a waste of public resources

         19  better spent on other priorities. The opposition

         20  will suggest that we're simply spending $600 million

         21  of public resources. I should point out that that

         22  opposition is now being funded by Cablevision which

         23  holds the monopoly on the arena business in the

         24  City, and I should also point out receives an $11.8

         25  million annual tax break in order to do so.
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          2                 The reality is, when we actually look

          3  at the numbers, is that the New York Sports and

          4  Convention Center, as Mr. Cross indicated, is a

          5  terrific investment, that very significantly will

          6  generate a substantial profit that can be used for

          7  the things that we all agree are priorities - health

          8  care, housing, police and fire protection, parks,

          9  the list goes on and on. Our job is to invest. To

         10  invest scarce dollars to earn more dollars that will

         11  enable us to pay for those important priorities.

         12                 This building we believe will

         13  generate roughly $72 million in incremental tax

         14  revenues to the City and State. That excludes, by

         15  the way, the benefit of having a Super Bowl, which

         16  we believe we can attract every five to seven years.

         17                 Now, we've actually looked at that

         18  Ernst and Young report, and people will criticize

         19  will criticize for not having done an independent

         20  report, but the key thing to remember is, people may

         21  say, yes, you should have done an independent

         22  report, but let's hear the criticism of the economic

         23  impact analysis.

         24                 We've stress tested that Ernst and

         25  Young analysis. We've looked at up side, we've
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          2  looked at down side, and we believe that the net

          3  economic impact, fiscal impact, new taxes to the

          4  City and State that won't exist if we don't make

          5  this investment, will be between 64 and 77 million

          6  dollars a year. Again, compare that to the cost of

          7  the investment we have to make, $42 million. In the

          8  first year this building is open, we believe we will

          9  earn a profit for the City and State for all of us

         10  in this room of $30 million. That's $30 million that

         11  can be put to those important priorities that we all

         12  believe in.

         13                 Let me give you another myth: The New

         14  York Sports and Convention Center will impede

         15  development in the Hudson Yards. By and large there

         16  is consensus that we can't simply let the areas

         17  around the Javits Center lie fallow as it is today.

         18  The New York Sports and Convention Center will be a

         19  critical component in the plan to actually

         20  accelerate development in the Hudson Yards.

         21                 It's not the only part of the plan.

         22  Extending the Number 7 line is critical, creating a

         23  network of parks and open space is critical,

         24  building a platform over the Eastern Railyard is

         25  critical, and, so, too, is rezoning the area. But as
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          2  important as any of them is building the New York

          3  Sports and Convention Center and doing it in large

          4  part with somebody else's money.

          5                 Looking at the area over there.

          6  Imagine you're a developer of an office building.

          7  Imagine you're the developer of a residential

          8  building. Imagine you're a cultural institution that

          9  wants to find a new or a second home. Are you going

         10  to build a new building over a rail yard? The answer

         11  is no.

         12                 In fact, this building brings an $800

         13  million private investment into this area now. It

         14  replaces rail yards that will impede development,

         15  and significantly, it creates a sense of place for

         16  the area. What we're trying to do through our

         17  network of parks, through the expansion of Javits,

         18  through the New York Sports and Convention Center,

         19  from the cultural institutions we hope to attract to

         20  the area, is create a critical mass of activity that

         21  will generate a private market reaction so that

         22  developers will invest in the area and we can turn

         23  this forlorn area into one of New York's great

         24  places.

         25                 That's why the Real Estate Board
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          2  believes that this building, the New York Sports and

          3  Convention Center, will be one of the key components

          4  to accelerating development in the area.

          5                 Steve Spinola, President of the Real

          6  Estate Board of New York said, our commercial

          7  developers say the exhibition and sports facility

          8  would be an asset for this location. The project

          9  would cover the rail yards, the major visual and

         10  physical impediment to the development of the far

         11  west side. This isn't going to impede development,

         12  it's going to accelerate it.

         13                 Next myth. The New York Sports and

         14  Convention Center will create a tremendous amount of

         15  traffic. It's simply not true.

         16                 Again, let's look at the facts. First

         17  of all, we're not talking about doing this in

         18  isolation. We're talking about adding a series of

         19  mass transit assets which will substantially change

         20  the nature of the area. The extended Number 7 line,

         21  obviously the Long Island Railroad and New Jersey

         22  Transit go right into Penn Station, which is only a

         23  20-minute walk away, which is less than the far

         24  reaches of the parking lots at the Meadowlands.

         25  Buses and the new ferry terminal at Pier 79.

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 Let's also not forget that the Jets

          3  only play eight to ten home games a year, mostly on

          4  Sundays. But let's start looking at the facts.

          5  Surveys indicate, and the City and the MTA have done

          6  an independent survey, indicate that 75 percent of

          7  fans will use mass transit with the Number 7 line.

          8                 How do we know? Because we went out

          9  and asked their customers, the same customers who

         10  have been customers for years and years and years.

         11  Eighty-two percent of people who come into New York

         12  to work every day take mass transit. We're assuming

         13  in fact in our analysis that less than that 75

         14  percent will use mass transit. In fact, Madison

         15  Square Garden will talk about a study that says that

         16  a relatively low, less than 50 percent of the

         17  stands, walk or use mass transit. That study was so

         18  flawed that when you actually looked behind the

         19  numbers, what you see is they've got people from

         20  Staten Island coming to Madison Square Garden on the

         21  Long Island Railroad. It was done on one day.

         22  Actually go back and take a look at a study that

         23  they did in the late eighties, that indicate that 70

         24  percent of fans walk or use mass transit to Knick

         25  games. But let's also compare what the traffic would
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          2  be going to the New York and Sports and Convention

          3  Center for a Jets game, compared to what happens

          4  today at the Meadowlands. This are the actual

          5  estimates based on the detailed surveys that we've

          6  done that ask people how they get to the Meadowlands

          7  today, and how they would come to the New York

          8  Sports and Convention Center in the future, the

          9  reality is, if you look at the number of peak hour

         10  crossings of tunnels, bridges, into Manhattan for a

         11  Jets game, today during peak hour there are roughly

         12  12,000 crossings, cars, into Manhattan on the way to

         13  a Jets game. At the New York Sports and Convention

         14  Center, assuming roughly 70 percent mass transit,

         15  which is what the Jets' customers say they are going

         16  to use, there are only 6,126.

         17                 And, yes, we're very concerned about

         18  traffic at the Lincoln Tunnel, but the total number

         19  of cars coming into the Lincoln Tunnel would be

         20  1,789 in the future, versus 1,615 today.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Pardon me, Mr.

         22  Mayor.

         23                 Let me remind people that when they

         24  speak, they don't want people booing, hissing,

         25  groaning and all these other good things. It's
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          2  called courtesy, and we will extend a courtesy.

          3                 Sir, would you be kind enough to

          4  continue.

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 People can laugh but let's see the

          8  facts on the other side.

          9                 Another myth is that a Queens stadium

         10  is a better public investment. It's simply not true.

         11                 The New York Sports and Convention

         12  Center will provide the best possible return on

         13  public investment. In fact, just to prepare the

         14  site, to remove at Willets Point the tenants that

         15  are there now, to do the environmental clean-up, to

         16  drive the piles into the soft marshland, will cost

         17  almost as much money as building the platform over

         18  the railyard on the west side.

         19                 Then of course you've got the

         20  question who is actually going to build the stadium

         21  in Queens? The Jets have no intention to go to

         22  Queens. Instead they are making an $800 million

         23  investment on the west side. Sure, we're going to

         24  pay $225 million for a roof for the convention

         25  facility, but that's justified given its connection
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          2  to Javits Center.

          3                 In total, the total City/State

          4  investment on the far west side in this building

          5  will be 600 million. The annual cost of that will be

          6  40 or so. In Queens we don't have anybody to buy a

          7  building. We've got $350 million just to get a

          8  building if we could find somebody to do that.

          9                 In total, there's a very positive

         10  return, immediately, to the City and State, of

         11  profit of 30 million, in Queens there would simply

         12  be a significant loss.

         13                 So, let me just reiterate some of the

         14  key points that I and my fellow panelists have made.

         15                 First and foremost, this building

         16  isn't just the stadium. It is a key component of the

         17  New York Sports and Convention, of the Convention

         18  Corridor, that we hope to create to attract

         19  thousands and thousands of jobs and hundreds of

         20  millions of dollars of taxes to the City.

         21                 It brings in an $800 million private

         22  investment today, in an area that people have talked

         23  about investing in for 80 years, and no one has ever

         24  stepped forward.

         25                 It replaces those exposed railyards

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  that will impede development with a building that

          3  will be filled with all sorts of activity every

          4  single day.

          5                 It allows us to attract mega events,

          6  that we couldn't otherwise attract. We'll never have

          7  without this building, another political convention.

          8  We simply don't have a facility that's big enough.

          9                 And I'll also point out that it is

         10  essential to our Olympic bid. This will be the only

         11  comment I make about the Olympics, but without it we

         12  won't have a successful Olympic bid.

         13                 And finally, I hear some groaning in

         14  the audience, finally, it is a terrific financial

         15  investment for the City and State.

         16                 Rather than using $600 million of

         17  precious City/State resources, this is an investment

         18  that will earn us a profit every year, starting in

         19  year one of roughly $30 million and growing beyond

         20  that, that we can invest in education, in health

         21  care, in police and fire protection, in parks and

         22  the other things that we all deem are critical to

         23  our future as a City.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.
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          2                 I want to state that Congressman

          3  Nadler, of course, has some information that we will

          4  read into the record at a later moment, and

          5  Congressman Weiner is trying to get here.

          6                 I will also apologize for my own

          7  colleagues now. I'm going to be the most hated man

          8  in New York City at the end of this one. But let me

          9  apologize to you, I must hold you to two questions.

         10  That means a question and perhaps a follow-up. I am

         11  going to cut you off. I apologize in advance, but

         12  I'm going to lead by example, I'm only going to

         13  raise two. And I believe that simplicity of

         14  expression will show brevity. You will show your

         15  brilliance through your brevity today.

         16                 Mr. Deputy Mayor, I have two

         17  questions for you, sir. Would the City own the

         18  Sports Complex alone, or would it also own the air

         19  rights over the Hudson Yard?

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, with

         21  respect to what we're calling the "Western

         22  RailYards," which is the area between 33rd and 30th,

         23  the City actually will not own anything. The MTA

         24  will retain whatever residual air rights exist. The

         25  facility itself will not be owned by the City. The
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          2  City will earn it's return through the new taxes

          3  that are generated out of the activity in the

          4  building, which is we've estimated roughly $70

          5  million for the City and State together.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: My last question

          7  is, who would control the Sports Complex's use for

          8  non-Jets' activities, and how would the revenue from

          9  those events be distributed?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, that

         11  will be worked out between the Jets and Javits,

         12  particularly as to how it's going to be booked, and

         13  perhaps Mr. Cross and Mr. Boyle can elaborate on

         14  that.

         15                 So, at the end of the day, in terms

         16  of the profit of the building, that will accrue to

         17  the Jets themselves. We don't expect that that

         18  building is going to be terribly profitable.

         19  Typically, as a convention facility, typically

         20  convention centers don't earn large profits. In

         21  fact, many of them actually operate at a loss. The

         22  Javits Center, under the management of Mr. Boyle,

         23  actually operates very successfully at a profit, but

         24  in any event, convention centers don't earn large

         25  profits.
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          2                 Ultimately the Jets have to earn

          3  money on its use as a stadium, when it's in its

          4  convention/stadium mode, in order to earn a return

          5  on their $800 million investment.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Would you

          7  gentlemen care to comment?

          8                 MR. BOYLE: Mr. Chairman, for

          9  operational continuity, I believe it is essential

         10  for the Javits operating team to control the

         11  bookings and the operations as far as the complex is

         12  concerned, at least in the convention and the

         13  exhibit mode.

         14                 We have had discussions with the Jets

         15  and the City relative to that purpose, I don't think

         16  we're in any disagreement, but we have not reduced

         17  anything to a contractual scenario.

         18                 And from the standpoint of making a

         19  profit, we would hope that the Javits success in

         20  operating our own building, and we are the only

         21  building, to my knowledge, in the country that has

         22  an operating profit in this business. I would hope

         23  that we could extend that to the additional facility

         24  and at the very least share with the Jets the

         25  profitability from those facilities.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Mr. Speaker.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: I just wanted to ask,

          4  with regard to the air rights, just what progress is

          5  being made in terms of the negotiation? I would ask

          6  Mr. Cross, what progress is being made with regard

          7  to negotiations, and how precisely you and the MTA

          8  are planning to value that obviously valuable public

          9  property?

         10                 MR. CROSS: I think the current plan

         11  is to agree on either a single or a number of

         12  appraisers that would be retained by the MTA, the

         13  State, the City and the Jets, to establish what is

         14  fair market value for those air rights. And the

         15  intention is that with respect to the Sports and

         16  Convention Center, they would pay a fair market

         17  ground rent based on that value as is ultimately

         18  determined.

         19                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay.

         20                 And what's the time frame on that, do

         21  you know?

         22                 MR. CROSS: I would hope within the

         23  next few months, by the fall.

         24                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay, thank you.

         25                 MR. BOYLE: Mr. Speaker, if I could
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          2  just add, and I know you're really concerned about

          3  the fair market value of that facility, and we live

          4  next door and we have lived next door, as far as the

          5  Convention Center is concerned, for some period of

          6  years, and I keep looking over at it and understand

          7  that some day it will have some fair market value.

          8  But as we look at it, it has minimal fair market

          9  value today, nothing goes on there, and it is

         10  nothing for us but a negative.

         11                 SPEAKER MILLER: I'm sure that's true.

         12  I think the question is once the City, rather once

         13  the State has made the determination to invest $300

         14  million of the public's money in platforming the

         15  yards -- I mean, obviously, as the yards, just

         16  sitting there as the yards, it's not helpful. But

         17  once the State has made the decision to platform the

         18  yards, and invest I guess the $300 million that's

         19  necessary to platform the yards, that's the total

         20  cost, the estimate of the cost of the platforming?

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Roughly 375

         22  for that platform alone, yes.

         23                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, the State is

         24  paying 300 of it and the Jets are paying 75 of the

         25  platform?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: Or the City is paying

          4  75 --

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes.

          6                 SPEAKER MILLER: And then the

          7  additional 200 million is for the roof?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Correct.

          9                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, the State and the

         10  City are combined to pay $375 million for

         11  platforming it. Once you do that, it starts to be

         12  worth -- I mean, if you were to turn it over to

         13  somebody and say, hey, we've got -- how many square

         14  blocks is it?

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: It's roughly

         16  three.

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, three square

         18  blocks. We got $375 million, we plunked it down,

         19  it's now worth a lot more than before, and I just

         20  think in terms of determining what the public

         21  investment is, obviously you have to take into

         22  account the rights there that the MTA currently owns

         23  and would be giving up in order to allow for

         24  development on the site.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: And that also
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          2  will have to take into account, and this is what the

          3  appraiser or appraisers will take a look at, the

          4  cost of the platform, which is a deduct from the

          5  value. It has to take into account the future zoning

          6  on the site, and a number of other things, including

          7  the fact that in the area there is a large amount of

          8  available land. I mean, we're talking about over a

          9  30-year period of time in the entire Hudson Yards

         10  area, excluding the western railyards, developing

         11  roughly 28 million square feet of office space, and

         12  12,000 apartments. So, not everything is going to

         13  get developed right away.

         14                 In fact, one of the real problems is,

         15  even if you platform over the railyards tomorrow,

         16  and you just have a blank platform, it's going to

         17  take years for development to occur on that

         18  platform.

         19                 Our projections assume in the entire

         20  area only roughly a million square feet of office

         21  space a year being developed and 600 apartments a

         22  year. So, the vast, vast, vast majority of that

         23  platform is going to lie fallow for a long period of

         24  time.

         25                 That's one of the great things about
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          2  this building, is that it builds it up, on day one

          3  with an investment by a private investor with

          4  activity, that will be an inducement to other

          5  investors into the area. That's what makes this

          6  different than simply platforming over it and saying

          7  it's got lots of value.

          8                 SPEAKER MILLER: I certainly respect

          9  everything you're saying there. The only thing I

         10  would perhaps take issue with is the notion that you

         11  have to take into account, in terms of developing

         12  the cost of, the value of these rights, the amount

         13  of money that the City and State -- the amount of

         14  the money to platform, because the MTA owns the

         15  rights, and it's not the MTA that's putting up the

         16  money to do the platforming. If you follow what I

         17  mean --

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No, but I

         19  would think the City and State would want their

         20  money back --

         21                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF:-- For

         23  building the platform before the MTA were entitled

         24  to share.

         25                 SPEAKER MILLER: Yes. Well, that would
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          2  be great.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Correct.

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: If the City and the

          5  State could get their money back --

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: And that's

          7  exactly what we're doing by building the New York

          8  Sports and Convention Center, is by getting that $70

          9  million a year in new taxes.

         10                 SPEAKER MILLER: Yes, I'm not sure we

         11  meant it in quite the same way there, but that's

         12  what, as my father used to say, makes horse races.

         13                 Thank you. I'm sorry, just very

         14  quickly, because I didn't quite hear it. The

         15  question of who is going to operate the Sports and

         16  Convention Center, the answer is it hasn't yet been

         17  worked out between the Jets and Javits, or it will

         18  be the Jets?

         19                 MR. CROSS: I think there is a broad

         20  agreement that the Jets will operate the building. I

         21  think what remains to be worked out is the protocol

         22  under which it gets operated, and how it works in

         23  conjunction with the Javits Center operation.

         24                 SPEAKER MILLER: So we don't know who

         25  is going to book it yet?
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          2                 MR. CROSS: I think Javits are going

          3  to end up booking it, but we're going to operate it.

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: But that needs to be

          5  worked out. I mean, the intention, what you're

          6  saying is the Jets' intention is for Javits to book

          7  the Center, but it hasn't yet the protocol for how

          8  Javits would do that, it hasn't been worked out?

          9                 MR. CROSS: Right.

         10                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, let's say the

         11  Rolling Stones wanted to come to town, do they call

         12  Javits or do they call the Jets?

         13                 MR. CROSS: They would probably call

         14  the Jets, but we haven't worked that out yet.

         15                 We've had broad discussions. We've

         16  had four or five models on the table.

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right.

         18                 MR. CROSS: Each has its pluses and

         19  minuses, and we haven't reached a consensus.

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER: But if they're

         21  probably calling the Jets, then it sounds to me like

         22  the Jets are booking it, not Javits?

         23                 MR. CROSS: Well, you said the Rolling

         24  Stones. You know, if the National Association of

         25  Computer Printers, they're going to call Javits.
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          2                 SPEAKER MILLER: Yes, but if the Jets,

          3  say they want to come on May 19th, and the Stones

          4  called and they want to come on May 19th, who is

          5  booking the show?

          6                 MR. CROSS: Well, that's where the

          7  protocol has to be worked out.

          8                 SPEAKER MILLER: The answer then is

          9  that it's not that you think the Javits will be

         10  booking the Center, it's that you don't know yet.

         11  You haven't worked out precisely who is going to do

         12  it.

         13                 Because the point I think that was

         14  made, and I think it's an excellent one that Javits

         15  makes money, which is a terrific thing, and the

         16  Center is run extraordinarily well in order to make

         17  money, but you don't always want Convention Centers

         18  to make money. I mean, they're not necessarily even

         19  built to make money themselves. In fact, the reason

         20  that a lot of other convention centers don't make

         21  money is because they're loss leaders. You know, you

         22  don't want to take necessarily the show that just

         23  gets you -- if you get five days on one show and

         24  three days of another show, but the three days of

         25  that show bring 10,000 people to town and the five
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          2  days of the other show just to attract local people,

          3  it may be that it makes more sense for the State and

          4  for the City to take the one that loses you a little

          5  bit of money but makes the City and the State more

          6  money.

          7                 So, I think it's important for us to

          8  determine what that protocol is, because the

          9  incentives for the Jets are very different than the

         10  incentives for the convention center, which is run

         11  by a public corporation -- (applause).

         12                 I appreciate it, but we're trying to

         13  keep that to a minimum. But thank you. Just so we

         14  can get through this, and we don't want witnesses on

         15  either side to feel intimidated or feel

         16  uncomfortable sharing their views. So, thank you all

         17  for that, but I'd appreciate everyone kind of trying

         18  to keep it on an even keel.

         19                 Maybe you could just address that,

         20  Mr. Boyle, or Mr. Cross.

         21                 MR. BOYLE: I think you've answered

         22  your own question, Mr. Speaker. The fact of the

         23  matter is --

         24                 SPEAKER MILLER: I know I do that.

         25  Sorry.
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          2                 MR. BOYLE: Currently, we don't have

          3  to make those decisions as to which show. We have a

          4  basic premise for booking shows in the Javits

          5  Center, it is based on heads on bets. If you have a

          6  show that books more hotel room nights than his

          7  show, you're going to get those dates. And

          8  fortunately, we have such an enormous demand for the

          9  Javits Center that we really don't have to make too

         10  many decisions relative to giving discounts and so

         11  on.

         12                 As far as the complex south of this

         13  is concerned, it would be my desire for us to be

         14  booking the convention exhibit, business exhibit

         15  pieces of that program.

         16                 Now, realize that we have to book

         17  those out one, two, five and ten years ahead. So,

         18  that become complex in some fashion but simple in

         19  others. If we already have a contract to have the

         20  flower show, for instance, in the center and using

         21  the Jets base, they simply will not be able to have

         22  the rock show, because there's already a contract in

         23  existence.

         24                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right, because your

         25  point is that the software industry decides where
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          2  they're going to go in 2014 and the Stones decide to

          3  tour in 2012.

          4                 MR. BOYLE: And as we do at the Javits

          5  Center now, we book in advance and we fill in with

          6  things in a shorter period of time.

          7                 In other words, if we have some open

          8  time, then we'll go out and fill it in.

          9                 MR. CROSS: If I can just elaborate a

         10  little bit. The convention business is the Javits'

         11  expertise. Our concern is the NFL schedule. And

         12  we've already worked out a protocol with the NFL

         13  that the Javits Center will know every year what

         14  dates are blacked out for football games, and what

         15  dates are available for convention business, so that

         16  they can book the Sports and Convention Center years

         17  and years in advance, well in advance of when we

         18  know our schedule.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: The other

         20  thing I think that's important to point out, when we

         21  talked about the fiscal impact analysis, we're only

         22  assuming that the New York Sports and Convention

         23  Center is operated in its stadium mode 17 days a

         24  year, and maybe another two for mega events. So,

         25  you're talking about a very small slice where it
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          2  will be used in the stadium mode, and well over 300

          3  days a year it will be available, the vast, vast,

          4  vast majority of the time for conventions and

          5  exhibitions and trade shows.

          6                 SPEAKER MILLER: I understand that.

          7  But I think we'd all feel more comfortable about

          8  making that assumption if we knew what the protocol

          9  was between the Jets and the Javits Center. Because

         10  you're assuming only 17 days and the Jets and the

         11  Javits Center haven't worked it out yet, and until

         12  the Jets say, all right, the Javits Center is

         13  booking everything but 17 nights a year, and we got

         14  17 nights, and that's our 17 and that's it, we don't

         15  know that that's happening. So, my only point is,

         16  that protocol needs to be worked out and shared with

         17  everybody, because until then the Jets have a very,

         18  and I don't mean this in a negative way, I'm saying

         19  just the facts. The Jets have a very different

         20  profit incentive with regard to the booking of the

         21  center than would the convention.

         22                 That's inherent, and I don't mean

         23  that in -- there's nothing underhanded or negative

         24  about it, I'm just saying there are different

         25  incentives there. You know, it's important to work
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          2  out those protocols, so that people can finally

          3  answer those questions and we can know that the

          4  estimates that have been made are really realistic.

          5                 MR. BOYLE: Mr. Speaker, I appreciate

          6  your point. The reason it hasn't been worked out is

          7  absolutely my fault. The Jets have been on us for

          8  the last six months to try to work out the protocol,

          9  and I just have not had time to, and I didn't think

         10  it had a priority. You address the priority, we'll

         11  get it done.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. Let

         13  the record show that when the Speaker brings the

         14  Rolling Stones to town, that most members of the

         15  City Council want to go there wherever it is.

         16                 Council Member Katz.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good afternoon,

         18  gentlemen, and thank you for your time here today. I

         19  think that your testimony has been quite in-depth

         20  and I appreciate that.

         21                 For those of you that don't know me

         22  on the panel, I'm not only the Chair of Land Use but

         23  I'm also a Queens legislator, so I have really a few

         24  questions about Willets Point.

         25                 One of the things that keeps getting
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          2  asked of us in the community is why not Willets

          3  Point? I know the Deputy Mayor and I have had

          4  several discussions on this. First off, I'd like the

          5  Deputy Mayor really to put on the record the

          6  criteria and standards and things that they took

          7  into account when determining the economic impact.

          8  For instance, the year-round bars, the restaurants,

          9  the convention center, obviously. But I guess on a

         10  personal note for the Jets, I'm just curious as to

         11  why you won't go to Queens?

         12                 My understanding from football

         13  history is Queens has been very good to you.

         14                 (Applause.) Ladies and gentlemen, I

         15  understand this is sort of an interesting hearing

         16  today, but it is a legislative body, so I'd

         17  appreciate it.

         18                 I am curious, why not Queens? And

         19  what it was in your determination that dismissed it?

         20  And then I'd like the Deputy Mayor to put the

         21  economic impact on the record.

         22                 MR. CROSS: Well, I think the answer

         23  is there's a strong romance associated with going

         24  back to Queens, we don't deny that for a moment.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes, if I'm not
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          2  mistaken, you won the what?

          3                 MR. CROSS: I think we won the Super

          4  Bowl.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.

          6                 MR. CROSS: But we didn't win it

          7  there, we won it in Miami.

          8                 The point simply is, you know, I

          9  reference in my remarks these purported experts who

         10  say that stadiums don't contribute anything to

         11  economic impact, and the way we look at Queens is

         12  Queens fits that model. That's the stadium only

         13  facility, open air, used 20 days of the year, a lot

         14  of public money, Shea Stadium is 100 percent

         15  publicly owned, and that's the model.

         16                 Now, if you're telling me that that's

         17  the model that the City and the State would prefer

         18  to pursue, then I guess it's news to the Jets. We

         19  understood that the model --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I didn't hear

         21  that.

         22                 MR. CROSS: That a suburban stadium is

         23  only used 15 to 20 days of the year. It typically

         24  does not generate a lot of ancillary development, as

         25  a lot of leading experts suggest. It typically
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          2  requires a lot of parking, as leading experts

          3  suggest. It has lots of kinds of attributes that are

          4  not the same as an urban model. And you have to go

          5  around the league and look at urban versus suburban

          6  stadiums.

          7                 So, from my point of view, we already

          8  play in a suburban stadium. We play in a suburban

          9  stadium in New Jersey. So, by far and away the most

         10  economic thing for us to do, if that's the model we

         11  want to pursue, is to stay where we are and work out

         12  a deal with the Giants in the State of New Jersey,

         13  because it's by far and away the most economic thing

         14  to do.

         15                 We can't afford a $800 million

         16  investment in Queens. It just simply can't be done.

         17  Today there's 120 suites at the Meadowlands. One out

         18  of 120 suites is leased to a Long Island business.

         19  So, if we go from one side of our fan base to the

         20  other side of our fan base, we're going to do

         21  exactly what we did in '84 when we went from Shea to

         22  New Jersey. Today we have half of our fans come from

         23  New Jersey. That wasn't the case when we played at

         24  Shea.

         25                 We are in the center of the region,
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          2  we'll be in the center of our fan base, we'll

          3  maximize our reach in the corporate market, be it

          4  suites or club seats, and that's what enables us to

          5  make this enormous private investment. And we

          6  believe, maybe incorrectly, that that was the

          7  preferred route, that we should pay our way.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Your

          9  determinations are based, and perhaps this is a

         10  better question for Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, your

         11  determinations are based on the theory that the City

         12  won't invest the same money and capital and

         13  investment, I guess, in the Queens area.

         14                 Because theoretically, I guess you

         15  don't need a convention center to be hooked up with

         16  the Jets. So, if we were to make the same investment

         17  in Queens, and maybe Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, you can

         18  answer that.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's

         20  exactly the point that I probably glossed over a

         21  little too quickly earlier, but you can see it here

         22  on this chart, which is that in Queens, if it's a

         23  football-only facility, even assuming you got

         24  somebody to pay for the stadium itself, you're

         25  talking about incremental revenues to the City and
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          2  State, new of 20 million, and a cost, again,

          3  assuming somebody is prepared to build the stadium

          4  itself, of 25 million. So, you've got a loss right

          5  off the bat of 6 million versus a gain of 30 million

          6  to the City and State by doing it over on the west

          7  side. And the reason that happened is because of all

          8  the ancillary activity that will take place in the

          9  building.

         10                 Looking at it only from the

         11  perspective of the City, and maybe looking at it on

         12  behalf of the State, it is, all we care about is

         13  making a profit for the City and State. We don't

         14  care about the Jets at the end of the day. We like

         15  them to come back, we don't care. What we care about

         16  is the economics to the City and State. In Queens we

         17  would lose money. On the west side we will make a

         18  substantial amount of money.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Can you go over

         20  the criterion standards, and the bars and the

         21  restaurants and things that -- you have to had made

         22  that assessment on things.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: That was a

         24  question that she had raised, if you will answer

         25  that one, that will be the last one.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes,

          3  absolutely. Well, we have the whole economic impact

          4  analysis and our assessment of it, which we're happy

          5  to share. It all goes to the issue of event days and

          6  event nights in the building on the west side.

          7                 First is I think it's fair to say,

          8  particularly if there's no roof on the facility, but

          9  even if there is, there is very little ancillary

         10  convention, event, trade show activity that would

         11  take place in Queens. And that, unfortunately, is

         12  the reality.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council Member

         14  Weprin.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 And I'm glad Council Member Katz

         18  asked the Queens questions, and it was put on the

         19  record, because in addition to being the Finance

         20  Committee chair, where I've been emphasizing a lot

         21  of the economic development, and as you've heard

         22  earlier, I've come out with a public position in

         23  favor of the project. I'm also a Queens Council

         24  member and have been called as much as a traitor to

         25  Queens County in the local press in Queens, and I'm
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          2  glad you put on the record what I've been saying all

          3  along, is that it's really between the west side and

          4  the Meadowlands and not between the west side and

          5  Willets Point.

          6                 But I have a question. The question I

          7  have is, and I'd like to address it to Mr. Cross,

          8  since he is more directly involved with the Jets,

          9  and I know we have a lot of labor unions in the

         10  audience; what is the commitment on the part of the

         11  Jets, as far as union workers and what is the

         12  current history in the Meadowlands?

         13                 I understand you don't own the

         14  stadium in the Meadowlands, but is there a labor

         15  history with labor unions versus what's anticipated

         16  on the west side?

         17                 MR. CROSS: I don't think there's a

         18  difference. The Meadowlands is a 100 percent union

         19  operation, but the labor agreements are with the New

         20  Jersey Sports and Exhibition Authority. Certainly

         21  our expectation is that it will be build by

         22  organized labor and it will be run by organized

         23  labor. In fact, we've entered into a memorandum of

         24  understanding with the hotel and restaurant workers

         25  to that effect.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. And you

          3  have that agreement in writing?

          4                 MR. CROSS: Yes. Peter Ward I think

          5  will address that later.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 Is that quick enough, Mr. Chair?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Sir, if we would

         10  all follow your lead we'd be a different Council.

         11                 Council Member Quinn, who will follow

         12  your lead, I'm sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Deputy Mayor

         14  Doctoroff, you said repeatedly that 300 million from

         15  the City will not come from existing City resources

         16  but from new revenues.

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: What I said

         18  is that we expect the City will earn a profit on the

         19  building. I've never said that there will be a

         20  direct connection between the money expended and the

         21  revenues coming in, not using tax increment

         22  financing to fund the 300 million.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: What I have

         25  said, what I have repeatedly said, what I believe
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          2  completely is that on a net basis the City will

          3  generate new tax revenues.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: One of the

          5  things that myself and others who are opposed to the

          6  project or concerned or skeptical about the project,

          7  one of our concerns, and I kind of referenced this

          8  with Chairperson Gargano, is what's the time line?

          9  What's the plan? So to make the pilot a financial

         10  reality, things have to be built, things have to

         11  occur; can you take me through, or take us through

         12  that time frame, what has to happen by when to

         13  facilitate X revenues, et cetera?

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Sure. Well,

         15  the revenues would start to come in as soon as the

         16  building is open. And as we've estimated, new tax

         17  revenues will be $70 million or so range that will

         18  increase from there at some reasonable rate. The

         19  money, some of it will have to be expended, probably

         20  as early as two-thousand and -- potentially next

         21  year 2005, 2006, so there is a carrying period for

         22  the investment that we're going to have to make. But

         23  over time again the return is very, very

         24  substantial.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, you're
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          2  talking about is specifically to the stadium, right?

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I was only

          4  referring to the New York Sports and Convention

          5  Center for now. I refuse to acknowledge that it's

          6  just the stadium, as you will recall from Myth

          7  Number 1.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You switched

          9  from the multi-use facility to the new name --

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, we put

         11  a new name on it, so I think everyone would agree

         12  the New York Sports and Convention Center just

         13  sounds nicer than the "multi-use facility."

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Be that as it

         15  may, that was what you were talking about.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's

         17  exactly what I was talking about.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What about the

         19  commercial projects, or the residential projects

         20  that need to be developed to pay for the financing

         21  of the associated infrastructure? What's the time

         22  frame of those?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, that

         24  was all subject to a financing plan that we

         25  announced in late February, and I'll be happy to
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          2  recap it for you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Essentially

          5  what the City is going to do through a Local

          6  Development Corporation that it will form that we

          7  call the Hudson Yard Infrastructure Corporation,

          8  will be to build the Number 7 extension, the

          9  platform over the eastern railyards, which are

         10  between 30th and 34th, between 10th and 11th, as

         11  well as the open space and park network, and the

         12  related condemnation. That's roughly $2.8 billion.

         13  We are going to finance that through the issuance of

         14  bonds. But the Hudson Yards Infrastructure

         15  Corporation will issue -- this will not be an

         16  obligation of the City but of the Local Development

         17  Corporation. In fact on the cover of the offering

         18  circular that will be issued to potential bond

         19  holders, it will explicitly say this is not an

         20  obligation of New York City.

         21                 Now, you have an issue because you

         22  have to make this investment in infrastructure and

         23  you're not going to get the revenues out of the area

         24  to pay the debt service until the investment in

         25  infrastructure is completed. There is a gap there.
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          2                 And because what we are going to do

          3  is pay for it out of new tax revenues on commercial

          4  buildings, residential buildings, development

          5  rights, air rights, and the like, and, so, we will

          6  finance the interest cost in that interim period

          7  with, it's called a "commercial paper program,"

          8  that's short-term investment grade paper, that will

          9  be issued to pay for those interest costs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: How long are

         11  you going to issue commercial paper?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Probably for

         13  about seven years or so.

         14                 We don't expect the first office

         15  building actually to be built in the area until

         16  about 2010. We may see some residential development

         17  activity before then, but we're assuming that the

         18  first building won't open until after the subway

         19  does.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If I can

         21  request, what I'm really looking for is what kind of

         22  you're getting to now, but I know I have to move on,

         23  is exactly what you're saying, so in 2010 we expect

         24  the first commercial building to be built which

         25  would yield X with the first residential building Y.
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          2  If you could provide the schedule that has how you

          3  see it and how that yields, that would be very

          4  helpful.

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We'd be happy

          6  to share with you all of the details and the

          7  underlying assumptions for the entire financing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That would be

          9  great.

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And if the

         12  pilots don't kick in, if what you show me, you know,

         13  doesn't work out, for whatever reason, then what

         14  happens? Who is then on the hook to pay the debt

         15  service, to pay what is owed on what has been put

         16  out there?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, as I

         18  said, the City is not on the hook. There is one

         19  exception to that. When you issue commercial paper,

         20  commercial paper needs to be back stopped first by a

         21  commercial guarantee. That can be a letter of

         22  credit, or it can be bond insurance.

         23                 Beyond that, as a secondary

         24  guarantee, what we have proposed is that the TFA,

         25  Transitional Finance Authority, in effect provide a
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          2  secondary back stop. One we don't ever expect to be

          3  called on based on our projections, but we are

          4  providing it in order to lower the cost of

          5  financing.

          6                 Now, to the extent say in 2012 there

          7  aren't adequate revenues, there's two different

          8  groups. You've got the bond holders on the

          9  underlying $2.8 billion of debt. They only have

         10  recourse to those new sources of revenues, not the

         11  City.

         12                 The investors in the commercial paper

         13  could ultimately look to the TFA to fulfill its

         14  guarantee. If they did, most likely what would

         15  really happen is you would simply issue additional

         16  commercial paper.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: With more debt.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's

         19  exactly what commercial paper is, until you had

         20  enough revenues.

         21                 There would be no way that the total

         22  amount of it would ever get called at one time.

         23  You'd simply continue to finance that. And we've

         24  actually stress tested our model, and, again, are

         25  very happy to share all the underlying assumptions
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          2  with you, to show you how we think we've built in a

          3  fair degree of cushion into the projections.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I will

          5  definitely sum up, because the Chair is asking me.

          6                 All of that said, and I very much

          7  appreciate it, it still sounds to me speculative,

          8  and there is significant risk there that at the end

          9  of the day could end up impacting taxpayers. But

         10  that said --

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, let me

         12  just clarify so that everyone is very clear.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sure.

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We're not

         15  talking about the New York Sports and Convention

         16  Center. We're talking about the infrastructure

         17  investments east of 11th Avenue.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But a great

         19  deal of your powerpoints can't become a reality

         20  without much of that associated eastern

         21  infrastructure.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, I mean,

         23  you can expand Javits and you can build a New York

         24  Sports and Convention Center, you know, without the

         25  Number 7. We don't think it's as good a thing to
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          2  happen. We have a Javits Center over there today --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But then you

          4  can't tell us that 70 percent of the people will

          5  come by subway.

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Only eight

          7  percent of that 75 percent are planned to come by

          8  the Number 7 line actually.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: To be fair, I

         10  think to try to separate the two and make them not

         11  interconnected and to make the financing of all of

         12  it not interconnected is just unfair to the reality

         13  of the project. The project is enormous, and the

         14  eastern part of it is as much a part of it as the

         15  New York Sports and Convention Center proper is a

         16  part of it. And I don't think it's fair to the

         17  citizens or the west side to try to separate the two

         18  out.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, I think

         20  we've been very clear all along that in terms of

         21  creating the kind of transformation in the area on

         22  the far west side, there are a series of things that

         23  we think happen and should happen.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: And I don't
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          2  think we dispute that. And those include the

          3  extension of the Number 7, building of the

          4  platforms, the parks, expansion of the Javits

          5  Center, and the New York Sports and Convention

          6  Center. Without any one of them, the entire plan is

          7  less powerful than it would otherwise be.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

          9  Council member.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Just one last

         11  thing?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your second

         13  question, Council member.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I promise.

         15                 Some financial experts have indicated

         16  to me that this financing mechanism which we're

         17  talking about actually ends up in the end being more

         18  expensive than if the City was to finance the

         19  infrastructure project directly; is that true? And

         20  if so, what's the additional cost to the City?

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That is true.

         22  The estimates are is that the additional cost would

         23  be roughly 25 to 50 basis points. That's basically

         24  0.25 percent to 0.5 percent of the annual debt

         25  service cost.
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          2                 So, go say from an interest rate of

          3  five percent to five and a quarter to five and a

          4  half percent. And that's the cost that we think we

          5  should pay in order not to have the City incur the

          6  obligation, not to have the City use its borrowing

          7  capacity for this. So, yes, absolutely it's a little

          8  bit more expensive, but we think worthwhile.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

         10  Council member.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council Member

         13  Gioia.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair. And thank you, gentlemen, for being down here

         16  today. I notice that no one is touching the water on

         17  your table. I think that's well advised. You've been

         18  here a long time.

         19                 I'd like to talk to you about two

         20  topics today, because I only have two questions.

         21  One, I'd like to talk to you about the financing.

         22  And two, I'd like to talk to you about Queens, as I

         23  represent Queens.

         24                 I understand from your testimony,

         25  Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, and I understand from Mr.
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          2  Cross's testimony that he is advocating for his

          3  team, for his client, the Jets, and Queens is a bad

          4  idea for them because they can be just as profitable

          5  in New Jersey and the west of Manhattan is a better

          6  investment for them. But you said in your testimony

          7  that when you look at the equation from the City's

          8  point of view, you don't care about the Jets --

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I love the

         10  Jets, but I don't care about them financially.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Me too. I hated

         12  A.J. Dewey for many years.

         13                 But you said it was a rate of return

         14  for the City, and the profit the City is going to

         15  make. One, I would question that that is the exact

         16  right criteria in that I'm sure the Brooklyn Bridge

         17  wasn't motivated by a profit, and that economic

         18  development, if you were looking just at the

         19  economic profit motive, certainly Central Park would

         20  be a wonderful place to start building, because it's

         21  the most valuable real estate in New York. There are

         22  other criteria when a city invests. In other words,

         23  the Number 7 train, when it was built, it was within

         24  20 years economic development flourished around it.

         25  But even accepting that it's a rate of return which
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          2  should be the paramount concern, at first, in

          3  sitting here for two hours, at first I understood

          4  you to say we would expect a five percent rate of

          5  return on our money, no?

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: It's a $600

          8  million investment, and it was a $30 million profit,

          9  no?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Tell me.

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: The annual

         13  debt service cost, I'm glad you asked me to clarify

         14  that. The annual debt service cost, assuming that

         15  you finance it over a 30-year period of time, is

         16  roughly $42 million a year.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Right.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's our

         19  investment every year.

         20                 Every year, certainly once the

         21  building is open, we expect to get back, and we as

         22  the City and State is roughly $70 million a year.

         23                 In effect what you're doing is you're

         24  earning a profit, a profit, net profit of $28

         25  million to $30 million a year. That is roughly a 70
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          2  percent return.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You're

          4  borrowing $600 million, right? You're borrowing $600

          5  million by going out into the bond market and

          6  floating bonds, correct? And the rate of return,

          7  you're going to make a profit of $30 million on a

          8  $600 million loan.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: If you want

         10  to look at it that way then you're talking about a

         11  $70 million revenue on a $600 million investment,

         12  which would be roughly 11 or 12 percent or 14

         13  percent, whatever, right? Seventy million on 600

         14  million. But that's not the way we think about it.

         15  We think about it in terms of the profit that we

         16  think we're going to earn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: That being

         18  said, then after sitting here for two hours I heard

         19  that of course the return won't come in the first

         20  year. It will probably be five years. Is that a fair

         21  estimate, five years?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think the

         23  estimate is probably three and a half or so.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So that adds on

         25  another 120 million, another 170 million dollars
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          2  onto the cost?

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Roughly 120.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And, so, for

          5  those four years, that $120 million comes out of the

          6  where? Where do we get $120 million?

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We are going

          8  to finance, we are going to borrow, and we're going

          9  to borrow against --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: We're going to

         11  borrow to pay the debt, we're going to borrow to pay

         12  our bill on the $600 million?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No. We're

         14  going to borrow to finance the cost of construction

         15  of the platform and the roof. And we will borrow it

         16  on a 30-year basis, and the borrowing will be

         17  supported by other pilot rental and lease payments

         18  that the City would otherwise collect.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, it won't

         20  cost the City any money out of the City Expense

         21  budget?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No, I didn't

         23  say that. It will cost 30 million, for the City

         24  roughly $20 million a year for that period until the

         25  revenues come in.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, for the

          3  next three years, about $20 million from the City.

          4  So, for the next three years, the City you're

          5  expecting to pay $20 million out of the expense

          6  budget per year to pay, before we begin to show the

          7  rate of return.

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Or we can

          9  finance it with that that doesn't require any

         10  current payment of principal or interest, so there

         11  may be no impact whatsoever on the City in the early

         12  years. We can do it either way.

         13                 We do not have to have a budgetary

         14  impact.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: When will we

         16  know the answer to how much it will cost the City?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, again,

         18  what we are saying is that it will cost roughly $20

         19  million a year over time, but whether in fact that

         20  will go through the budget or not is something that

         21  we'll determine over the next several months.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Please conclude.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Please be short.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'll be very
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          2  short. In terms of Queens, you mentioned the Willets

          3  Point option, I'd like for you to provide to the

          4  Committee all the studies on the Willets Point

          5  option. But I'd also like you to provide to the

          6  Committee any studies done on the Long Island City

          7  option, and table topping the yards there and what

          8  economic impact that would have.

          9                 And I would just ask you, because

         10  really, and I told you before, you give the best

         11  presentations of anyone I've ever seen, and it's

         12  quite compelling, but representing Queens, I mean I

         13  go to about one school per week, this past week I

         14  was in two. I was in PS 11 in Woodside, and I was in

         15  International High School on Long Island City. In PS

         16  11 there are children in trailers. Trailers. That's

         17  where they're educated. In International High School

         18  I saw the most shocking thing I've ever seen in any

         19  of my school visits: yesterday there were children

         20  who were using a piece of wood on top of a garbage

         21  can as their desktop. And the shocking part was,

         22  they didn't think anything was wrong with it. That's

         23  how they normally go to school. So, how do I answer

         24  them?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Because you
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          2  answer them that, that says that what we're doing is

          3  we're making an investment to earn the money to be

          4  able to afford adequate facilities.

          5                 You know, until people come and

          6  question the profit that we anticipate making here,

          7  I think people should accept the fact that what

          8  we're trying to do is generate new incremental

          9  additional tax revenues. That's what this is all

         10  about. It's what the investment in the Javits Center

         11  is all about. It's what the investment in the west

         12  side is all about. You know, in fact, if you look at

         13  the west side plan as a whole, we contemplate a

         14  public sector investment of four and a half billion

         15  dollars, but over a 30-year period of time, from

         16  2005 to 2035, above and beyond the cost of interest

         17  and principal on the debt that we're going to incur

         18  to finance that four and a half billion, we foresee

         19  additional new tax revenue that would not have

         20  existed but for those investments of roughly $67

         21  billion. That is what we've got to be doing.

         22                 We've got to be investing smartly.

         23  And we think it's great that people scrutinize the

         24  number and evaluate the assumptions that we've made,

         25  but our job collectively is to invest the City's
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          2  money wisely so that the pie is ultimately bigger

          3  than it is today. Because we know we cannot exist

          4  the way it is today. And if we simply let things go

          5  without thinking about our future, we won't have the

          6  revenue to afford good schools or adequate police

          7  protection or health care. We agree completely. We

          8  just want to invest money wisely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And I thank

         10  you. And certainly the folks who would argue to

         11  build more schools rather than build a stadium,

         12  understand that they also believe that investing in

         13  the children and their education --

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Let me just

         15  say one more time. This is not an either/or choice.

         16  This is taking money that we're going to borrow to

         17  earn more money. This is not an either/or choice. It

         18  has been horribly mischaracterized as an either/or

         19  choice. It is not.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 Council Member James.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Good afternoon,

         24  Deputy Mayor.

         25                 You know, I agree with you we should
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          2  invest wisely. That's why we should invest in more

          3  affordable housing. We need to create more

          4  opportunities and more -- (applause) -- that's not

          5  necessary. Thank you. That only just takes time away

          6  from what I have to say.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I can barely

          8  hear you, Council member. Speak into the mic.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Sure.

         10                 But you know, we've come to a point

         11  where this is a City of haves and have-nots, and a

         12  lot of people are moving out, and I want to maintain

         13  the working class in the City of New York, and so

         14  that's why I believe that we should invest in more

         15  affordable housing.

         16                 And your points on why we should not

         17  build in Queens, I find there's some merit in that.

         18  And I thank you for that, because I think it

         19  bolsters my argument that we should not build in

         20  Brooklyn an arena as well, for the same reason, but

         21  we'll talk about that at a later point.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Another time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Because your

         24  comments today, and your presentation I believe I

         25  will be using in my opposition to that arena.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I look

          3  forward to that discussion.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Let me ask you this question: The

          7  funds from Battery Park City, it's my understanding

          8  that those funds will be used to finance I guess the

          9  easterly portion of the Hudson Yards project, which

         10  is the expansion of the Jacob Javits --

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Let me

         12  correct you on that.

         13                 That's the northern expansion of

         14  Javits. None of that money, which today the City

         15  cannot access because it requires to release those

         16  funds in agreement of the State, the City and the

         17  Comptroller.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: None of those

         20  funds will be used for the New York Sports and

         21  Convention Center.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well, just

         23  based on media accounts, it's my understanding that

         24  the Speaker of the State Assembly, Speaker Sheldon

         25  Silver, is opposed, as well as I believe the New

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  York City Comptroller, Billy Thompson, is opposed,

          3  in the event that we cannot get the approval of the

          4  Comptroller and/or the Speaker of the State

          5  Assembly, how do we propose to finance the Hudson

          6  Yards Project, and will it have any impact on the

          7  financing of the stadium?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No. That has

          9  no impact whatsoever on the financing of the New

         10  York Sports and Convention Center.

         11                 To the extent that we were not able

         12  to get that funding out of Battery Park City, which

         13  as I said is currently trapped there and is not

         14  accessible to the City, if we want to expand Javits,

         15  and certainly if the City wants to fulfill its

         16  obligation to fund the $350 million which is our

         17  part of the Javits expansion, we would have to come

         18  up with another source of funds.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me ask --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your last

         21  question?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: My last

         23  question.

         24                 Will the Jets pay real property tax

         25  or payments in lieu of tax? And will that go into
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          2  the City general fund?

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: The answer is

          4  no, because the facility that they're building on,

          5  or the land that's being built on is state-owned

          6  property.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Would they pay

          8  rent?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: They will pay

         10  rent to the MTA.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And will that

         12  be market rate rent?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I believe

         14  that's what Mr. Cross indicated.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

         17  Council member.

         18                 Council Member Reed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair.

         21                 I apologize for not being able to be

         22  here for the bulk of your testimony, Dan. So, that's

         23  not the direction of my question.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: When your
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          2  congressman calls, you got to take the call, you

          3  know?

          4                 Mr. Cross, you made a presentation

          5  and are excited about the opportunity and you're

          6  going to invest $800 million, and I wrote a note to

          7  myself, who are the Jets?

          8                 I mean, where is $800 million -- this

          9  must be a private corporation, and I'm just really

         10  trying to understand. You know, we always said the

         11  Jets -- I rooted for them, Council Member Gerson

         12  says he remembers anyway, I'm too young, when they

         13  played out in Queens, and they won the Super Bowl

         14  and all that happened, but who are the Jets? And

         15  where did 800 million -- you've got that much money?

         16                 MR. CROSS: No, we don't. Just like

         17  the City and the State doesn't have 600 million

         18  sitting around either. So, we're owned by Robert

         19  Wood Johnson IV, he has two other partners in the

         20  team which are family members, so it's essentially

         21  owned by the Johnson family, and like any other

         22  business we have banking relationships and we have

         23  to go out and borrow the money. The combination of

         24  our own money, equity from corporate partners,

         25  naming rights, corporate sponsors.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Equity from

          3  corporate partners. So, three people own the Jets

          4  right now?

          5                 MR. CROSS: No, no, no, no. We have

          6  sponsors today who pay annually every year to be

          7  associated with the Jets. So, we can take those

          8  income streams, we have multi-year contracts with

          9  Toyota and General Motors and Citibank.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And then they

         11  have some ownership in --

         12                 MR. CROSS: No, no, no, no. They're

         13  just sponsorship agreements. They're advertising

         14  contracts.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The ownership of

         16  the Jets is three people from the Johnson family,

         17  and it's a corporation registered in the State of

         18  New Jersey?

         19                 MR. CROSS: No, it's registered here

         20  in New York.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It's registered

         22  here in New York, okay.

         23                 And then there are these sponsorships

         24  with other commercial entities? And, so, they would

         25  help you finance the project; is that what you're
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          2  saying?

          3                 MR. CROSS: Yes. We would basically

          4  finance $800 million in a combination of, there's a

          5  loan program from the NFL, which is roughly $150

          6  million.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The NFL is going

          8  to loan you money?

          9                 MR. CROSS: Yes.

         10                 And then we'll use our suite

         11  contracts. Those contract to rent a suite from us

         12  every year. Those who contract to lease a club seat

         13  from us every year, and those corporations that

         14  contract with us to buy signage every year. And we

         15  take those income streams to the bank and we borrow

         16  money against those income streams, just like an

         17  office developer borrows money against leases from

         18  commercial tenants.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: When we

         20  typically think of a corporation --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your last

         22  question, sir.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: -- As

         24  stockholders, there's three stockholders in the

         25  Jets?
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          2                 MR. CROSS: It's a privately-held

          3  corporation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, you're an

          5  employee of the Jets?

          6                 MR. CROSS: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          9                 Council Member Reyna.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you. Good

         11  afternoon, gentlemen.

         12                 I just wanted to find out, or at

         13  least clarify a very vicious cycle here. The Jets

         14  will be building, contributing $800 million to the

         15  portion where the Javits Jacob Center -- the Jacob

         16  Javits Center will be able to expand into.

         17  Essentially the Jets will own the expansion, but the

         18  Javits Center will rent from the Jets? And how much

         19  is that lease going to cost? Although the City and

         20  the State is going to contribute $800 million, 600

         21  initially but then 40 --

         22                 MR. CROSS: No, no. Who wants to take

         23  a crack at it?

         24                 MR. BOYLE: I'm not sure I understand

         25  the question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Well, I'm not

          3  sure I understand how this all works.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Who's paying and

          5  who owns.

          6                 MR. CROSS: It's a publicly-owned

          7  building on public land that really has two uses.

          8  It's like a townhouse with two apartments in it,

          9  okay? And one of the uses is as a convention center,

         10  and one of the uses as a sports facility. So, there

         11  are kind of in a way two partners in this project.

         12  The private sector in the form of the New York Jets

         13  and the public sector in the form of the City and

         14  the State.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I'm for all

         16  private and public partnerships, that's great.

         17                 MR. CROSS: That's exactly what it is.

         18                 So the entire project, that is to say

         19  the deck over the yards, the building on top of the

         20  deck, and the retractable roof on top of the

         21  building, is $1.4 billion.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

         23                 MR. CROSS: Of that $1.4 billion, the

         24  Jets are prepared to contribute 800 million, the

         25  City 300 million, the State 300 million and the
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          2  project will also pay a market value ground rent to

          3  the MTA each and every year.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your question

          5  answered, Ma'am?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So who is

          7  paying rent?

          8                 MR. CROSS: We as the operator of the

          9  building.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: "We" as in the

         11  Jets, is paying rent. And once you finalize the

         12  protocol as to who is going to set up the scheduling

         13  on an annual basis, let's assume the Jacob Javits

         14  Center will be doing that, will the Jacob Javits

         15  Center be paying rent to the MTA?

         16                 MR. BOYLE: We would share the income

         17  from the space that we book with the Jets.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So there's a

         19  split between the state and the Jets, as far as

         20  revenues are concerned, but not the City?

         21                 MR. BOYLE: No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your final

         23  question, Ma'am?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So the City is

         25  not receiving any revenue?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Part of the

          3  deal, this is obviously a negotiated transaction, is

          4  that we are getting our benefit out of the building

          5  in the form of new tax revenues. Just as the state

          6  is, the state as distinct from the MTA or the Javits

          7  Center.

          8                 MR. BOYLE: Neither the City nor the

          9  State receive any direct revenue out of the Javits

         10  Center as it is today.

         11                 The revenue that comes off the

         12  convention center and exhibition center comes off in

         13  the taxes that we throw off of the hotel rooms that

         14  we book in the industry that we bring to town.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And there was

         16  going to be a $20 million investment for the next

         17  five years?

         18                 MR. CROSS: Not an investment. And

         19  it's not clear it would actually ever be paid in

         20  cash.

         21                 Basically that's just the interest

         22  and principal payments over that interim period of

         23  time. So, it's not the original investment, it's

         24  just the interest.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: If I can
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          2  encourage any Council Member that wants more

          3  detailed information, that our Council staff can

          4  ensure that the authorities, the worthy people give

          5  the answers that we need, and I encourage using

          6  that.

          7                 I apologize, I must move to Council

          8  Member Gerson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 I'm going to confine my two questions

         12  to Mr. Boyle and Mr. Cross respectively, though I

         13  hope that the Deputy Mayor for whom I have the

         14  greatest respect will not take any umbrage at this

         15  temporary omission.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think I'm

         17  relieved.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Feel free to

         19  jump in.

         20                 As a member of this economic

         21  development committee, these questions are designed

         22  in the interest of making sure we have the most

         23  thorough possible analyses before us in

         24  consideration of all factors as we make the

         25  decisions we'll be called upon.
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          2                 So, Mr. Boyle, has the Javits Center

          3  institutionally, on its own or in conjunction with

          4  the City or the State, developed, explored any

          5  alternative models, both financial and

          6  architectural, if you will, wherein you would be

          7  afforded the necessary expansion to meet all the

          8  demands to which you referred in your questioning,

          9  without the -- this is hypothetical, without the

         10  presence or participation, if you will, of the Jets

         11  or an equivalent alternative?

         12                 In other words, if we were to

         13  separate out the F and the C, hypothetically, the

         14  New York State Sports and Convention Center, do we

         15  have a model which shows what kind of financial

         16  return the City would benefit? And what kind of

         17  program are we looking at to accommodate that need?

         18  Or to accommodate that scenario?

         19                 In your testimony, as I recollect,

         20  you referred to the exposition space demands, the

         21  benefits of the additional hotels, and additional

         22  meeting space, you did not refer to in your

         23  testimony, you know, sports or state or traditional

         24  stadium type uses.

         25                 So, I'm curious, if the Jets were to
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          2  decide to go away, you have an alternative model to

          3  accommodate the need to make the City one of the

          4  premier convention choices without the sports

          5  component?

          6                 MR. BOYLE: First of all, we have

          7  looked architecturally we have looked north, south,

          8  east and west, and have studied it with great

          9  intensity, as to how we can best accommodate our own

         10  business, and what the real estate allows us to do.

         11  And that was the reason for our expansion north.

         12                 When we study and look at expansion

         13  south, and what I was referring to with Speaker

         14  Miller, the cost of expansion south, there are other

         15  reasons as well, don't get me wrong, but the cost of

         16  putting a $400 million lid on the railyards for the

         17  convention center is prohibited. I would imagine it

         18  would be prohibitive for anyone in any real estate

         19  venture in this day. It happens to be unique that

         20  the Jets in fact have come to town and said we'll

         21  build there. But as I was inferring with Speaker

         22  Miller, they're not standing in line to build on

         23  that property, and for our purposes, it is far too

         24  expensive for us to put a $400 million lid on the

         25  railyard, and in addition, we would have a problem
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          2  to some degree with levels and connecting in this

          3  scenario.  With the convention corridor, we are able

          4  to grab some of that space from the Jets at a time

          5  when, in some cases, for most of the year, but

          6  particularly whenever that space is available, the

          7  Jets and we are putting the connection in

          8  underground there, and now we have the ability to

          9  utilize some of that space.

         10                 Is it contiguous space? No, it is

         11  not. Is it the prime space that we have on a main

         12  floor? No, it is not. But it is space that, as you

         13  will note from my testimony, is very important space

         14  for development and for expansion for the shows that

         15  we already have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your final

         17  question, sir?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I do want to

         19  follow up. As a kind of nuance to what you said, I

         20  kind of find it hard to believe you don't have a

         21  plan B, even to the extent of whatever reason the

         22  Jets were to go away and we got the Olympics,

         23  converting the Olympic stadium there into some

         24  exposition space, that would work financially

         25  without the Jets, sounds to me like the 400 million
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          2  lid which is the obstacle, and I think it behooves

          3  us to try and develop whatever alternative economic

          4  scenarios, or to develop the full range of economic

          5  scenarios as we approach the decision-making

          6  process.

          7                 My second question is to Mr. Cross,

          8  kind of the converse of what I asked. Council Member

          9  Reed, my colleague and friend, is correct, I did

         10  root for the Jets in your home in Shea Stadium, but

         11  I think he got the age chronology a little wrong. I

         12  remember seeing you there with rooting there,

         13  Council member. But you seem to say in your

         14  testimony, as I recollect, that kind of your

         15  approach to this presupposed an option A, which I

         16  kind of heard you indicate you received from the

         17  City. But have you, have you had any discussion as

         18  to what it would take for the City to do to create

         19  an acceptable stadium elsewhere, outside of the west

         20  side, or outside of Manhattan, whether it's Willets

         21  Point or elsewhere in the City, I understand the

         22  concerns, but I presume there is some value to a

         23  major and beloved team like the Jets having its own

         24  stadium and not sharing it with another team, and I

         25  think you indicated that.
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          2                 So, do we have any alternative

          3  analyses as to what it would take to get you to

          4  reestablish, to establish shop, if you will, in some

          5  other part of the City, not necessarily Willets

          6  Point per se? Have you been asked to give that

          7  information? Do you have that information available?

          8  And if you do, I'd love you to share it with the

          9  Committee.

         10                 MR. CROSS: No, we don't have any such

         11  information.

         12                 I mean, we've had conversations with

         13  the New York Mets, and understand what their future

         14  holds at Shea, and Flushing, and it involves a brand

         15  new baseball stadium with no room for football.

         16                 An eerie reminiscent feeling that we

         17  had back in the eighties, you know, we're not part

         18  of that game plan, and no one else has come forward

         19  to offer any other site. So, we have evaluated the

         20  sites that we think are available, and optimum, and

         21  we believe that the west side --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You just said

         23  "sites" plural; what other sites have you

         24  evaluated, or did I hear you wrong?

         25                 MR. CROSS: I have not evaluated, I
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          2  have not gone around New York looking for sites.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I just thought

          4  you said it plural.

          5                 All right, thank you Mr. Chair. I

          6  just think as we go forward we should kind of flush

          7  out, at least see if there exist feasible kind of

          8  plan B along the lines that I've questioned these

          9  gentlemen.

         10                 And I'm sure when I have more time

         11  for more questions, Deputy Mayor will have a lot to

         12  say on these issues, and I look forward to hearing

         13  his input as we go forward.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well put, sir.

         16  Well put.

         17                 Council Member Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. And

         19  I want to congratulate you on your testimony. It's

         20  always excellent. I heard the Deputy Mayor several

         21  times, it does get better every time, even though I

         22  don't agree with the premise, as you know.

         23                 The question is: I think that

         24  Christine Quinn talked, or you answered in response

         25  to her question, you talked about the Hudson Yards
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          2  Infrastructure Corporation, and I do have the

          3  February 11th press release, and I just want to know

          4  who are the prime board members, I guess, of that?

          5                 And I know the underwriters are, I

          6  guess, Goldman Sachs and Bear Stearns and JP Morgan,

          7  but I just don't know who actually is the Board of

          8  the Hudson Yard Infrastructure Corporation?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I don't even

         10  know if it's been formally formed yet, but the Board

         11  will consist of City officials.

         12                 It's a local development corporation

         13  controlled by the City.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And the

         15  other question I have is, in terms of housing, I

         16  know it was brought up earlier, it's not directly

         17  related, it sounds like it would be 2012 or

         18  something like that?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think

         20  housing could actually begin in the Hudson Yards

         21  area well before 2012.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: As part of the

         23  units that you described, the 12,000?

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes, roughly

         25  the 12,600.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Could that be

          3  a Mitchell Lama Program?

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, there

          5  is no Mitchell Lama financing today --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know. But

          7  could you make it a Mitchell Lama Program?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We're

          9  exploring a variety of ways to make a substantial

         10  percentage of those units affordable, and that will

         11  include, obviously, more traditional programs like

         12  80/20.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Those are only

         14  20-year programs.

         15                 I'm talking about permanent,

         16  lifelong, affordable, not the Mitchell Lama that we

         17  know, which is simply 20 years and then you can

         18  purchase and buy out. Something to think about.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think

         20  that's absolutely correct. And I certainly

         21  appreciated Council Member James' comments as well

         22  about the affordable housing, and we are committed

         23  to making a substantial percentage of the homes,

         24  apartments in this area, affordable. What that will

         25  be I think will have to be worked out as we move
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          2  through the process.

          3                 I think we've demonstrated not only a

          4  commitment to affordable housing with the Mayor's $3

          5  billion, 65,000 unit affordable housing plan, but

          6  also in our discussions in other areas of the City

          7  where we've undertaken rezonings.

          8                 So, we look forward to that

          9  discussion, and we look forward to any creative

         10  ideas that anybody has. We're willing to listen and

         11  committed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         13                 And you have answered this, and I'm

         14  not being facetious, but for Mr. Cross, what is this

         15  deal with tailgating?

         16                 Mr. Doctoroff has told me his answer

         17  at the West Side Chambers, I want to hear yours.

         18                 MR. CROSS: Well, I think that as

         19  other Council members have noted today, life is full

         20  of a lot of priorities and choices, and I think that

         21  while tailgating is a very important part of the

         22  social interaction of a day at football games, when

         23  you ask the average Jets' fan if in order to have

         24  his own stadium, conveniently located towards mass

         25  transit, that will be a state-of-the-art facility
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          2  known around the world, and will be known as the

          3  home field for the Jets, if you had to give up

          4  tailgating, would you do so as opposed to saying

          5  where we are where you can tailgate all day long,

          6  under the circumstances I think it's a compromise

          7  that our fans are willing to make. And the

          8  experience in Detroit suggests that that is it when

          9  the Lyons moved from the Silver Dome to Ford Field.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right,

         11  I'll let it go for now.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you,

         14  Council Member Brewer.

         15                 I want to note that we have been

         16  joined by our Republican Leader James Oddo. He has

         17  been here for quite awhile, and he will speak after

         18  the next speaker.

         19                 I do want to chime in that the issue

         20  of affordable housing is very, very important to all

         21  of the people in New York City, as represented by

         22  the Council, and I would suggest real affordable

         23  housing, taking into account the people of New York,

         24  and not that we are -- well, I'll leave it like

         25  that.
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          2                 Council Member Lopez.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In order to

          4  maintain the train of thought, I am sitting here,

          5  and I've been listening very carefully to your

          6  entire presentation and the presentations that were

          7  made before or after you, and I've been very, very,

          8  very impressed on the detail in regard of economic

          9  development, in regard of the development of the

         10  particular projects, of the jobs that are going to

         11  create, and I have to ask you why this plan doesn't

         12  include the same kind of detail, in regard of

         13  affordable housing?

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think

         15  that's a very fair point, and what we have done at

         16  this point is we have figured out how much housing

         17  we can have. We've made a commitment to having

         18  roughly 20 percent of it. We recognize existing

         19  programs may not be adequate, and just like we're

         20  doing in other rezonings around the City, whether

         21  it's in Greenpoint, Williamsburg, in Brooklyn, like

         22  we've done up in East Harlem, and in other places,

         23  we are planning to have a constructive dialogue. We

         24  haven't said what kind of office buildings we're

         25  going to build either. That's the kind of level of
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          2  detail, especially with respect to exactly how we're

          3  going to create affordable housing that we want to

          4  have a dialogue about.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I need you to

          6  understand, and each and every one of the

          7  individuals who are proposing this plan for New York

          8  City, that it's not a possibility for anybody who is

          9  elected to office to take a serious, serious

         10  consideration of this plan, if you don't spell out

         11  clearly that affordable housing is included here,

         12  and this is a problem.

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think we

         14  are going to enter the land review process later

         15  this month, and we expect to have the mammoth draft

         16  environmental impact statement completed within the

         17  next two weeks or so. At that point we'll be able to

         18  certify into ULURP. That will begin, as you know,

         19  the seven-month time clock that will culminate in a

         20  vote by the City Council on the rezoning plan that

         21  we have proposed. And we look forward to a very

         22  spirited dialogue on the issue of affordable

         23  housing, and that's very consistent with what we've

         24  done with all the other rezonings.

         25                 So, I think your point is fair, and I
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          2  think that we look forward to that dialogue, and we

          3  don't expect you at the end of the day to vote if

          4  you aren't comfortable with what we can and have

          5  provided in terms of affordability.

          6                 We know it's a major issue, we're

          7  committed to it, and we want to have that

          8  conversation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My second

         10  question is in regard of what is your understanding,

         11  what is the procedure in which the City Council

         12  participates in connection to this?

         13                 I want to understand what are the

         14  steps of your understanding about how is it that our

         15  participation is put in this process.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, with

         17  respect to the zoning proposal which is necessary to

         18  finance the Number 7 line extension, the building of

         19  the platform over the eastern railyard, and the

         20  parks and open space network that we've proposed

         21  constructing in the area, that will require a vote

         22  of the City Council. And that will be the

         23  culmination of the ULURP process that will take

         24  place in January.

         25                 So, with respect to everything that
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          2  occurs of east of 11th Avenue, ultimately the City

          3  Council will play a deciding role.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Don't give me

          5  general. You already gave me one point which is the

          6  ULURP process in regard of east of 11th Avenue,

          7  besides the ULURP process, what else?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: So that

          9  dictates everything to the east of 11th Avenue.

         10                 To the west of 11th Avenue, those

         11  projects occur on State-owned land. And when

         12  projects occur on State-owned land, or pursuant to a

         13  general project plan that is put forth by a State

         14  agency -- for example, as we are doing at Ground

         15  Zero today, the LMDC is a State agency, it does not

         16  require a City Council vote.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then the people

         18  of the City of New York can expect two things: One,

         19  that in regard of the ULURP process, this is the

         20  house to come. Two, in regard of the state plan that

         21  is in question here, they have to come to the State

         22  Legislature. Those are the two things.

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Ultimately,

         24  as consistent with a general project plan advanced

         25  by the State, again, completely consistent with
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          2  everything that the State does, with respect to the

          3  State Legislature, the State Legislature is

          4  necessary in order to authorize expansion of the

          5  borders of Javits, as well as a key component of the

          6  financing of the Javits expansion, which is the

          7  dollar-fifty per key charge that will be imposed in

          8  order to finance roughly $500 million of Javits'

          9  expansion. Those are the two key elements that the

         10  State Legislature will be asked to vote on.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, then I

         12  just want to make this comment.

         13                 I think that this is, the impact of

         14  this in the life of New York City is

         15  multi-dimensional, in terms of jobs, economic

         16  development, possible displacement, possible

         17  inclusion of affordable housing, et cetera, et

         18  cetera, saying that, I think that this process, with

         19  the amount of notification and hearings that have

         20  been put in place is insufficient and inadequate,

         21  for the purpose of the people of the City of New

         22  York to understand why we are engaging on, and I

         23  think that we need to look into that somehow.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I take your

         25  point.
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          2                 I will point out that the development

          3  of these plans has been in the works for two years,

          4  and I certainly recognize that not everyone agrees

          5  with the point to which we've come, but has

          6  reflected a many, many, many community meetings,

          7  smaller group meetings, outreach, and the plan has

          8  in fact evolved fairly dramatically in response to

          9  those concerns that have been raised. Obviously

         10  we're not going to resolve everybody's concerns, and

         11  we are going to continue to do that.

         12                 So, I take your point, the fact that

         13  you feel that there hasn't been enough public debate

         14  or outreach. The fact that you make the point means

         15  it's legitimate to us, and we're going to continue

         16  to reach out extensively. We obviously will not

         17  satisfy everybody, but we're going to try as best we

         18  possibly can.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: You're

         21  welcome.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me, Mr.

         23  Chair. I just need to apologize to my colleagues,

         24  Council Member Oddo, and my other colleagues and

         25  subsequent witnesses, I need to address an urgent

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  family situation, but I will endeavor to return as

          3  quickly as possible. And I'll certainly follow the

          4  subsequent dialogue very closely. Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          7                 On the last question that was raised

          8  as a point of information, the Economic Development

          9  Committee has enjoyed a very good relationship with

         10  the Deputy Mayor and, of course, the EDC, and all of

         11  the City agencies. If there were a need to return to

         12  this issue of the west side, I am sure that they

         13  would respond, if there were a real and pressing

         14  need.

         15                 Having said that, Council Member

         16  Oddo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 Council Member Gioia uttered that

         20  infamous name of "A.J. Dewey," but I want the record

         21  to reflect that A.J. Dewey was not the true villain

         22  that day, nor was it the wretched Richard Todd the

         23  villain that day. The villain that day was Coach Don

         24  Trulla of the Miami Dolphins who didn't put a tarp

         25  on the field on that rainy Sunday afternoon,
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          2  essentially taking away the Jets' running game and

          3  the great McNeil and putting the ball back in the

          4  hands of that aforementioned wretched Richard Todd.

          5                 Council Member Phil Reed --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: The record is

          7  corrected, sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you. Did I

          9  say "wretched" enough?

         10                 Council Member Phil Reed asked who

         11  were the Jets. The simple answer is the Jets are a

         12  franchise that has broken my heart for the last two

         13  and a half decades.

         14                 Yet, I still believe Jet Green, Mr.

         15  Cross, and --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I'm not sure

         17  this is out of order, sir.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No, it's not out

         19  of order.

         20                 Normally when you apply the real

         21  estate phrase "location location location" to sports

         22  it has to do with baseball, but clearly that's the

         23  essence of this conversation today.

         24                 I understand the point made by the

         25  Jets here and previously that the bottom line is
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          2  they make more money on the west side than in Queens

          3  and they make more money on the west side because of

          4  the luxury box situation.

          5                 Could you just explain to me why it

          6  is that you won't be able to sell as many? It's a

          7  difference of, as the crow flies, maybe 10 miles, 12

          8  miles; what is it about those ten miles that creates

          9  such a disparity in the bottom line?

         10                 And isn't it the product you're

         11  selling? Isn't it the Jet product of the Jet product

         12  is good, it's going to sell luxury boxes whether

         13  it's in Willets Point or in the west side?

         14                 MR. CROSS: Well, I've heard a number

         15  of you today reference happy memories of Shea

         16  Stadium, and I guess I pose the question, how many

         17  of you regularly go to the Meadowlands? It's only

         18  five miles away.

         19                 How is it that the New Jersey Nets

         20  can't sell out a playoff game, and the New York

         21  Knicks sell out night after night after night?

         22  Location matters. And, so, winning matters, of

         23  course, absolutely, but the two add together,

         24  they're not sort of mutually independent of one

         25  another. And you can't trump a bad location with a
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          2  winning team. New Jersey Nets have proven that

          3  point.

          4                 The LA Clippers, on the other hand,

          5  enjoy enormous success because they play precisely

          6  in the same building that the LA Lakers play. In

          7  other words, location is important for them too.

          8                 So, from our point of view, it's not

          9  a question of whether we make more money, it's, we

         10  believe, the City and State are asking us to make an

         11  enormous investment. Our challenge is to mitigate

         12  risk. Our challenge is to make sure that we're not

         13  going to bankrupt this team committing to $800

         14  million of investment.

         15                 And, so, when we look at, for

         16  instance, let's say the luxury suite market,

         17  geography is very important. We have 120 suites in

         18  the Meadowlands, over half of which are sold to New

         19  Jersey businesses. Really none of which are sold to

         20  Long Island businesses, and a few which are sold to

         21  New York businesses.

         22                 If we move to the other side of the

         23  epicenter, we're just going to flip that equation.

         24  But if we stay in the epicenter and the plans, the

         25  current plans for this building, are 240 suites, we
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          2  can double the suite capacity because now we'll have

          3  120 largely from New Jersey and we'll have 120

          4  largely from New York, it will be equally convenient

          5  because everybody only has to cross one river. When

          6  we were at Shea and when we were at the Meadowlands,

          7  we were asking people, patrons, to cross two rivers,

          8  one half crossed two rivers, one-half crossed no

          9  rivers. Location is very, very important.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is it really the

         11  other side of the epicenter? I mean, it really is

         12  that significant?

         13                 MR. CROSS: Well, I put it back to

         14  you, sir. Explain Madison Square Garden, the Knicks

         15  and the Rangers, versus the Islanders, the Nets and

         16  the Devils.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I think it's

         18  different. I think New Yorkers haven't adopted to

         19  the New Jersey Nets, because the New Jersey Nets are

         20  sort of the stepchild, it was a weak franchise for a

         21  long time, it was an ABA franchise, and when you

         22  compare it to the tradition of the Knicks, I mean I

         23  don't know if that's the right analogy when you

         24  compare the history of the Jets and the roots that

         25  the Jets have taken in New York to a New Jersey team
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          2  that, frankly, it's tough to like.

          3                 So, I don't know if that analogy is

          4  the best. And I respect what you're saying. Listen,

          5  I want to bring you home. As a fan, I want to bring

          6  you home. I just want to bring you home to the right

          7  spot. And it strikes me and I defer to your

          8  expertise, but it strikes me as a tough sell that it

          9  makes the difference in making this a viable

         10  project.

         11                 But I think if you're going to sell

         12  this to folks, and that's the bottom line, I think

         13  we need to really explore that and have more detail

         14  about why it is that you can't sell luxury boxes.

         15                 MR. CROSS: I'll be happy to have that

         16  discussion with you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

         18                 MR. CROSS: I didn't say that we

         19  can't. I said we couldn't sell as many.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You couldn't

         21  sell enough to make it a viable --

         22                 MR. CROSS: To support an $800 million

         23  investment.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: To make your

         25  investment.
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          2                 MR. CROSS: Absolutely. We could build

          3  a building there, but the building would still cost

          4  $800 million, but the revenue model would not be the

          5  same.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The second

          7  question was just going to be a tongue and cheek. Do

          8  you still have Mike Lupika and Mike Francessa on

          9  your --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your final

         11  question, sir.

         12                 MR. CROSS: My biggest fans.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Then I missed my

         14  line completely. I usually do. Please excuse me, my

         15  Republican leader.

         16                 Council Member Quinn on the last

         17  question for this panel.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Chair.

         20                 This question is going to sound a

         21  little cheeky, and I don't mean it to be: the Hudson

         22  Yards LDC, that might not be the right name, but the

         23  Board is going to be City officials by the Mayor or

         24  his designee, correct?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But what I was

          3  asking earlier about who would get stuck holding the

          4  bag, so-to-speak, it wouldn't be the City because it

          5  was the Hudson Yards LDC, but I don't really

          6  understand, obviously, how that's not the City, and

          7  how if there were some things not to work out

          8  financially, how that wouldn't end up rolling back

          9  onto the City. I don't understand how this LDC is

         10  distinctly not the City when its board is made up of

         11  City officials such as the Mayor or his designee?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: In some ways

         13  it's a matter of disclosure. When you sell the

         14  bonds, and it says very clearly that the bond

         15  holders only have recourse to a specified series of

         16  streams of revenues, contractually they agree not to

         17  be bound, not to have the City bound.

         18                 So, it's a legal distinction that's

         19  made that people accept when they purchase the

         20  bonds.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The investors

         22  assume they might lose their money?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's why we

         24  pay them more interest.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And that's
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          2  where the extra cost comes from that you and I spoke

          3  of?

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes, it's

          5  that 25 or 50 basis points as I described, that the

          6  interest rate going from five to five and a quarter,

          7  five and a half. And essentially what we're doing is

          8  we're saying we're prepared to pay an extra amount

          9  in order for the City not to be on that hook.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council Member.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I would assume

         12  these bonds are tougher to sell, given that reality

         13  of the bonds?

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, they're

         15  not necessarily tougher to sell. That's why you're

         16  offering a higher interest rate, because we believe

         17  that we can convince investors to take more risk in

         18  return for more rate. So, that doesn't make them

         19  easier or harder to sell, as long as the interest

         20  rate is high enough to appeal to them.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And if they

         22  don't take the risk, then we have to fall to some

         23  other plan?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Council Member,

         25  this is your last --
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, no, no.

          3  When you're talking about taking the risk, once they

          4  buy the bonds, they took the risk.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That's what I

          6  mean. I mean not purchase the bonds because the risk

          7  is too great, then what happens?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well, then

          9  the project won't go forward.

         10                 If we don't sell the debt, the

         11  project won't go forward. But that's not the risk

         12  we're taking in terms of going in the future, that's

         13  today.

         14                 But we've done enough work to believe

         15  that we will be able to sell those bonds.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

         17  much for those questions.

         18                 I want to thank this panel very much

         19  for your ability to survive this long as a panel.

         20  Without water. My my. There's some City secret up

         21  there no doubt.

         22                 Thank you very much for this panel.

         23  I'm sure that this is not the last we will hear of

         24  this issue, but I want to thank you.

         25                 Here is how we are going to proceed
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          2  now, my friends. We are about to call a different

          3  panel, and finally get you into the mix more. We're

          4  going to sadly cut down on the speaking time for

          5  each panelist. My friends, I'm sure that you

          6  understand that a disciplined mind can do it in a

          7  short period of time. As a matter of fact, Mark

          8  Twain once said, "I could not write you a short

          9  letter so I had to write you a long one," showing

         10  that it's harder to do something with fewer words.

         11  It shows a more disciplined mind. It shows a more

         12  brilliant mind. We are going to have brilliant minds

         13  to take the seats of these brilliant minds at the

         14  next panel. And we're going to call this next panel.

         15  I'm going to have Ms. Reid call this next panel and

         16  in 90 seconds we will begin. That panel will be

         17  seated.

         18                 MS. REID: The next panel consists of

         19  Anna Levin, from the Hell's kitchen and Hudson Yard

         20  Alliance, and Alliance for Better Choices.

         21                 Peter Sajovec, Senior Vice President

         22  of Hospitality Evaluation Services.

         23                 Allen Sanderson, Professor of

         24  Economics, from the University of Chicago.

         25                 And Gerald Schoenfeld, the Chairman
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          2  of the League of American Theaters and Producers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Congressman

          4  Weiner has flown in from D.C., that strange and

          5  difficult city and we have a presentation from him.

          6                 Sir, would you be kind enough to

          7  begin. You need to speak into a mic, however, and if

          8  you can identify yourself for the record.

          9                 Thank you very much, sir. And thank

         10  you to this panel for being kind.

         11                 CONGRESSMAN WEINER: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman. I will be brief, and I appreciate the

         13  indulgence of this panel for letting me slip in

         14  here. This is for me an always happy homecoming,

         15  even though I don't think I had testified when I was

         16  in the City Council.

         17                 I just want to state what my position

         18  is, and I think I speak for a lot of people in the

         19  City of New York who don't buy this rather

         20  simplistic argument, if you're not for the stadium

         21  on the west side of Manhattan, you're not for the

         22  Jets coming back to New York and you're not for the

         23  Olympics and you're not for development.

         24                 There is another position, and it's

         25  the position that I hold, which is, we should expand
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          2  the Javits Center, appreciably, we should extend the

          3  7 Line to get people to the west side, and we should

          4  build the Jets Stadium at their home, in Queens.

          5                 By doing that you create a scenario

          6  which is less expensive, which intuitively makes

          7  more sense. You don't have the transportation

          8  infrastructure problems obviously out by Willets

          9  Point that you would have on the west side of

         10  Manhattan; and I think most importantly, from the

         11  perspective of the Administration of advocates for

         12  more jobs in the City and for advocates of the

         13  Olympics, you would do it more quickly.

         14                 The Administration has pursued this

         15  west side strategy, as expensive as it is, for one

         16  reason: they perceive that the way they've

         17  constructed it, it will be possible to bypass public

         18  review. By relying upon the Battery Park Authority,

         19  the Port Authority, the Transit Authority, and

         20  authorities left and right, they bypass this body,

         21  they bypass community boards, they bypass any kind

         22  of a transparent debate on this thing.

         23                 But at the end of the day, at the end

         24  of the day the controversy that has been created,

         25  and the opposition that gets created by doing it
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          2  that way will ultimately slow this thing down much

          3  more than if you pursue a site in Queens, which I

          4  believe, even in this City, you can really get

          5  genuine consensus around.

          6                 You know, I am not here saying not in

          7  my back yard. I'm here saying that New York is

          8  everyone's back yard, and that Willets Point in

          9  Queens is virtually my back yard and I believe it's

         10  a much better place.

         11                 And I also want to stress one other

         12  thing, if you'll indulge me. This notion that you

         13  can't make money, you can't have convention, you

         14  can't have successful sports teams anywhere but the

         15  west side of Manhattan is an insult to the people of

         16  the City of New York. It is evocative of the exact

         17  same argument, the exact same argument that Mayor

         18  Giuliani made about how the Yankees can never

         19  survive in the Bronx.

         20                 Well, 3 million fans later, every

         21  year of people packing into that glorious stadium,

         22  that's proven not to be the case.

         23                 We cannot be, and you know this

         24  better than anyone else, in chairing this Committee,

         25  we cannot be myopic about development in this City.
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          2  We have to recognize that jobs created in Queens

          3  also put food on people's tables, also help spur

          4  economies, also help spur activity. There is a

          5  reason why we have been hemorrhaging jobs in every

          6  county except Manhattan. We have an economic

          7  strategy with the straw that stirs the drink being

          8  this Olympic vision on the west Side that is

          9  entirely Manhattancentric. And I think this is an

         10  opportunity for us to break out of it. I think if

         11  you build this stadium, make it a glorious stadium,

         12  bring the Jets home where they belong, in Queens,

         13  bring the Jets home where they belong, in Queens.

         14                 And let me just say one other thing,

         15  because I've heard it said again and again: oh, but

         16  the Jets don't want to go to Queens. Well, I've got

         17  to tell you something, if the City was making me

         18  this offer, I would go to Paluka in order to take

         19  advantage of it.

         20                 You don't have to go back in history

         21  30 years to see the attractiveness of the Queens

         22  site. In the Giuliani Administration, the Jets in

         23  the Giuliani Administration were then planning on

         24  putting together a package to help attract the Jets

         25  back to Queens. And if I could, this notion, and

                                                            171

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  although I didn't hear it, clearly it didn't come

          3  from a sports fan, the notion that people are going

          4  to engage in one of the -- I think almost, I don't

          5  know if it's in the Constitution that you have a

          6  right to tailgate before a football game, but it's

          7  pretty darn close. The idea that that is going on in

          8  Westchester and then people are going to get on a

          9  train or in New Jersey and then people are going to

         10  get on a bus - no. People are going to tailgate.

         11  They're going to tailgate in the parking lot of the

         12  stadium at Willets Point, and they're going to do it

         13  in time for the Olympics, they're going to do it

         14  cheaper, they're going to do it by creating hundreds

         15  and hundreds and hundreds of jobs in this City, and

         16  it's going to go that way, because overwhelmingly

         17  the City of New York, its taxpayers, its residents

         18  know, that we should build that stadium and do it in

         19  Queens where the Jets belong.

         20                 And I thank you very much for your

         21  indulgence.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         23                 As usual, your points are well made

         24  and of course well presented. We really appreciate

         25  your making an extraordinary effort to get back to
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          2  New York City in time to make this presentation.

          3                 If there are no questions for you --

          4  I see a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

          6  note that the tie color was also well chosen.

          7                 CONGRESSMAN WEINER: It isn't quite

          8  Jets green, but it's as close as I have.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: It only shows

         11  that he is not against the Jets, that's the color.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         14                 And now we have the committee that we

         15  spoke of earlier who are going to endeavor to show

         16  their brilliance.

         17                 Okay, would you be kind enough to say

         18  how you are going to proceed?

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: We're going to

         20  hear from Anna Levin of the Hell's Kitchen and

         21  Hudson Yards Alliance, and the Alliance for Better

         22  Choices, along with Joe Restuccia.

         23                 And Joe Restuccia, you're going to

         24  have to give your affiliation, I'm sorry.

         25                 MR. RESTUCCIA: Hell's Kitchen Hudson
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          2  Yards Alliance.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Just say the

          4  whole thing into the record. If every panelist

          5  speaks into the microphone and identifies yourself,

          6  I won't count that against your two minutes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, I

          8  just want to say, we're having a little

          9  technological difficulties, but I want to thank and

         10  note it, because I think it's quite collegial, the

         11  Deputy Mayor's Office is actually letting us use

         12  their computer and helping us with the technological

         13  difficulties, which is very nice. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: If it goes out,

         15  then we know what happened. But I'm sure it will

         16  work well. Thank you very much, to the Deputy

         17  Mayor's Office.

         18                 MR. RESTUCCIA: I am Joe Restuccia of

         19  the Hell's Kitchen Hudson Yards Alliance, and we

         20  will be making a presentation, the case against the

         21  West Side Stadium.

         22                 MS. LEVIN: And my name is Anna Levin.

         23  I'm a 20-year resident of Community District 4, and

         24  the co-chair of Community Board 4's Land Use

         25  Committee for the Hudson Yards area. And with Joe
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          2  I'm speaking today as a member of the Hell's Kitchen

          3  Hudson Yards Alliance, and the New York Association

          4  for better choices.

          5                 We're grateful for the opportunity

          6  this Committee has afforded us to make the case

          7  against the proposed stadium. We're glad to get to

          8  the David portion of this David and Goliath show.

          9                 There are many important issues that

         10  must be independently and publicly considered before

         11  this project moves forward and today's hearing is an

         12  excellent start to the process. So, thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MR. RESTUCCIA: We want to describe

         15  what the Alliance is first. It is a coalition, an

         16  alliance of elected officials, community

         17  organizations, civic organizations, block

         18  associations, and hundreds and hundreds of

         19  individuals who live on the west side. It has not

         20  been an easy thing to put together the fractious

         21  west side to speak with one voice. We don't do that

         22  frequently, and the fact that we're doing it at all

         23  speaks to our persistence here.

         24                 We have been in existence for at

         25  least about two years, and by keeping people under
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          2  one tent, this is our mission to put it in brief. We

          3  believe the west side is ready for sensible

          4  development. The convention center needs expansion.

          5  Transit and regional transportation improvements are

          6  desperately needed, but new development should

          7  include the creation of affordable housing and the

          8  preservation of our existing neighborhood. There

          9  must be a balance here.

         10                 We are realistic people. We are not

         11  against change, and we are against one thing I must

         12  say, though, we are against being duped. And we

         13  really believe that the proposed stadium is a lot of

         14  smoke and mirrors, and we want to talk about that

         15  today.

         16                 After working together for quite a

         17  long time, we have joined with a new organization

         18  called the New York Association for better choices.

         19                 This comprises our group, community

         20  groups, Madison Square Garden, the International

         21  Alliance of Stage Employees, and various folks

         22  involved in the theater district. We really believe

         23  that this organization is bringing some steam to our

         24  issue and our concern on the west side, because in

         25  fact, it is not just a west side issue, it is a
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          2  Citywide issue.

          3                 This is the diversion of public

          4  funds, and we want to bring that to the Committee's

          5  attention and really put forth that case.

          6                 One of the first things we want to

          7  talk about is the constant, constant comment that

          8  nobody lives there. As recently as Sunday, May 30th,

          9  the Deputy Mayor stated "nobody lives there anyway."

         10  Well, we beg to differ, and we beg to differ because

         11  all kinds of people live there. We are from all

         12  different backgrounds. We are diverse, we are white,

         13  African-American, Hispanic, young, old, family,

         14  single, long-term people, 30, 40, 50 year residents.

         15  We are new-comers and people who have just moved

         16  into the neighborhood. In fact, in the City's own

         17  study area, 21,300 people live. Of course, nobody

         18  lives in the rail yards, that's obvious. We live

         19  around it. We live to the north, the south and the

         20  east. Over 100,000 people live in the communities of

         21  Chelsea and Clinton, and what do we do? We shop on

         22  Ninth Avenue. We work in the theaters. We take

         23  tickets. We move sets. We act. We work in offices

         24  behind computers. We clean those offices at night.

         25  We built those offices. We are a working class
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          2  community, and we live there. We rent. Very few of

          3  us own. And we are an area that is in desperate need

          4  of affordable housing, because we are adjacent to

          5  midtown, and we are known to be an area historically

          6  who works out a deal and thinks of a way to survive

          7  while we have Midtown upon us.

          8                 We asked you to look at that in this

          9  larger proposal.

         10                 First, the City is diverting 600

         11  million of public money from other

         12  desperately-needed services. That's State and City.

         13                 Second, we really believe this deal

         14  robs the MTA of its assets. We question why are we

         15  putting all of our economic eggs in one basket. We

         16  are putting our future onto the Jets, and no matter

         17  how we describe the stadium, no matter how many

         18  theaters or shopping malls or parks we put around

         19  it, it still has gold posts, and it's still a

         20  stadium.

         21                 Usually economically, we also believe

         22  that it will bring permanent traffic nightmares. We

         23  sit on top of a regional transportation mode.

         24  Lincoln Tunnel, Penn Station, the Port Authority Bus

         25  Terminal, that is a connector for the entire region.
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          2                 Why would we want to put a major

          3  traffic generator on top of this without really

          4  figuring out what we are going to do?

          5                 No one needs to look but just on a

          6  weekend or rush hour to see just how bad the car

          7  traffic is, let alone the buses pouring out of the

          8  Port Authority Bus Terminal. It is common sense.

          9                 We also believe that this puts our

         10  New York City Olympic bid at risk. Many of us

         11  believe the Olympics will be good for New York, but

         12  this stadium proposal will be tied up in litigation

         13  for quite a long time. It's not going to just sail

         14  through. This Administration does not have that

         15  experience, as though of us who have been around

         16  have. We sat through Times Square and watched

         17  something approved in '84, it didn't get constructed

         18  until '94. That's a lessoned we've learned on the

         19  west side.

         20                 When we all work together and figure

         21  it out, we avoid the litigation and something

         22  happens. We will never get the Olympics if we're

         23  stuck in litigation.

         24                 This also shortchanges the Javits

         25  Center. We really believe that the space is second
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          2  class at best. When our community board met with the

          3  Javits Board, they were not interested in the

          4  Center. If you go to the Javits website today, they

          5  look at the stadium, it's barely noted. Why is it

          6  barely noted? Because it's not the space they want.

          7  They really want space that is contiguous, that they

          8  can operate and they can run. And the members of

          9  this Committee who today ask those questions are

         10  really getting to the heart of the issue. There's a

         11  competition here. Convention centers should lose

         12  money because they bring business to the City.

         13  That's the issue. They shouldn't be booking events

         14  and competing, and there will be the Stones' concert

         15  competing against some event that comes in, and

         16  we're not even going to know about it, but we're

         17  going to lose that income as a City.

         18                 In the last days New Yorkers really

         19  know better. Sixty percent of New Yorkers oppose

         20  using tax dollars for a west side stadium. We really

         21  believe that people of New York have common sense.

         22  They're smart and they can realize when they're

         23  being sold a bill of goods.

         24                 We want you to think about that and

         25  consider that truthfully. The guy on the street is
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          2  pretty clear, tax dollars shouldn't be spent here.

          3                 MS. LEVIN: We really know

          4  astonishingly little about the deal between the

          5  Jets, the City and the State. What we do know is

          6  that at least $300 million of the project's cost

          7  will come from the City and another 300 million from

          8  the State.

          9                 But we're concerned that the $600

         10  million is just the beginning of the public

         11  subsidies for the stadium. For example, we have

         12  recently learned that the stadium funding will not

         13  pay for the landscaping and construction of

         14  amenities around the stadium. Those are getting paid

         15  for by funds from the Javits Center financing. And

         16  the open space and park to the east and south will

         17  be built using funds from the Hudson Yards'

         18  infrastructure corporation.

         19                 Significant elements of the Hudson

         20  Yards' rezoning plan exists primary to serve the

         21  stadium and their cost might not be incurred were it

         22  not for the stadium.

         23                 The parking garage under Hudson

         24  Boulevard, the plaza over the east rail yard and

         25  maybe even Hudson Boulevard itself.
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          2                 What about cost overruns? We're

          3  assured that the Jets will be responsible for cost

          4  overruns, but what happens when the budget is blown

          5  by escalating costs, the Jets' well runs dry and we

          6  have a half-built stadium looming over the

          7  waterfront?

          8                 Finally, once we give $600 million to

          9  the Jets, who will we deny similar subsidies to

         10  teams who stayed in the City instead of leaving?

         11                 Honestly, there are so many better

         12  things we could do with $600 million in public

         13  funding than to give it to the Jets. Schools,

         14  affordable housing, fire stations, health care,

         15  senior services all would be better investments in

         16  the strong New York, and it's a strong New York that

         17  will be the best magnet for economic development.

         18                 Numerous independent studies make a

         19  convincing case that stadiums do not generate

         20  genuine economic development, and especially not the

         21  kind of economic development that must take place if

         22  the vision of the Hudson Yards' plan for commercial

         23  and residential development is to occur.

         24                 They create low-paying and often

         25  seasonal service sector jobs --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Ma'am, if you

          3  can --

          4                 MS. LEVIN: Keep it moving? Okay.

          5                 So, let's move on to the next slide.

          6  What's the deal with the MTA?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Ma'am, I've got

          8  to give you guys around a minute to summarize.

          9                 I've got to give you a minute to

         10  summarize, please.

         11                 MS. LEVIN: Unfortunately, we were not

         12  given an equal opportunity. We've been waiting three

         13  hours to make a case we've been working on for two

         14  years.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         16  You're 100 percent right, but I still have to give

         17  you a minute to summarize.

         18                 MS. LEVIN: Okay, we've heard plenty

         19  about the MTA from previous speakers, so let's move

         20  on.

         21                 Let's talk about traffic. This is a

         22  big myth here. As you know, the Mayor says there is

         23  no traffic in our neighborhood, but let's show you

         24  what we live with on a daily basis.

         25                 These are pictures taken on normal
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          2  weekday afternoons. Many of you will have

          3  experienced our crushing traffic problems, as you

          4  struggle your way into and out of the Lincoln

          5  Tunnel.

          6                 The Jets claim that 70 percent of

          7  their fans use mass transit. But let's test that

          8  forecast against the actual experience of some other

          9  venues. Four percent of Jets' fans currently use

         10  mass transit. The highest mass transit figure for an

         11  NFL stadium is 24 percent in Baltimore, and

         12  currently 40 percent of Madison Square Garden

         13  patrons, on top of regional transit center, use mass

         14  transit.

         15                 So, even if you take the highest of

         16  those numbers, 40 percent, that means 15,000 cars

         17  will be added to our streets on game days, and

         18  15,000 can require approximately 70 acres or 90 City

         19  blocks of parking.

         20                 Here is what we're up against. Here

         21  is the west side stadium site, and here is the

         22  current Meadowlands parking lot, with a capacity of

         23  20,000 cars. We have to pry almost all of those

         24  people out of their cars to avoid permanent gridlock

         25  on the west side. We believe that the stadium plan
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          2  puts the Olympics' bid at serious risk. You've heard

          3  enough about that previously, I won't go into detail

          4  there. And we also believe that it short changes the

          5  Javits Center, for reasons I believe have also been

          6  elicited by prior testimony.

          7                 I'll let Joe wrap it up.

          8                 MR. RESTUCCIA: We have elected

          9  officials who have joined this effort to oppose the

         10  stadium. A great deal of elected officials from

         11  different parts of the City, the State, Public

         12  Advocate, former Bronx Borough President.

         13                 We have another group that's joined

         14  us in their words, and those are fiscal analysts,

         15  people who have no political reason to say anything

         16  but to say it just doesn't make any financial sense,

         17  and those range from the Federal Reserve Bank of New

         18  York, the Independent Budget Office of the City of

         19  New York.

         20                 But it's the sports world that I find

         21  most interesting. These folks have absolutely no

         22  vested interest whatsoever, and they just think it's

         23  a stupid idea. You've seen them, but it's New

         24  Yorkers again, and New Yorkers, 60 percent say no

         25  tax dollars to build the stadium, and 53 percent say
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          2  it's probably not going to work, this financing

          3  plan. This is our neighborhood, we've said no west

          4  side stadium. We do want to say that we appreciate

          5  all the time you've given to everyone today, and we

          6  would hope the next time we appear, we will be given

          7  the same amount of time. We believe that we deserve

          8  it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: As a point of

         10  information, and even as we speak, we're trying to

         11  get another day to bring everyone back. I had warned

         12  in the very beginning that this was not enough time

         13  for this issue. I had said that we needed at least

         14  nine hours. I was not heeded. Therefore, I have the

         15  pleasure of being the bad guy, even as I'm trying to

         16  work on getting another day where we can have this

         17  conversation, as we must have, with the citizens of

         18  New York.

         19                 Chris Quinn.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         21  say, the west siders I'd like to say that I slammed

         22  my fist and demanded a second hearing, but actually

         23  the Chair's staff came up to me about ten minutes

         24  ago and said here are two dates, check them. So, it

         25  really was of his own concern. So, I want to thank
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          2  you for that, Mr. Chair.

          3                 MR. RESTUCCIA: Thank you for noting,

          4  it's important to all of us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: It is important.

          6  It's important to democracy as a whole, and I do not

          7  appreciate having to cut down on your time, but do

          8  it I must.

          9                 But we will have it on another day.

         10  I'm trying to do it before this month is up. We're

         11  looking at the 14th, or I believe the 21st, but

         12  we're struggling because we have to give adequate

         13  notice and things of this nature, even as we speak.

         14                 But enough of that. Sir, I don't want

         15  to take away your time.

         16                 Sir, I stand corrected. If you can

         17  identify yourself, please.

         18                 MR. SANDERSON: My name is Allen

         19  Sanderson. I'm Associate Chair of the Department of

         20  Economics at the University of Chicago. My comments

         21  today are based on my years of research and teaching

         22  the business of sports.

         23                 I'm also testifying on behalf of two

         24  of my colleagues, Robert Body at Lake Forest

         25  College, and Edwin Mills, at Northwestern
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          2  University.

          3                 The three of us had been asked by the

          4  New York Association of Better Choices to examine

          5  and evaluate several documents related to the Hudson

          6  Yards New York Jets Stadium Project, including a

          7  report prepared by Ernst and Young, that provides an

          8  estimate of the economic and fiscal impact of that

          9  particular project.

         10                 We've only received that ten days

         11  ago, and have done a preliminary look at it, and my

         12  comments are preliminary in that regard. We're

         13  preparing a fuller analysis of that project to be

         14  delivered later this year.

         15                 Many academic economists, including

         16  myself, my two colleagues, have done substantial

         17  scholarly research for more than a decade in what is

         18  generally termed the economics of sports and the

         19  economics of sports facilities.

         20                 That work has appeared in many

         21  professional journals in this country and

         22  internationally and been presented at professional

         23  conferences.

         24                 We have developed models and we've

         25  tested them empirically. We have come to the same
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          2  consistent conclusion, there is little, if any,

          3  discernible economic impact on a metropolitan area

          4  from building a new stadium ball park or arena for

          5  professional sports franchise, or for that matter

          6  from serving as locale for a mega event like a Super

          7  Bowl or even the Olympic games.

          8                 Projects and commitments of this

          9  nature, including the proposal to construct a new

         10  football stadium for the Jets, represent largely

         11  public subsidies to a private firm or a set of

         12  private entities.

         13                 And I should say, too, that all three

         14  of us are sports fans, big sports fans. Rob Body

         15  served, played basketball of Wisconsin, and has been

         16  the head basketball coach at Lake Forest, so we're

         17  not anti-sports by any means.

         18                 The primary and nearly universal

         19  reasons for these urban projects fail to stimulate

         20  economic growth, serve as catalysts for economic

         21  development, create jobs or generate public

         22  revenues, are really a small set of the following:

         23  that monies allocated to these sports facilities by

         24  and large come from public coffers that would

         25  otherwise have been used for education and parks and
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          2  recreation, police and fire protection, rodent,

          3  sewer maintenance and housing.

          4                 There are few new dollars injected

          5  into a spending stream, they're just reallocated,

          6  and they invariably come at the expense of other

          7  public projects in a world of finite resources and

          8  balanced budget. Our preliminary look is this will

          9  be the same as the Jets' case too.

         10                 Other major transit and rebuilding

         11  projects scheduled for downtown in this City would

         12  have to be postponed or eliminated.

         13                 Leisure time and entertainment are

         14  also fungible for individuals and families. Money

         15  spent on one area, such as ball games, is money and

         16  time not spent on the theater, movies, restaurants

         17  and shopping centers, specialty shops and other

         18  recreational and cultural amenities.

         19                 Thus, there is simply a substitution

         20  by and large of spending on one alternative for

         21  another.

         22                 Football stadiums are used so few

         23  hours of the year. In fact, I think it's the

         24  smallest use of a building that we know in history

         25  probably. They are used such a small fraction of the
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          2  time compared to a baseball park or combination

          3  hockey and basketball arena or shopping center.

          4  Thus, they really do not stimulate much spending in

          5  and of themselves, and by being closed most of the

          6  time, and occupying so much space, they can actually

          7  act as a physical deterrent to economic development

          8  in the immediate area, and the Jets stadium will not

          9  be an exception to this rule.

         10                 The Ernst and Young report lists a

         11  set of complimentary activities, mega events,

         12  plenary sessions that purport to ensure high

         13  occupancy and revenue streams for this combination

         14  facility; however, in virtually every instance,

         15  these overly optimistic estimates bear little

         16  relationship to reality. And let me give you two

         17  examples. The report assumes that the Jets stadium

         18  would serve as the host site for the NFL Super Bowl

         19  game every five years. We heard earlier today now

         20  they're backing off, it's five to seven years.

         21  That's just not going to happen. Ten years is even

         22  optimistic.

         23                 Only three times in the last 42

         24  years, including through 2008, the last ball game,

         25  assigned Super Bowl game, only three times out of 42
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          2  has the Super Bowl been held in Coldwater City

          3  (phonetic), it just doesn't fit the NFL's definition

          4  of a party for those four days.

          5                 Even factoring in these special

          6  events, again, I think once out of every ten years

          7  is optimistic.

          8                 Furthermore, research that we have

          9  done suggests that the economic impact to a locale

         10  from the Super Bowl is probably $30 million, not 300

         11  million. So, there's a difference between having 300

         12  million every five years, and having 30 million

         13  every ten or 15.

         14                 In addition, the report assumes that

         15  you would have NBA and NHL All Star games, only five

         16  of the last 80 have been in New York City, so the

         17  frequency is not going to be large regardless, it

         18  will be passed around the league.

         19                 In addition, there will never be an

         20  NBA or NHL All Star game held in an arena that is

         21  not the home ice or the home court of one of those

         22  professional franchises. So, it will never be one of

         23  those games held in the Jets stadium.

         24                 Experience and evidence of the last

         25  20 years in the world of sports, as well as
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          2  convention centers, indicates that facilities that

          3  are designed and dedicated to one single purpose are

          4  preferable ones that are shared or made to fit two

          5  or more purposes.

          6                 Structures that have doubled as

          7  football stadiums and baseball parks, for example,

          8  have been unsuccessful and we've demolished them. In

          9  a similar vain the combination football stadium and

         10  convention center or dome baseball park and a

         11  convention center have not served their master very

         12  well, and Paul will talk about this in a few

         13  minutes. Because football stadiums are occupied so

         14  few hours of the year, the smart economic decision

         15  every time is to locate them on low-cost land. You

         16  want to locate them away from a City center and with

         17  the prospect of a substantial amount of parking,

         18  because as was referred to just a few minutes ago,

         19  contrary to the Jets and Ernst and Young assertions,

         20  the Jets' fans are going to drive to the game in

         21  their own cars.

         22                 One could never dedicate prime real

         23  estate, high opportunity cost land for this purpose.

         24  The economic value of the land, in the case of

         25  Hudson Yards, is disproportionately high. It should
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          2  also be added to any cost calculation as to what is

          3  the public's contribution to a stadium of this

          4  nature.

          5                 In addition to not including the

          6  opportunity cost to the real estate in impact

          7  studies and rates of return, almost invariably the

          8  final cost of these projects greatly exceed the

          9  initial estimate.

         10                 This is an endemic problem. It was

         11  true when the Javits Center was built, it was true

         12  when the New York Yankees renovated their stadium.

         13  It is true with the Gateway Project and complex in

         14  Cleveland, it's true of the Skydome in Toronto, that

         15  was double the initial cost estimate, and that's

         16  likely to be the same case here.

         17                 Also, as has been mentioned, on game

         18  days, owing to the large size of the crowds, the

         19  football stadium does create what economists call

         20  tremendous congestion externalities. They impose

         21  cost on people who live there, they impose cost on

         22  businesses in the contiguous area that lose traffic

         23  because of that.

         24                 And these costs are real, as real as

         25  anything else, and they are never put into these
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          2  base calculations.

          3                 Finally, in the particular case of

          4  the Jets' proposal, the total estimated commitment

          5  $1.4 billion, dwarfs the cost of any stadium ever

          6  built. And that amount the taxpayers of New York

          7  City are asking to be paid -- or to contribute at

          8  least 600 million, is also unprecedented and it

          9  exceeds the entire cost of any football stadium ever

         10  built.

         11                 In conclusion, Ernst and Young impact

         12  study does not provide an economic justification for

         13  the proposed public expenditure of $600 million

         14  toward what is, above all, a football stadium.

         15                 In most cases, the commitment of

         16  funds would simply transfer money and activities

         17  from the private sector to the public sector. In

         18  addition, the report's estimates rely on, as I said,

         19  on overly optimistic rates of utilization. They

         20  ignore leakages and transfers, they do not

         21  distinguish well between gross and net expenditures,

         22  and other things that they don't include.

         23                 In addition, there appears to be

         24  nothing in the report that addresses the very

         25  important consideration of opportunity cost of the
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          2  real estate dedicated to this purpose.

          3                 Finally, and I have 25 seconds, I can

          4  make it, these expenditures also constitute in many

          5  respects a reverse Robinhood effect, in that they

          6  take money from the taxpayers as a whole and

          7  transfer it.  People who will be made better off by

          8  this expenditure are going to be the Jets, Jets

          9  players, because players' revenue share with the

         10  owners, and fans who attend those games.

         11                 NFL fans have substantially higher

         12  incomes, we know this, than citizens. So, you're

         13  taking money from the average citizens and

         14  transferring that public funds to people at the

         15  upper end of the income distribution, and that's not

         16  usually the way we want things to go.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         19                 If I could have a copy of all of your

         20  findings, I would appreciate it.

         21                 MR. SANDERSON: There are copies. We

         22  have copies there.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good. Good.

         24                 You're the next speaker.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Gerald
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          2  Schoenfeld of the Shubert Organization.

          3                 MR. SCHOENFELD: Thank you very much.

          4                 Before I state my remarks, I would

          5  like to thank Chairman James Sanders, Jr., for

          6  working on scheduling this hearing, and allowing

          7  participation from those who are like Chairman

          8  Sanders, deeply concerned with what's best for the

          9  economic future of the City of New York.

         10                 I might add, this is the first time

         11  there has been a public discussion on this subject.

         12  All prior discussions by Dan Doctoroff and other

         13  City officials and the Jets have been a unilateral

         14  discussion with no room for questioning.

         15                 I'm also speaking here on behalf of

         16  the Shubert Organization, and Jujamcyn Theatres.

         17  The Shubert Organization owns 16 and a half

         18  legitimate theatres in New York, and one Off

         19  Broadway theatre on 42nd Street, and Jujamcyn owns

         20  and operates five such theatres.

         21                 We are also a producer of many, many

         22  productions that have appeared on Broadway.

         23                 Since 1970 I've been intimately

         24  associated with West Midtown, particularly the area

         25  west of Sixth Avenue to the Hudson, and from 40th to
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          2  53rd Street. In the sake of time, what I have been

          3  associated with is listed in my statement, includes

          4  every important development that has taken place in

          5  the last 30 years on this part of New York, and

          6  particularly the restoration and renaissance of

          7  Times Square.

          8                 Now, this plan first came to my

          9  attention when the City proposed construction of an

         10  Olympic stadium over the Hudson Yards on the west

         11  side of Manhattan. The plan was later enlarged to

         12  include expansion of the Javits Center and extension

         13  of the 7 Line. I made inquiry of the plan at why a

         14  stadium was included in the development of the plan

         15  and I was told this was a mandate from the City, and

         16  an integral part of the planner's commission. No

         17  plan which incorporated zoning and zoning bonuses

         18  and other support and mechanisms, such as those that

         19  led to the development of Battery Park City has ever

         20  been considered.

         21                 The contention that a platform over

         22  the rail yards was essential to development was not

         23  considered, either in connection with rezoning and

         24  the various bonuses that could be afforded to

         25  developers, or by the utilization of the MTA's
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          2  property and air rights, or possible financial

          3  involvement in the creation of the platform, or the

          4  MTA's participation in the proceeds of any sale or

          5  lease of the air rights.

          6                 As the plan evolved, an Olympic

          7  stadium, financed in large measure by the City and

          8  State contributions would not be justified by a

          9  12-day 2012 Olympics.

         10                 To overcome this obstacle, it is now

         11  proposed that if we are awarded the Olympics in

         12  2005, the Stadium would be converted from a 75,000

         13  seat football stadium for the Jets to an approximate

         14  110,000 seat Olympic stadium.

         15                 Subsequent to the Olympics, it would

         16  then be reconverted back to a 75,000 seat football

         17  stadium.

         18                 A stand-alone football stadium is

         19  sought to be justified by speculations that you have

         20  heard here regarding Super Bowl, the NCAa and many

         21  other events.

         22                 Apparently these few events would not

         23  be adequate to generate sufficient income to pay the

         24  debt service and other costs attributable to the

         25  construction.
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          2                 To overcome this obstacle, the Jets

          3  later proposed the stadium would be used for 140

          4  other events and are now saying it would be used all

          5  year long.

          6                 Most of these events would be at

          7  night and whether or not any of them will utilize

          8  the stadium, and if so, how many, is totally

          9  speculative.

         10                 The stadium alone, however, needs to

         11  have further support to justify its construction and

         12  the necessary transportation for people attending

         13  the stadium events. Enter the extension of the 7

         14  Line, which is projected to go from 42nd Street to

         15  34th Street and Eleventh Avenue, without any link

         16  back to Pennsylvania Station. Ultimately, the MTA

         17  does not have the funds to build the 7 Line. The

         18  fair market value of the MTA's rail yards and air

         19  rights are still apparently a point of negotiation.

         20                 Still more support for the

         21  development plan is needed. It's intended that a

         22  portion of the new stadium would be available by the

         23  Jets for certain large conventions which now can't

         24  presently be used or housed. But now they say it

         25  will go north from 39th to 40th. Any consideration
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          2  of it going south would be blocked by the stadium.

          3  If it goes south, you would have one large

          4  convention center, not two separate spaces.

          5                 Significantly not mentioned in any of

          6  the City's presentations are the results of the

          7  Quinnipiac poll, which Joe Restuccia just mentioned.

          8  The voters of New York City don't want a stadium

          9  there, and they don't want an Olympics either, if

         10  $600 million of public funds is going to be used.

         11                 I met with the architect, together

         12  with several of the executives of my company, and he

         13  told us at that time the Javits Center expansion

         14  could go alone, if they need any other facility.

         15                 A few weeks later he said we're

         16  talking about a multi-purpose facility. When I asked

         17  him how did that come about, he said political

         18  consideration. So, now we now have no longer an

         19  Olympic Stadium, it was hardly mentioned here today.

         20  You don't have a Jets Stadium either. You have a

         21  sports and convention center, tailor made to suit.

         22                 Now, the development plan makes no

         23  provision for parking. One can speculate whether

         24  that violates the federal Clean Air Act. But in the

         25  absence of parking, the Jets and the City now say
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          2  that 70 to 80 percent of their fans will attend the

          3  events of the stadium and will use mass transit to

          4  get there.

          5                 And the Jets now also say, they don't

          6  need a 7 Line extension at all. Their fans can walk.

          7  It happens to be 3,000 feet walk to get there.

          8                 Now, 50 percent of the fans that go

          9  to Madison Square Garden do not use mass transit,

         10  even know it is located right in the hub of one of

         11  the greatest transit centers in New York. So,

         12  wherever these people go to park their cars and

         13  buses, street parking is going to be inadequate, the

         14  traffic problem will extend to where I work, the

         15  theatre district.

         16                 About the theatre district, since

         17  last year, traffic congestion was so intense, in

         18  this Times Square area, that in order to alleviate

         19  the problem changes in traffic patterns have

         20  occurred in Times Square, which now prohibit turns

         21  from cross-down streets, onto Broadway, which also

         22  create express streets through the Times Square

         23  District and which have reconfigured the bow-tie

         24  area. That's on the basis of existing traffic

         25  congestion.
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          2                 One of Broadway's theaters most

          3  well-attended events occur on Sunday matinees, when

          4  the Jets will be playing football. Dismiss that when

          5  25,000 people that attend those performances is

          6  ludicrous. It's not a dead day for the theatre.

          7                 Furthermore, the Broadway Theatre

          8  attracts 240,000 people a week. It's the largest

          9  tourist attraction in New York. It generates $4.3

         10  billion a year, and supports 36,000 local jobs.

         11  Surely, it would be imprudent to advocate any

         12  project that might possibly have a negative impact

         13  upon this unique and indispensable part of New York

         14  City.

         15                 One need no to look further (sic)

         16  than Yankee Stadium, when since 1924 has hardly had

         17  any positive economic impact in its environment.

         18  None.

         19                 I could also add neither has Madison

         20  Square Garden, but not to the extent of Yankee

         21  Stadium.

         22                 The hypothetical assumptions made by

         23  the Jets in the City are based upon studies by firms

         24  employed and paid for by the Jets, no matter how

         25  reputable they are, and I'm not questioning their
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          2  reputation, they are bought and paid for and the

          3  City has not asked for any of their own.

          4                 They may apply anything to it, like

          5  Charles Gargano said, but it's an application to

          6  something that somebody else paid for for their own

          7  interests.

          8                 I would like just to say, to use a

          9  crystal ball to ascertain what will happen between

         10  now and 2035, and risk this most important and

         11  valuable real estate in Manhattan, and by the way, I

         12  was told by Roger Star in 1977 that he has written

         13  off Midtown. I told him I didn't, and certainly what

         14  I said has been borne out by what has happened in

         15  Times Square.

         16                 I was also told by Mayor Koch, why

         17  should I help you, you can't move. But we're still

         18  here, and we are the biggest tourist attraction that

         19  this City has.

         20                 Now, a few other points that have not

         21  been mentioned: In order to forestall public comment

         22  and judicial review, the City urges the enactment of

         23  State Legislation, which will shorten the Statute of

         24  Limitations from the existing four months to one

         25  month, and to expedite the judicial process by
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          2  mandating that any litigation must be brought in the

          3  first instance, not to the Supreme Court, but to the

          4  Appellate Division.

          5                 State Legislation supported by the

          6  City seeks to set up autonomous authority consistent

          7  with the development plan, as well as the future

          8  operation of all of the buildings, stadium and

          9  everything else that's included in the district. To

         10  expend 300 million of City money and 300 million of

         11  State money at a time when New York needs funds for

         12  the other things that you have heard about, based on

         13  hypothetical assumptions tailor-made to suit with no

         14  income flow anticipated until 2010 when the first

         15  expected office building would be erected is but

         16  another speculative assumption.

         17                 Who can say now whether New York will

         18  need 28 million square feet of office space, whether

         19  it should be there, whether it should be downtown,

         20  whether it should be some other place is all within

         21  the realm of these speculations which I have heard

         22  maybe 20 times varying slightly to fit whatever is

         23  the tenor of the moment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Sir, sadly I

         25  must ask you to --
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          2                 MR. SCHOENFELD: I'm going to close up

          3  right now.

          4                 The five remaining cities to be

          5  considered as possible sites for the 2012 Olympics,

          6  Paris, London, Madrid, New York and Moscow, none

          7  except New York is intended to have a shovel in the

          8  ground before the Olympic site is designated by the

          9  IOC.

         10                 Deputy Mayor Doctoroff has said time

         11  and time and time again there will be a shovel in

         12  the ground next spring. I don't know why, because

         13  you don't need to put the shovel in the ground,

         14  either for an Olympic stadium or a Jets stadium

         15  before then. If we don't get the Olympics it's a

         16  whole new ball game. To try to finesse this I think

         17  is really appalling.

         18                 Lastly, when you talk about in the

         19  future, we need a plan predicated on zoning and

         20  development initiatives, funding of an extension of

         21  a 7 Line without Battery Park City money, an arm's

         22  length sale of the MTA's railroad yards and the air

         23  rights above it, and a Javits Center expansion

         24  without ancillary space in a stadium.

         25                 In closing, my motives for opposing
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          2  the stadium aspect of this plan are not

          3  self-serving. I have no ownership in The Shubert

          4  Organization, or in any of the aspects of the

          5  development plan. I, do however have an interest in

          6  seeing that any develop plan will enhance the

          7  long-term interests of New York City for the benefit

          8  of all of its citizens. Without the expenditure of

          9  $600 million at great financial risk, not only to

         10  the City, but to New York's great economic generator

         11  and tourist attraction, the Broadway Theatre.

         12                 Attached to my statement is the

         13  results of the Quinnipiac poll, a statement by Rocco

         14  Landesman, and a letter from Tom Short, who is the

         15  President of the International Alliance of

         16  Theatrical Stage Employees, a union of over 110,000

         17  members.

         18                 And lastly, only because I noticed it

         19  on the way in, that the musicians union, Local 802,

         20  is now supporting this plan. I called up the

         21  President, and I asked him why are you doing this?

         22                 Well, he said, the Jets, the Jets

         23  have promised me that they would support low-income

         24  housing, and also would support art and culture in

         25  schools.
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          2                 I have been working on that for

          3  years, and I think if you read the release by the

          4  Mayor and Joel Klein, theatre and dance curriculums

          5  have already been made, and will be introduced to

          6  reinsert where it belongs, art and culture, K

          7  through 12, in our public school system.

          8                 So, really the Musicians Union don't

          9  need the Jets, but they can't even deliver if they

         10  wanted to.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         13                 Sir, would you be kind enough to

         14  identify yourself and begin your testimony?

         15                 MR. SAJOVEC: Thank you.

         16                 My name is Paul Sajovec. I'm Senior

         17  Vice President for HVS International Convention

         18  Sports and Entertainment Consulting.

         19                 We do feasibility studies primarily

         20  for states and local governments that are interested

         21  in building just the type of convention center

         22  facilities as a Javits or a Javits expansion and so

         23  forth.

         24                 We were asked to look and review at

         25  the suitability of the proposed Jets Stadium and
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          2  exhibition facility for conventions, trade shows and

          3  other non-sports events. This review included three

          4  parts: a compilation of data on existing facilities

          5  that were pier facilities cited in the Jets own

          6  report; the Edward Jones Dome in St. Louis; the RCA

          7  Dome in Indianapolis; and the Georgia Dome in

          8  Atlanta.

          9                 Secondly we conducted a set of

         10  interviews with event planners that have conducted

         11  events in convention connected to domes; and

         12                 Thirdly, we performed a review of the

         13  inherent strengths and weaknesses of utilizing a

         14  dome sports facility as exhibition space.

         15                 First on the pier dome stadium event

         16  data, our detailed review of existing peer domed

         17  stadiums attached to convention centers revealed

         18  these stadiums are rarely used as exhibition spaces

         19  and host a small number of non-sports events.

         20                 An average of 11 in the prior year

         21  among these three peer facilities. The average

         22  number of stand-alone events that these peer

         23  facilities used was four.

         24                 The events that do use the stadium

         25  floor space are composed largely of religious
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          2  assemblies, high school van competitions and

          3  consumer shows.

          4                 Among the three peers, there were

          5  only 13 conventions and trades shows that used any

          6  portion of the stadium floor, and only one of those

          7  was a stand-alone event that occurred entirely in a

          8  dome stadium.

          9                 In total, the three peers hosted 11

         10  stand-alone non-sports events in the past year that

         11  utilize stadium floor space.

         12                 In actuality, it is more frequent for

         13  sports events occurring in the domed stadium to

         14  require space in the convention center. Sports

         15  tenants in such facilities often require exhibition

         16  hall space for pre and post game activities, such as

         17  tailgate parties, and various sponsor activities

         18  that they can't conduct elsewhere because there is

         19  no room in that downtown environment.

         20                 Secondly, on the event planner

         21  interviews, we interviewed 13 event planners that

         22  have conducted events in convention center complexes

         23  that included dome stadium space.

         24                 We asked them several questions

         25  concerning the suitability of using dome stadiums
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          2  for conventions, trade shows and other exhibition

          3  events.

          4                 The clear consensus among these event

          5  plans was that stadium floors present several

          6  important limitations that stadium space added

          7  little, if anything, to the attractiveness of a

          8  convention center, and in fact, may actually detract

          9  its functionality.

         10                 Event planners indicated a reluctance

         11  to schedule events that occur concurrently with

         12  national football league games due to concerns

         13  regarding noise, traffic, security, ease of move in

         14  and move out and several others.

         15                 Thirdly, we performed a review in

         16  general of the use of dome stadiums as convention

         17  and exhibition facilities and three key barriers

         18  which have been totally glossed over in the previous

         19  work done by Ernst and Young on behalf of the Jets.

         20                 The first is a disparity in the

         21  scheduling windows. The incompatibility of sports

         22  and entertainment events scheduling with convention

         23  and trade show planning.

         24                 Sports and entertainment events are

         25  typically scheduled three to six months in advance,
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          2  whereas conventions and tradeshows that use 100,000

          3  square feet of space or more are typically scheduled

          4  three to five years in advance.

          5                 As a result, any event hoping to

          6  utilize the stadium cannot know for certain that it

          7  will be available during the football season until

          8  the schedule comes out four months prior to the

          9  beginning of a season.

         10                 Second, are functional inefficiencies

         11  using domed stadiums as exhibition space, including

         12  a lack of divisibility, higher climate control

         13  costs, a lack of lighting control, difficulties in

         14  getting utilities to exhibitors and others.

         15                 Third, the inferior character of

         16  domed stadium space relevant to adjacent convention

         17  center exposition spaces for large events that would

         18  occupy the entire convention and sports complex.

         19                 Exhibitors at events seek to be in

         20  the highest traffic areas of an event. They spend

         21  several thousand dollars to rent the exhibit space

         22  to set up their booth.

         23                 Exhibit booths tucked away in a domed

         24  stadium space, not contiguous, and on a different

         25  level than the rest of the exhibits is inferior
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          2  space, and could be considered as such and

          3  unappealling to potential exhibitors.

          4                 This inequality of space plays a

          5  significant role in the lack of utilization of domed

          6  stadium floor space in existing peer facilities, and

          7  explains the posity of events that occur in similar

          8  facilities that have been cited in the reports

          9  prepared for the Jets as being peers to what they're

         10  proposing for this site.

         11                 In conclusion, the domed stadium

         12  facilities HVS reviewed in this analysis functioned

         13  primarily as their name suggests, as sports

         14  stadiums.

         15                 The utilization of these facilities

         16  for non-sports events is minimal. The event planners

         17  with experience using convention centers and

         18  connected dome stadiums interviewed, as part of this

         19  analysis, report as many or more drawbacks with the

         20  presence of these stadiums as benefits.

         21                 The most successful convention and

         22  trade show destinations in the US, Las Vegas,

         23  Chicago, Orlando, and here in New York, all rely on

         24  purpose-built convention centers with dedicated

         25  exhibit halls rather than facilities connected to
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          2  dome stadiums.

          3                 The suitability and competitiveness

          4  of these domed stadiums as convention center spaces

          5  is poor. As evidenced by the relative lack of

          6  non-sports event activity existing peer stadiums

          7  attracts.

          8                 In summary, the goal of our review

          9  was to determine what value the proposed domed

         10  stadium would add in respect to the overall

         11  convention corridors' ability to attract and

         12  accommodate conventions, trade shows and other

         13  exhibition-type events. The answer is very little,

         14  if any.

         15                 Lastly, in reference to the Ernst and

         16  Young study prepared on behalf of the Jets, I would

         17  really urge the members of the Council and the

         18  Committee to take a very close look at that study

         19  because it's full of a number of assumptions that

         20  are very suspect, and I'm not sure that we can

         21  necessarily trust other people who aren't industry

         22  experts to determine whether or not they're correct.

         23  And I want to give you one example.

         24                 They list three plenary events as

         25  being attributable to the domed stadium and include
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          2  that in the economic numbers that were presented

          3  here today.

          4                 Those plenary sessions are credited

          5  to the stadium, because for a one- or two-hour

          6  period during a four-day event, they have a speaker

          7  address attendees of that convention, despite the

          8  fact that the rest of the balance of the convention

          9  during the other rest of the four days occurs in the

         10  primary convention center. Yet, their Ernst and

         11  Young study says that 100 percent of the impact from

         12  that event over all four days is attributable to the

         13  domed stadium because, it is attributable to the

         14  domed stadium because of this one- or two-hour

         15  plenary session that they hold there.

         16                 They also say that the reason they

         17  attribute 100 percent of the impact to that is

         18  because without the domed stadium, they wouldn't be

         19  able to attract those events.

         20                 However, they go on to list 13 sample

         21  events, and out of those 13 sample events, eight of

         22  them occur in cities that don't have domed stadiums

         23  and don't have any connected large stadium-type

         24  plenary space.

         25                 That is just one example of some of
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          2  the assumptions that are being relied upon by both

          3  the City and State that underlie these economic

          4  impact numbers. No matter how accurate your economic

          5  impact model and our output model is, if the inputs,

          6  the direct spending inputs and the assumptions that

          7  underlie them are inaccurate in many ways, those

          8  results are going to be skewed, and it's pretty

          9  clear to us, taking a look at this, without any bias

         10  on our part, we consult on these facilities and we

         11  consult on building new facilities and expanding

         12  them, that there are several gross over-estimates in

         13  that model in the way it's conducted.

         14                 With that, I greatly appreciate the

         15  opportunity to present the results of our study and

         16  I welcome many questions that you may have.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I want to thank

         19  this very stellar panel for really doing a great job

         20  in this short period of time, the information that

         21  has only recently become available to you on that.

         22                 Let me digress for a second to speak

         23  of what several people during the day have hinted

         24  on, and that is, yes, this is the first hearing,

         25  public hearing, open hearing, on this process that
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          2  we have had in New York City hearing, meaning that

          3  it is a dialogue, not a monologue and that people

          4  have a chance to present counter arguments and so

          5  forth.

          6                 And it's necessary for me to say that

          7  the Economic Development Committee will move

          8  aggressively to ensure that the people of New York

          9  have a voice in the spending of their money. That's

         10  just for me a common sense thing.

         11                 While some have argued that we did

         12  not have jurisdiction, and some have gone a step

         13  further and said how dare we, the answer, of course

         14  is that we dare, and that we will move aggressively.

         15                 The mandates of the Committee are

         16  simple. Three such: Preserve the tax base of New

         17  York City.

         18                 Extend the tax base of New York City.

         19                 Create entrepreneurial opportunities.

         20  This clearly, this type of hearing clearly falls

         21  within our mandate, and I will conclude that by

         22  saying, what is not precluded will be included. We

         23  are clear, and we will move aggressively to ensure

         24  that New York City has a say in the spending of this

         25  money.
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          2                 I want to raise a question. I believe

          3  Mr. Anders -- is it Anders?

          4                 MR. SANDERSON: No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay, we'll get

          6  there. What is it?

          7                 MR. SANDERSON: Sanderson.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: See, I'm

          9  Sanders. I kind of like that one, so I'll go here

         10  first. Okay, we'll keep the...son too.

         11                 You spoke of how a sports arena may

         12  not do well, of course, under these conditions. But

         13  I wanted to hear more of a convention center and a

         14  sports arena configuration. I did hear that a little

         15  later from you, sir. Would you speak more to a

         16  convention center and a sports arena, the

         17  combination of such?

         18                 I understand that this is preliminary

         19  and more information will be forthcoming. So, this

         20  is the beginning of a conversation and dialogue that

         21  we need to have.

         22                 MR. SANDERSON: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: But so be it, I

         24  think you can take it from there.

         25                 MR. SANDERSON: Okay, I'll let Paul

                                                            218

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  jump in as well.

          3                 By arena, just for definition, it

          4  would mean something that in most cases has a

          5  basketball court and ice hockey, so just by

          6  definition a baseball ball park.

          7                 Now, an arena by itself is not a bad

          8  investment, because with an NHL team, and NBA team

          9  and other events during the year, you can actually

         10  have an occupancy rate that's fairly high. You can

         11  get into the 200, 250 night event and make it pay

         12  for itself. It just can't be done with a football

         13  stadium.

         14                 There are also just very few

         15  conventions. Again, Paul's area more than mine, but

         16  very few conventions that require 75,000 seats.

         17                 It's also not just the seating area,

         18  it's that kind of a space that then just has this

         19  huge dome around it. It doesn't make much sense to

         20  build anything in that way.

         21                 Most, you know, political conventions

         22  and other things that are held, whether in New York

         23  or Boston or Chicago recently are held in stadiums

         24  or, excuse me, arenas that hold 20 to 25,000 people,

         25  that's a pretty good size, and an efficient size.
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          2  Once you get above that, it just doesn't pay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Sir.

          4                 MR. SAJOVEC: Just on that same point,

          5  I think the key point from our standpoint in looking

          6  at existing facilities, they themselves have

          7  compared themselves to domed stadium connected to

          8  convention centers and trying to portray this as a

          9  New York Sport and Convention Center. What we found

         10  is that the existing facilities that they tout as

         11  peer examples don't do very many, if at all,

         12  non-sports events, and the very few ones that they

         13  do aren't necessarily the kind of events that lend

         14  themselves well to downtown New York City and

         15  Manhattan.

         16                 For instance, the RCA Dome in

         17  Indianapolis, most of the non-sports use that they

         18  get out of that facility is for things like band

         19  competitions, and occasionally during the year

         20  they'll do a couple of small craft fares or consumer

         21  shows.

         22                 These stadium spaces are not

         23  attractive at all to the exhibiting companies, no

         24  matter how well they try to dress them up. And

         25  that's really, the crux of the issue is that they've
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          2  gone to great pains to portray this as a sports and

          3  convention center because they realize that on the

          4  sports end alone it's difficult to justify the size

          5  of the investment, and what we're saying is if these

          6  other existing peer facilities are any guide, which

          7  they themselves say they are, the level of demand

          8  that they're able to attract and accommodate in

          9  these facilities is very minimal.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Very

         11  interesting.

         12                 Council Member Lopez.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I have two

         14  questions. And I have to tell you, you have a

         15  wonderful voice, when you were speaking. No, I'm

         16  talking to you. To you, sir. Yes. When you were

         17  speaking, it cultivate me, it cultivate my

         18  attention.

         19                 The first question I have is, for the

         20  entire panel, do you agree that in that area over

         21  there, development must happen? You agree with that?

         22  It's not opposition to development happening in

         23  there? Do you agree that development that have to

         24  happen in there have to be a certain type or could

         25  be a variety?
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          2                 MR. RESTUCCIA: I think there is

          3  pretty broad agreement that there has to be a mixed

          4  use area, not just commercial, not just residential,

          5  not just institutional, because this is our last

          6  place to expand midtown. So, a mixed area that's

          7  alive all the time, that's what makes sense.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Does the panel

          9  understand that the development that have to happen

         10  in there, it have to have a heavy component on the

         11  arena of job production and retention of those jobs?

         12                 MR. RESTUCCIA: Yes. You have to think

         13  for a moment, we have a 59 square block area we're

         14  talking about. And where are we? We're next to

         15  Midtown. It's not like someone has to have a key to

         16  open the door. People are knocking on that door all

         17  the time. There will be a lot of jobs generated from

         18  residential construction, both affordable and luxury

         19  buildings built, and commercial buildings.

         20                 I mean, it makes sense to have a

         21  commercial spine travel along 34th Street, and

         22  there's a lot of jobs that come out of that.

         23                 The area is already changed. I mean,

         24  we're seeing all kinds of jobs come in that we've

         25  never seen before. We have digital recording
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          2  studios, photo studios.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

          4  that.

          5                 I'm not asking you to go in detail of

          6  what kind of jobs or anything like that. I just need

          7  to understand the bottom line in regard of the

          8  panel, if you understand that development must

          9  happen, development have to occur, that is connected

         10  to job creation and job retention, and do you

         11  understand that in there a considerable part of the

         12  plan to be developed in there should include

         13  affordable housing, or you do not include that?

         14                 MR. RESTUCCIA: I develop affordable

         15  housing for a living. So, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It have to be.

         17                 MR. RESTUCCIA: And we have pushed

         18  from the west side for quite a long time that we

         19  want a major affordable housing component.

         20                 Our problem is that the City has not

         21  been able to come up with a real solution. They

         22  talked about 80/20 or existing programs, and our

         23  answer are, number one, we have lots of working

         24  people that make a little too much for that 80/20,

         25  but not enough for the market, and we need to have a
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          2  broad range of affordable housing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then

          4  understanding all of those questions that I ask, the

          5  question of traffic, which has been said over and

          6  over again by everybody, it's a problem that will be

          7  there no matter what development you're talking

          8  about. It's a problem that will be present with the

          9  development that whoever is supporting the stadium

         10  is talking about, whoever is supporting the

         11  expansion of the Javits Center without the stadium,

         12  whoever is talking about production of new jobs in

         13  there, the problem of traffic is going to be there

         14  no matter what. Do we agree on that?

         15                 MS. LEVIN: Absolutely. And that is

         16  one of our continuing problems.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

         18                 MS. LEVIN: We have to figure out how

         19  to deal with the existing traffic problem, and we

         20  recognize that development is going to put that

         21  under increased pressure. But we believe that

         22  putting a stadium which invites 75,000 or 85,000

         23  people to come at once, is the wrong choice.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me stop

         25  you. I'm not asking questions to trick anybody. I'm
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          2  asking these questions for other reasons, and that

          3  has to do with a responsible behavior of the State

          4  and the City of New York in regard of resolving the

          5  problem of Manhattanites in direction of our

          6  absolute need for mass transportation that had not

          7  bee put in place.

          8                 That's the reason I'm asking this

          9  question.

         10                 MS. LEVIN: No, you realize one of the

         11  early elements of the Hudson Yards plan involved the

         12  creation of a Port Authority bus garage somewhere in

         13  the vicinity of the current Port Authority bus

         14  station, which would provide space for parking for

         15  the commuter buses and Charter buses that now park

         16  all over the neighborhood, clogging traffic and

         17  taking up street parking.

         18                 We haven't seen any mention of that

         19  Port Authority garage for about the last year,

         20  although we have been in active discussions with the

         21  City as the Hudson Yards plan has developed. And we

         22  have urged them that they must consider facilities

         23  exactly like that in order to make the development

         24  in this neighborhood real.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then will you
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          2  say that before this body considered any proposal

          3  for any development, it doesn't matter which one it

          4  is, that this body has to be presented with a

          5  comprehensive mass transportation plan in order for

          6  us to deal with anything else after that?

          7                 Will you say that?

          8                 MR. RESTUCCIA: Yes. And unfortunately

          9  it is the tail wagging the dog. Instead of the

         10  City's priority I'm looking at overall Number 7

         11  expansion, true mass transit, how do we get it back

         12  to Penn Station and putting the dollars that will

         13  make the area bloom and make people move around it,

         14  that's an after thought, and we have been told more

         15  and more the Number 7 Line probably will not happen

         16  at this point. That is not a State priority, and the

         17  financing does not seem to be worked out, no matter

         18  how you've been assured of it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, sir. I'm

         20  waiting to hear your voice.

         21                 MR. SCHOENFELD: I would just like to

         22  add that if you're going to build offices, office

         23  buildings and apartment houses, unlike the plan that

         24  came before you today, they will have garages --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's
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          2  interesting.

          3                 MR. SCHOENFELD: -- In those

          4  buildings.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          6                 MR. SCHOENFELD: It will not be no

          7  parking like there is for the stadium. So, the

          8  impact in my opinion will be considerably mitigated

          9  as a consequence of having those off-street parking

         10  facilities.

         11                 It's also impossible. Can you imagine

         12  if they tried to put up a garage to take the cars

         13  that would go to attend a football game? You'd be

         14  here and you'd be there, I guess, until tomorrow

         15  morning to get your car out of the garage.

         16                 All you have to do is ride down the

         17  Major Deegan Highway when the Yankee Stadium let's

         18  out. You can't get down, you can't get across the

         19  George Washington Bridge, you can't get across the

         20  Triborough Bridge. It radiates.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, it's

         22  clear.

         23                 My last question to all of you: I'm

         24  very fascinated about the development of this plan

         25  in regard of the lack, absolute lack in my opinion,
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          2  of an official forum where this issue has been

          3  discussed.

          4                 If I am mistaken, correct me, but I

          5  believe that this is the first time it's an official

          6  forum where this issue has been discussed.

          7                 The other times, and please don't

          8  take me wrong, I'm not saying the meetings in the

          9  community are not official and important, I'm just

         10  making a distinction in regard of what the law

         11  requires and procedure requires. This is the first

         12  time that a hearing occurred in the capacity of

         13  official hearing in regard to this issue; that is

         14  correct?

         15                 MR. SCHOENFELD: Absolutely correct.

         16                 MR. RESTUCCIA: Yes. And I want to

         17  bring to your attention something. You mentioned to

         18  the Deputy Mayor, well, he said this is not subject

         19  to public review by the City Council, because this

         20  is --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, he said it

         22  is.

         23                 MR. RESTUCCIA: No, it's State land,

         24  it's not subject to public review.

         25                 Well, Times Square --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Wait. I

          3  understand that this issue is complicated because we

          4  have many levels of government, but it's a piece in

          5  which we're going to intervene at the level of the

          6  land disposition and the ULURP process.

          7                 MR. RESTUCCIA: Right. The part that

          8  you should be intervening in, Times Square was a

          9  State project that was UDC. It was still subject to

         10  ULURP and the City Council reviewed and voted on it,

         11  because the Governor and the Mayor decided it was an

         12  important enough public policy item that the Council

         13  should speak to it.

         14                 In this case there has been a

         15  political decision for that not to happen. It's not

         16  that there's no precedent. Times Square was in the

         17  center of our City, we all had to look at it, this

         18  is in the center of our City too. The Council should

         19  have the same ability to review it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, what I

         21  would say to you on that is that the Council then

         22  have an obligation also to demand that

         23  participation. And if the Council is not demanding

         24  that participation, shame on us. And, you know,

         25  that's my opinion on that.

                                                            229

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 I am interested in this line of

          3  questioning because I'm of a firm believer that if

          4  we can dilute to the minimum the conflicts that we

          5  have against each other, we can move forward in a

          6  better way.

          7                 And I believe it's a very serious

          8  problem in here that have to do with people who

          9  understand that we desperately need jobs in this

         10  City and I am one of those, and the reason for that

         11  is that people of color are not employed in this

         12  City and I am sick and tired of it.

         13                 As a Latino woman, you have to

         14  understand me there. In one hand that is a problem.

         15  In other hand, affordable housing is critical. And

         16  then I see two pieces of the population of the City

         17  fighting against each other when we should not be

         18  fighting against each other on this.

         19                 Then when I ask you about the

         20  question of the hearing existence that is official,

         21  I believe that if this is the first one that exists,

         22  that we under no circumstance can move forward this

         23  project until we have adequate public hearings that

         24  are official to do with this. And I hope that you

         25  agree with that.
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          2                 MS. LEVIN: No, we absolutely agree

          3  with you. And it's been dismaying to us to

          4  understand that part of the Administration's

          5  strategy in promoting this plan is to slice it into

          6  so many pieces, and get it reviewed in so many

          7  different places, that nobody gets a chance to

          8  consider the whole. So, you've got the ULURP in the

          9  City's side, you've got other stuff going to Albany,

         10  we don't even know what's going to Albany and we

         11  don't know whether the Albany pieces will be subject

         12  to public review.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Your last point,

         14  Madam.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But the

         16  Chairman of this Committee is to be commended for

         17  having this hearing today. And what I'm saying is

         18  that I have to say, we're speaking a lot of issues

         19  in this house, and we have been very silent on this

         20  one and that's not right. There's something wrong

         21  about our silence here. That's what I'm doing,

         22  taking responsibility for the Council, because I

         23  think we don't need permission for somebody to tell

         24  us to speak on an issue.

         25                 MS. LEVIN: We welcome your

                                                            231

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  participation. Thank you so much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: This is a point

          4  of information. It has to be noted that the Economic

          5  Development Committee are those going to move

          6  aggressively, every person that we went to and said

          7  we need to sit down, and meet with us, we have not

          8  been denied. All of the key parties to this

          9  conversation have not denied us. Perhaps it was a

         10  question of you received not because you asked not.

         11  We are asking, we are here, it will continue.

         12                 Council Member Quinn, you wanted to

         13  have a point?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         15                 I have a couple, but I promise I'll

         16  try to be quick.

         17                 First, I just want to say, Gerald

         18  Schoenfeld, thank God you can't move. I don't know

         19  that you would have if you could have, but thank God

         20  it wasn't a question for all of us.

         21                 MR. SCHOENFELD: We wouldn't. And I

         22  just want to add one other thing: You heard about in

         23  a draft environmental impact statement coming out in

         24  about two weeks. It's supposed to be at least 6,000

         25  pages. Maybe as much as 12,000 pages. And if they
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          2  get a one-month statute of limitations on the final

          3  environmental impact statement, and you want to hold

          4  an honest hearing so that people can speak to it, it

          5  will be impossible. It will take a month to read it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Somebody said

          7  full time. It would take a month full time to read

          8  it.

          9                 A couple of points I want to make.

         10  Some folks have raised the issue and a lot has been

         11  said about parking. The slide in the powerpoint. And

         12  I just wanted to note for the record that, the Jets

         13  have identified parking spots on streets and parking

         14  lots that they claim could be used. Many, if not

         15  most of the parking lots that have been identified,

         16  are the soft sites included in the high line

         17  rezoning.

         18                 So, for those of you who are from out

         19  of town, the City is also proposing to rezone the

         20  area to the south of this for a whole host of

         21  different reasons, including the preservation of the

         22  high line, which we all want to preserve the high

         23  line. But in that there's a lot of parking lots in

         24  that area around 10th Avenue. They are where

         25  development will occur. So, even when you look at
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          2  the Jets' own testimony about, well, those who do

          3  drive, they will have spots. They won't if this

          4  other thing the City wants gets done, so I just

          5  wanted to note that for the record.

          6                 For either of the convention, I had

          7  wanted to ask Mr. Carlson who was testifying but we

          8  didn't have time, the stadia that he referenced that

          9  did well, as I understand it, were either baseball

         10  or basketball facilities, but none of the places

         11  that he mentioned were actually football stadiums,

         12  and it raises a question for me, you know, I think

         13  if he had a football stadium he could have raised he

         14  would have, because it would have been not to bring

         15  in another sport a slam dunk, one, am I right that

         16  those were not football stadiums, and do you know of

         17  football facilities that have been successful as he

         18  alleges the others were that he mentioned?

         19                 MR. SANDERSON: No, you're correct

         20  that almost all the references were baseball parks.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Who play a lot

         22  more.

         23                 MR. SANDERSON: Certainly, you play 80

         24  home games.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.
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          2                 MR. SANDERSON: The other is if you

          3  look at the analysis that we, a number of us have

          4  done over the last half dozen years, the rates of

          5  return, even to allege success stories that he

          6  mentioned in his testimony, are just much lower. One

          7  gets a honeymoon period, you build a new ball park

          8  and for four or five years people show up, and then

          9  it sort of goes away, and when you look at that even

         10  for Cleveland or Baltimore, the rates of return are

         11  actually fairly small.

         12                 MR. SAJOVEC: I think it bears the

         13  point that they've obviously gone to great lengths

         14  to portray this as a convention center and play down

         15  the other aspects of it in terms of a football

         16  stadium.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         18                 MR. SAJOVEC: And that is always done

         19  these days in attempts to get football stadiums

         20  developed because of the small number of home games

         21  that they have.

         22                 The reality of the situation is that

         23  the peer facilities out there that are similarly

         24  situated to what they are proposing, do very little

         25  non-sports activities. None of the other football
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          2  stadiums out there have a lot of events.

          3                 There have been great pains made in

          4  all these recently developed stadiums to try to

          5  incorporate other activities, to try to get college

          6  football games, and they try to get craft fairs and

          7  they try to rent out the facility for banquets and

          8  so forth and so on, but if those are the kind of

          9  uses you're going to get, banquets and corporate

         10  meetings, to really the only non-sports events that

         11  a lot of these football stadiums can do on a regular

         12  basis, it's an awful expensive way to get those kind

         13  of events.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         15                 And it kind of goes to the point,

         16  which there was a lot of discussion on with the

         17  first panel, of the scheduling and what you both,

         18  all of you referenced that there's an inherent

         19  tension and probably not a resolvable one between

         20  the way one schedules sports and the way one

         21  schedules conventions and rock concerts and things

         22  of that nature.

         23                 One of the things in some of my

         24  conversations I've had with the City, the Deputy

         25  Mayor's Office says that there's an incredible need
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          2  to have a 200 -- I believe, I want to say 200 square

          3  foot, that must be too --

          4                 MR. SAJOVEC: Two-hundred thousand.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Two-hundred

          6  thousand, that just seemed ridiculous so I didn't

          7  say it. Two-hundred thousand feet room that would be

          8  completely, you know, a plenary room, is that what

          9  you see as an absolute given? I mean, the Deputy

         10  Mayor's Office would have you believe that everyone

         11  will turn their nose and walk away if we don't have

         12  that.

         13                 MR. SAJOVEC: Well, the leading

         14  convention cities in the country, Chicago, Las

         15  Vegas, Orlando, don't have such a room connected to

         16  their convention centers. So the idea that this

         17  stadium piece is completely essential for the Javits

         18  Center and its expansion to be successful is

         19  ridiculous, because when you look at these other

         20  cities which are leading the pack, they don't have a

         21  space like that.

         22                 That's not to say that the City of

         23  New York couldn't benefit from some additional

         24  exhibit space, but the way to accomplish that is to

         25  build purpose built exhibit space designed

                                                            237

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  specifically and exclusively for those kind of

          3  events.

          4                 So, you know, that's the reality of

          5  the situation, as far as that usage goes.

          6                 The idea that without this

          7  multi-purpose 200,000, or someone said 180,000

          8  whatever it ends up being, square foot space that's

          9  not contiguous to the convention center, that's on a

         10  different level than the convention center and

         11  exhibit halls, is a necessary piece for the

         12  convention center to be effective, just doesn't hold

         13  any water.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         15                 MR. SANDERSON: Can I add one other

         16  thing?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sure.

         18                 MR. SANDERSON: I'm from Chicago and

         19  don't presume to be able to say what New York should

         20  or should not do, or the best use. But if I had to

         21  venture out on one limb, I would say I don't know

         22  what this space should be used for, but a football

         23  stadium has to be the last choice. There's virtually

         24  nothing you could do that would be worse than

         25  putting a football stadium on it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

          3  say, in closing, one, I want to thank Gerry and Anna

          4  and Joe for your testimony, and for also reminding

          5  us about kind of the good, the bad and the ugly of

          6  the 42nd Street experience, and if we are going to

          7  be responsible in government and civic life we

          8  should review the past, not repeat it.

          9                 You know, we should review it and

         10  continue to do what we did correctly and then change

         11  what we didn't do correctly, and I think there's

         12  examples of both in that experience and we are just

         13  choosing, it seems, to pretend it never happened,

         14  and it was really, you know, one of the most

         15  important civic experiences this City has had, you

         16  know, in decades, perhaps one of the most important

         17  ones in this century.

         18                 MR. SCHOENFELD: Is it within the

         19  prerogative of your Committee to ask the City to

         20  come forward with a development plan that does not

         21  include a stadium? Because I think that would then

         22  give the full picture of what's involved here, and

         23  answer the question about housing and office

         24  development, which could proceed very quickly. And

         25  also, if the MTA is allowed to receive full value
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          2  for the yards, and the air rights, it could build a

          3  platform for $250 million and participate in the

          4  economic benefit that will flow from the

          5  development.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: It is only

          7  responsible that the Committee explores all options

          8  of development. So, I believe that that is an

          9  answer, a response to your statement, sir.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And Mr.

         11  Schoenfeld?

         12                 MR. SCHOENFELD: Yes, please.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I need your

         14  telephone number because --

         15                 MR. SCHOENFELD: You can call me at

         16  any time.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me tell you

         18  why.

         19                 Because when I am in my house and I

         20  cannot go to sleep, I'm going to call you to read me

         21  a bedtime story.

         22                 MR. SCHOENFELD: And I will be happy

         23  to put you on the stage.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you. You

         25  are wonderful.
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          2                 MR. SCHOENFELD: Thank you very much.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, I

          4  also want to thank the two experts for giving us,

          5  which was very helpful for when we have a second

          6  hearing, giving insight into actually how scheduling

          7  for Super Bowls and things like that, and the

          8  reality that you don't have, you know, a final, if

          9  you don't have a home team, that's information I

         10  certainly would never have known and probably many

         11  of us in the room would never have known whether you

         12  get to have the Tonys if you don't have a good play,

         13  Gerry could tell us that, but about the hockey and

         14  other stuff, it was really very, very helpful to get

         15  some expert input on that, which really does change

         16  the numbers and even further underscore the issue of

         17  what is the risk to the City and the taxpayers. So,

         18  thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. I

         20  want to thank this panel for reading bedtime stories

         21  and putting people on stages and answering the

         22  questions.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 I want to call the next panel

         25  forward. Would you be kind enough to read the names?
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Lou Coletti.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Lou Coletti.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Crystine

          5  Nicholas. Jay Kriegal and Francois Picolet.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Mr. Heyliger.

          7  Mr. Heyliger, you've been called to the stand. Even

          8  as these people come forward to the stand, let me

          9  say that we have a tentative date for a hearing on

         10  this issue. In theory, we're supposed to stop this

         11  hearing at 6:00. I knew that that was an

         12  impossibility, but be that as it may, June 14th.

         13  June 14th we have a tentative continuation date for

         14  this hearing.

         15                 Yes, we are inviting every citizen of

         16  New York, if they wish, who can get in here, of

         17  course. We will keep the slips and those slips will

         18  be legitimate on that day also. But make sure that

         19  your slip is here. If I were you, I would do a new

         20  slip and just don't worry about recycling.

         21                 It is a pleasure to see this panel

         22  again. It's a pleasure to see you all. It speaks of

         23  your discipline or your devotion to this issue that

         24  you are all still here.

         25                 We're going to begin with you, my
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          2  friend Cristyne. Would you be kind enough to

          3  identify yourself for the record and go?

          4                 My friends, I also ask you to be

          5  brief, to show your brilliance and brevity. Would

          6  you be kind enough?

          7                 MS. NICHOLAS: Absolutely, Councilman

          8  Sanders. I will. I cut a lot of my remarks out.

          9                 My name is Cristyne Nicholas. I'm the

         10  President and CEO of NYC & Company, the City's

         11  official tourism marketing organization. And

         12  together with our 1,600 member businesses, our goal

         13  is to build New York City's economy by attracting

         14  conventions, tradeshows and meetings of all types.

         15  And I want to thank you, as well, for sticking

         16  through this, and holding this important session.

         17                 We believe that no City can equal New

         18  York City for diversity and quality of visitor

         19  resources. Add to that expanding the Javits Center

         20  and building the Sports and Convention Center, and

         21  New York City is looking at an unbeatable

         22  opportunity to expand the economic impact of visitor

         23  spending across the whole City, visitor spending

         24  that reaches all specters of the City's travel and

         25  tourism businesses and helps energize rebuilding and
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          2  economic activity and communities in all five

          3  boroughs.

          4                 The combination of business,

          5  convention and leisure travel to the City has shown

          6  itself as a valuable resource, fueling the economy

          7  recovery of the City, the flow of visitors to New

          8  York means more than $15 billion in direct spending

          9  in all five boroughs and a combined economic impact

         10  of over $21 billion.

         11                 In 2002, the City welcomed over 35

         12  million visitors, including a record number of

         13  domestic leisure and family travelers. Business

         14  travel, however, to New York dropped just over 9

         15  million trips. Within the business travel market

         16  each year, New York City hosts nearly 3.5 million

         17  tradeshow and convention delegates, plus 7 million

         18  more people who travel to the region to attend the

         19  shows, meetings, that are also held in the City. The

         20  economic impact of spending by this segment alone

         21  was over $2.4 billion, and we obviously need to grow

         22  this market.

         23                 Business travelers, especially

         24  convention delegates, tend to stay a little longer,

         25  spend more per person than the average visitor. In
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          2  current dollars it's almost $600 per delegate per

          3  visit.

          4                 Delegate spending percolates

          5  throughout the entire City economy, as member

          6  companies of NYC and Company located in all five

          7  boroughs can tell you, an increase in meetings and

          8  convention business as a result of the new

          9  convention corridor will mean an increase in the

         10  number of events they can service.

         11                 Each additional meeting or trade show

         12  New York City will be able to attract to the new

         13  sports and convention center will mean additional

         14  businesses for hundreds of local businesses and for

         15  some audiovisual and communication services,

         16  catering to party planners, musicians and

         17  entertainers and many more.

         18                 Right now less than half of the

         19  convention meeting delegates stay in New York City

         20  hotels. One of the most important benefits of the

         21  new facilities will be to increase a number of the

         22  hotel room nights.

         23                 The effect of visitor spending can

         24  easily be measured. They can be seen in more than

         25  226,000 jobs and over 6.5 billion in payroll.
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          2  They're good jobs, they're entry level workers in

          3  many of these jobs. New York City's newest arrivals

          4  can find secure employment in jobs that often

          5  include health care benefits and other protections.

          6                 Tourism spending and employment means

          7  nearly $3 billion in federal, state and City taxes,

          8  including $791 million for the City in taxes alone.

          9                 Employment and travel-related jobs

         10  accounts for 7.5 percent, the total private labor

         11  force. In 1993 that was in seventh place, as far as

         12  jobs, now it's up to sixth place.

         13                 At this time little is more important

         14  to the future health and growth of the travel and

         15  tourism industry in New York City and the businesses

         16  and jobs it supports and the decisions we make here

         17  today about the development of that part of the west

         18  side of Manhattan, called "the convention corridor."

         19                 In light of this, NYC & Company

         20  encourages the City Council to support the proposal

         21  of a multi-use sports convention center facility.

         22                 When we survey the tradeshow and

         23  convention industry, one thing becomes very clear,

         24  very quickly. New York City must leap forward and

         25  not just take baby steps in order to catch up with
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          2  North American and world cities.

          3                 Yes, I said catch up. New York City's

          4  convention center ranks 16th in size in North

          5  America. New York City hosted only three of the top

          6  50 trade shows last year, and New York City's share

          7  of the major tradeshow market has split from fourth

          8  to fifth place.

          9                 Now, mind you, in 1993, as New York

         10  City came out of the last major recession, we were

         11  number one on that list. Now Las Vegas, Chicago,

         12  Orlando and Atlanta surpass them.

         13                 That's millions of dollars of

         14  business other cities are benefitting from while New

         15  York City stands still. Important annual meetings

         16  and convention in the health care, the educational

         17  fields, are forced to go elsewhere because New York

         18  City convention facilities are not configured to

         19  meet the needs of these shows.

         20                 Last year alone, because our

         21  convention center did not have a plenary session or

         22  meeting room capacity. Thirty-two thousand

         23  radiologists, 16,000 cardiologists, and 25,000

         24  oncologists went to Chicago, instead of New York

         25  City, while 19,000 heart specialists headed to

                                                            247

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  Orlando and 39,000 automotive engineers graced

          3  Detroit with their attendance.

          4                 The New York Sports and Convention

          5  Center will allow New York City to pursue these

          6  important meetings and successfully put New York

          7  City on their rotation schedules. Just these five

          8  meetings would have meant, at a conservative

          9  estimate, at least 325,000 room nights, or almost 9

         10  million in hotel and sales taxes on these rooms

         11  alone.

         12                 Add to that the mid-sized meetings

         13  that are closed out of the New York market in New

         14  York City because the existing roster of Javits

         15  meetings literally books that center end to end.

         16                 The Trade Show and Convention

         17  Industry is changing. As currently configured, the

         18  City's major convention center, the Javits Center,

         19  cannot accommodate many of these new trends.

         20                 On the other hand, the location,

         21  flexibility and multi-use configuration of the New

         22  York Sports and Convention Center will be an

         23  important motivation for convention and meeting

         24  attendees to book overnight visits to New York City.

         25                 I'm going to wrap up now. At NYC &
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          2  Company, we strongly believe based upon every day

          3  contact with association executives, meeting

          4  planners and trade show companies, that our City

          5  must increase our capacity to host many mid-size

          6  tradeshows that represent one of the most vibrant

          7  segments of the tradeshow industry.

          8                 NYC & Company has been committed for

          9  a long time, probably since the beginning of Javits,

         10  for a full scale modernization of the City's

         11  convention facilities.

         12                 Today's support of the City's

         13  proposal for a multi-faceted sports and convention

         14  facility over the train yards, unlike any building

         15  in New York City has ever seen, the investment in

         16  this multiple-use facility we believe will expand

         17  our opportunity to attract hundreds of new

         18  buildings, convention shows and exhibits worth

         19  billions of dollars in direct and indirect spending,

         20  not to mention providing entertainment, dining and

         21  other facilities that all of us in the City can

         22  enjoy.

         23                 NYC & Company believes that the

         24  creation of the west side convention corridor will

         25  be critical in returning New York City to its proper
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          2  place in the industry, on top.

          3                 The synergy generated by the

          4  convention corridor projects really does mean

          5  creating something that is much greater than the sum

          6  of its parts. We look forward to working with you to

          7  make this project a reality for New York businesses

          8  and economic development.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. Why

         11  don't we continue going this way.

         12                 MR. KRIEGEL: Mr. Chairman, I'm Jay

         13  Kriegel, Executive Director of NYC 2012, the private

         14  non-profit organization for bringing the Olympic

         15  games to New York City, authorized to do this by the

         16  Mayor and City Council resolution. Let me thank you

         17  for today's hearing and the opportunity to appear

         18  before you.

         19                 This is the third time we discussed

         20  the Olympic games before your committee and we

         21  appreciate the tremendous interest that you, the

         22  staff and the other members have, and for the three

         23  of you who are here in all this time, we thank you

         24  for staying for this.

         25                 I'll be very brief and focus very
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          2  narrowly on simply the relevance of bringing the

          3  Olympics to New York and where we stand right now to

          4  today's discussion.

          5                 Let me first answer the question

          6  again of why New York wants the Olympic games, and I

          7  think we can answer a little bit differently. One

          8  could also say why do Paris and London and Madrid,

          9  Moscow and so many other great cities in the world,

         10  so well developed, want the games? And the reason

         11  is, it's not just the largest celebration or event

         12  in the world, it's that the modern Olympics have

         13  enormous economic power and leverage. And, so, our

         14  projection is that not just an economic impact of

         15  over $11 billion to this region with a tremendous

         16  employment component, Councilwoman, that would

         17  hopefully benefit all the citizens of New York, but

         18  a direct impact of more than a billion dollars to be

         19  invested in infrastructure, parks, recreational

         20  facilities which the City sorely needs and which we

         21  all know the likelihood of our seeing in the

         22  foreseeable future is very, very remote.

         23                 Also, all the research shows that the

         24  Olympics, more than any other issue, brings New

         25  Yorkers together. Across every economic racial
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          2  ethnic line, tremendous popularity and for the

          3  seven-year period this would be a fantastic way to

          4  promote civic unity in our City. And despite I think

          5  the differences expressed here today, and this has

          6  been enormously productive I think and healthy

          7  exchange of views what we need more of in this City,

          8  a chance to have everybody come together and try to

          9  understand where we share beliefs and where our

         10  difference is, I do think there is tremendous

         11  support for the Olympic bid.

         12                 Lastly, the games, because they have

         13  a set time period, have served as a catalyst for

         14  doing things and getting them done. If we're

         15  selected, we know that we'll have seven years to

         16  complete all the work, and regrettably all of us

         17  know that too many things in the City don't get done

         18  in seven years, just don't get done at all and

         19  they're gone.

         20                 What is required to win the Olympics,

         21  let me just focus on two particular things: One, a

         22  superb technical plan. This is the largest event in

         23  the world. It's sort of the equivalent of 17 days of

         24  Super Bowls, combined with 17 days of the World's

         25  Cup all going on simultaneously, but it's much
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          2  bigger than even that.

          3                 So, the complexity of managing

          4  Olympic games for 17 days, there's nothing else you

          5  can really compare it to. So, ensuring that we have

          6  all these requirements for the bid, also there is

          7  one other factor that is increasingly important to

          8  the Olympic Committee, and that is both the legacy

          9  that the games will leave for the City and for the

         10  Olympic movement, but responsibility in terms of

         11  resources and the environment. So they have become

         12  very diligent about ensuring that funds that are

         13  spent are used well and that are not wasted so that

         14  what has unfortunately happened too often in the

         15  past with white elephants does not occur again, that

         16  the facilities really have an after use.

         17                 There are two major facilities in

         18  Olympic games, in addition to the 30 other venues

         19  that are needed. They are the Olympic Village. And

         20  just last week we announced the end of a worldwide

         21  design competition for the one and a half billion

         22  dollar Olympic Village in Queens, which a

         23  spectacular design which exceeds all Olympic

         24  standards, unanimously chosen by the Community

         25  Advisory Group, the elected officials, all the
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          2  technical committees and the Olympians. We're very

          3  proud of that. And the second is the stadium. What

          4  does the stadium require?

          5                 Eighty-thousand or so seats to host

          6  the opening and closing ceremonies, as well as the

          7  sport athletics, which we call track and field. It

          8  also, though, has some other requirements.

          9  Proximity. It has to be near the broadcast center

         10  and the main press center. Those two facilities each

         11  for approximately a million square feet hold those

         12  20,000 accredited broadcasters and press who will be

         13  at the games.

         14                 We know from prior experience, games

         15  that require the media to travel great distances

         16  from their accommodations to their offices and into

         17  a facility like the stadium in particular, are not

         18  well received. One of the great advantages of the

         19  west side location is we've been able to locate the

         20  main press center in the Javits Center, the expanded

         21  Javits center, the International Broadcast Center in

         22  a new building right there on the square, and the

         23  hotels on 34th Street. So we have a uni

         24  concentration for the world's media which is

         25  extremely important to the International Olympic
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          2  Committee.

          3                 And lastly, the after use. They want

          4  to be sure that the facility is going to be used

          5  after.

          6                 There are so-called Olympic experts

          7  that have been quoted recently, and the Deputy Mayor

          8  dealt with this, but let me say briefly that it has

          9  been said that by moving the stadium some place,

         10  Queens in particular, it would strengthen the bid,

         11  it would cost less, it would be a better plan,

         12  having looked at all the options in considerable

         13  detail and also spent considerable time with the

         14  International Olympic Committee and its experts, I

         15  can tell you that none of the three is true. It

         16  would cost at least as much as the Deputy Mayor

         17  said, wouldn't achieve any long-term benefits for

         18  economic development for the City, and would give us

         19  in a number of ways, including the one I just talked

         20  about a much weaker Olympic plan and therefore

         21  significantly reduced New York's chances. We believe

         22  we have an extremely strong chance to win among the

         23  five finalist cities, which we are one. We will

         24  submit the final plan on November 15th, 2004, but it

         25  is well on its way because it has to be submitted in
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          2  English and French, very detailed architectural,

          3  construction, engineering drawings, all of which are

          4  underway now at great expense.

          5                 So, we are wrapping up parts of this

          6  plan now to go to press, it has to be printed and

          7  delivered in Losana (phonetic). This is a cost of

          8  millions of dollars to do that.

          9                 We are not finally suggesting in any

         10  way, and I think you know this, Chairman, we said

         11  this at our other appearances here, that New York do

         12  anything for the Olympics that would not be

         13  beneficial for the long-term good of the City,

         14  economic development-wise and community development.

         15                 The other witnesses can testify to

         16  the long-term benefit of the stadium facility or the

         17  New York Sports and Convention Center on the west

         18  side, but we believe that given the fact that it

         19  does suit these other needs, it is certainly a

         20  remarkable facility that meets all the Olympic

         21  requirements and is far and away the best plan New

         22  York City could put forward at this point in time.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. I

         25  again thank the audience and the panelists for their
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          2  patience and determination. And although the panel

          3  is well known to everyone up here, for the sake of

          4  the record, would you be kind enough to identify

          5  yourselves into the mic again.

          6                 Sir, would you be kind enough?

          7                 MR. COLETTI: My name is Louis

          8  Coletti. I'm President of the Building Trades

          9  Employers' Association, an organization representing

         10  1,500 contractors and employing 165,000 people in

         11  this industry.

         12                 I would also like to thank, Mr.

         13  Chairman, yourself and the members of the Committee

         14  for not only staying with this hearing through the

         15  end, but for the quality of the questions that

         16  you've asked of every panel coming up, and I thank

         17  you for that.

         18                 The Sports and Convention Center, as

         19  well as the entire Hudson Yard project, we believe

         20  presents an outstanding opportunity for rebuilding

         21  this City, not only from a physical standpoint, but

         22  from rebuilding this City's middle class, giving

         23  residents in all five boroughs an opportunity to

         24  strengthen their ability to lead a middle class

         25  living.
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          2                 That's an issue that has been ignored

          3  for far too long, and I say that because it was in

          4  1998 that this City Council released a report, and

          5  that report was entitled "Hollow in the Middle: The

          6  Rise and Fall of New York City's Middle Class." And

          7  I want to take a quote from that report. The report

          8  says that the single, most significant fact in this

          9  report, and I'm quoting, is that there are fewer New

         10  Yorkers earning a middle class income in 1998 than

         11  there were in 1977. Does anyone really believe that

         12  it's changed since 1998? I don't.

         13                 This project represents an

         14  unprecedented opportunity to create the kind of jobs

         15  that are going to strengthen our City's middle

         16  class. The Hudson Yards plan, the entire plan will

         17  create over 260,000 construction jobs. The Sports

         18  and Convention Center, 128,000. You've heard from

         19  other panelists of specific numbers. I want to talk

         20  about who gets those jobs, all right?

         21                 These are construction jobs that pay

         22  an average salary of $56,000 a year. Construction

         23  jobs that have health insurance --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: If we could keep

         25  that talking to a minimum. For whatever reason, it's
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          2  such a small group, there's a buzz in here.

          3                 Sir, please continue.

          4                 MR. COLETTI: Construction jobs with

          5  health insurance and pensions and construction jobs

          6  in an industry in which 76 percent of the workforce

          7  live in the five boroughs of New York City. In a

          8  unionized construction industry, 40 percent of its

          9  current skilled workforce is African American,

         10  Latino and women. Fifty-two percent of our new

         11  workforce is African-American, Latino and women. And

         12  we have the only program in the nation that gives

         13  our high school graduates a preference in getting

         14  into the apprentice program.

         15                 These apprentices are coming

         16  primarily from Brooklyn, next from the Bronx, and

         17  from Queens, with 87 percent of them being

         18  African-Americans, Latino and women.

         19                 On the contractors' side, my members

         20  last year awarded over $2.2 billion in contracts to

         21  minority and women-owned contractors.

         22                 Mr. Chairman, and members of this

         23  Committee, I respectfully suggest to you that if

         24  there is a solution, that the problem identified by

         25  this City Council in 1998 of creating strong middle
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          2  class jobs for New Yorkers, if we are to push the

          3  doors of opportunity open a little wider, building

          4  the New York Sports and Convention Center and the

          5  Hudson Yards plant is an absolute necessity, and the

          6  faster we get started, the better off all New York

          7  City residents will be.

          8                 I don't know how many of you saw the

          9  article in the New York Times over the last weekend

         10  that actually commended the City Council, the

         11  release by the Federal Reserve Bank, and it talked

         12  about crediting the City Council in terms of, I'll

         13  use the quote, "effectively keeping the property tax

         14  rate frozen through much of the 1990s."

         15                 I would suggest to you that without

         16  moving quickly and moving forward on economic

         17  development projects such as the ones before you

         18  today, where are we going to get the tax revenue to

         19  pay for all of the services that this City needs?

         20                 The only choice that you're going to

         21  have as an elected official in your budget

         22  deliberations, is going to be, should we increase

         23  property taxes, should we increase income taxes, or

         24  should we reduce services? And I suggest to you that

         25  none of those choices are going to increase the
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          2  quality of life for anyone.

          3                 In closing, let me bring up one

          4  point. You've heard from a number, and you will

          5  continue to hear from a number of special interests

          6  on this project, myself included.

          7                 What you have to deliberate on is

          8  whether the special interests of any one of us are

          9  just our interests, or is there some other benefit

         10  that all New Yorkers can benefit by in moving

         11  forward this project.

         12                 I'd suggest to you this project will

         13  benefit all New Yorkers. And since you're going to

         14  have another hearing, if I may make a suggestion?

         15  Why don't you write another letter to Madison Square

         16  Garden and ask them to come? Because when you talk

         17  about special interests that are funding ad

         18  campaigns, we did one, we put our own money on the

         19  table. Where is Madison Square Garden?

         20                 The organization that thought it was

         21  good economic development policy to get tax breaks

         22  several years ago, I may not agree with the

         23  residents and their position, but I respect the fact

         24  that they came here today, they're putting their

         25  positions on the record, not hiding behind a veil.
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          2                 Let Madison Square Garden come here

          3  and show us what other interest they have beside

          4  their own financial bottom line of why this project

          5  shouldn't move forward. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you.

          7                 Just for the sake of the record, just

          8  for the sake of the record, we did invite Madison

          9  Square Garden to come. We did invite them, however,

         10  it was rather late in the process. I'm sure that we

         11  may have the pleasure of hearing from them in the

         12  future. I'm sure.

         13                 I've been told that they have legal

         14  counsel in the back, and that's good. And if that

         15  person is willing to -- if he is here, he or she for

         16  that matter, is here representing them, we have no

         17  problem in hearing from them.

         18                 I've also been informed that they

         19  were invited at the same time that others were

         20  invited, but I just wanted to speak for the record.

         21                 Sir, without further ado, would you

         22  be kind enough to introduce yourself?

         23                 MR. PICOLET: Good afternoon, or maybe

         24  good evening. I am Francois Picolet, and I am the

         25  Managing Director of GL Events USA. Thank you. Thank
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          2  you, Chair Sanders and distinguished members of the

          3  City Council. I am pleased to have the opportunity

          4  today to discuss GL Events and our opinions on the

          5  proposed New York Sports and Convention Center.

          6                 GL Events is a fully integrated

          7  service provider in the events and exhibition

          8  industry. Our three main market segments are:

          9                 - Event Management, with a focus on

         10  medical conferences.

         11                 - Venue Management, we currently

         12  operate 12 venues in three European countries,

         13  including the International Convention Center of

         14  Barcelona, the Paris Floral Park Convention Center,

         15  and the London Battersea Park Events Arena.

         16                 Our third market segment is event

         17  engineering and logistics.

         18                 Our clients include: Reed Exhibition,

         19  the World leader of Exhibition Management, the Davos

         20  World Economic Forum, the United Nations, as well as

         21  several Olympic Organizing Committees, such as:

         22  Sydney 2000, Salt Lake City 2002, Athens 2004 and so

         23  forth.

         24                 GL Events employs 2,100 employees in

         25  12 countries; our annual revenue for 2003 was $420
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          2  US million.

          3                 In 2001, I was asked by the GL Events

          4  Board of Directors to open our United States office

          5  in New York City.

          6                 Part of my mission was, and still is,

          7  of course, to locate venues in New York City where

          8  we could take the existing trade shows and

          9  convention centers that GL Events services in Europe

         10  and either relocate them to New York or create a New

         11  York City version of them.

         12                 We have been successful thus far in

         13  bringing or accompanying several trade shows to the

         14  United States and especially to New York. Maybe

         15  you've heard of the Nexbo in 2002 (phonetic), it is

         16  one of our clients.

         17                 We are delighted that the City is

         18  committed to expanding the Javits Center. However,

         19  this alone will not fundamentally improve the

         20  competitive poster of New York City in the world

         21  market of trade shows and exhibition shows.

         22                 The City is also in need of an

         23  intermediate-sized venue that can both capitalize on

         24  the major events taking place at the Javits, as well

         25  as host mid-size trade shows, exhibitions, and
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          2  events.

          3                 Fortunately, the New York Sports and

          4  Convention Center fills this gap. With 200,000

          5  square feet in available space, a flexible design

          6  that accommodates multiple uses, close proximity to

          7  the Javits Center and first class amenities, then

          8  NYSCC can attract a number of events to New York

          9  that currently cannot or would not come.

         10                 In fact, to have identified numerous

         11  events that would seriously consider booking this

         12  new facility. They went from international trade

         13  shows, world conferences, political sports and

         14  cultural events, fashion shows, consumer shows, and

         15  corporate events, such as Project Lounge, for

         16  instance.

         17                 Having worked on stadium projects and

         18  arenas in Europe, many of which are partially

         19  financed by local government, it is clear that

         20  stadiums, when planned correctly, have a positive

         21  economic impact in their host cities.

         22                 I commend the New York Jets and the

         23  City of New York for having the foresight to conduct

         24  the proper research and preparation to ensure that

         25  New York City will obtain a positive economic impact
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          2  from the NYSCC.

          3                 To conclude, and maybe in answer to

          4  the gentleman from HVS in the former panel, I would

          5  say that New York should maybe not be compared to

          6  Atlanta, Indianapolis or St. Louis, but maybe more

          7  to London or Tokyo or Paris.

          8                 Let me give you three examples of

          9  Paris, the City that obviously I'm coming from.

         10                 In Paris, the Stat de France, without

         11  any residence team, is profitable and generates a

         12  huge economic impact into the City of Paris.

         13                 Second example. In Paris the total

         14  available space for events and exhibitions reaches

         15  approximately 5 million square feet.

         16                 In Paris, again, the Paris Verse

         17  (phonetic) arena's occupancy, and without any

         18  residence team again, is over 300 days a year, and

         19  also generates a profit.

         20                 And to conclude really this time, I

         21  would say that as a representative of the

         22  fastest-growing company in the venue management

         23  industry worldwide, and I'm telling you today, build

         24  it and we'll fill it.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Creative, sir.

          3                 Last, but never least, will you be

          4  kind enough to identify yourself for the record?

          5                 MR. HEYLIGER: My name is James

          6  Heyliger. I'm the President of the Association

          7  Minority Enterprise of New York, co-chair of

          8  Minority Business Leadership Council.

          9                 Let me first indicate that, one

         10  positive thing that this issue has brought forward

         11  is that it has Lou Coletti and Jim Heyliger sitting

         12  at the same table on the same side at the same time.

         13                 For those of you who understand the

         14  industry, that's remarkable. Let me say that, I'm

         15  not going to talk about New York rated 16th in the

         16  country when it comes to conventions. It could

         17  possible go to number five, or the 600 million

         18  versus 800 million that's being the investment by

         19  the City or the Jets, because to me there's a

         20  greater issue here.

         21                 I think we seem to have lost priority

         22  as to what really this should be about.

         23                 In times of crisis, hard choices are

         24  being made by those of us who are charged with the

         25  quality of life of our respective communities.
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          2                 The Minority Business Leadership

          3  Council is composed of 17 ethnic diversity M/WBE

          4  trade associations, aging women, African-Americans,

          5  Hispanics and Caribbean.

          6                 In our disadvantaged communities,

          7  development was forced on us without any regards to

          8  environment impact. We share an unfair share of

          9  service-oriented institutions in our respective

         10  communities.

         11                 It has been three decades of stealing

         12  educational resources from our children, and now we

         13  have a system in decay. But their four years still

         14  shortchange our education with insufficient funds.

         15                 However, as hard as these

         16  deliberating circumstances are for minorities and

         17  women, no issue is greater than the State of our 51

         18  percent black unemployment.

         19                 And if you look at our census review,

         20  the Hispanic unemployment situation rates the same

         21  way.

         22                 If we review the latest data, we can

         23  understand that the most crushing issue in this town

         24  is the employment of the middle income class by the

         25  minorities.
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          2                 The MBLC currently addresses and

          3  advocates these issues all across the City for the

          4  last three to four years.

          5                 We are meeting with developers,

          6  contractors, both downtown Brooklyn, Lower

          7  Manhattan, MTA, Port Authority of New York and New

          8  Jersey. Our objective is to structure an enforceable

          9  economic development affirmative action plan and all

         10  these major projects.

         11                 Plus, this is not an issue of special

         12  interests, though many may have that to say, but for

         13  us it is a matter of survival of our people and our

         14  respective communities.

         15                 We cannot provide shelter if we're

         16  not employed. Our children cannot learn if they are

         17  hungry. We cannot maintain our health standard if we

         18  are unemployed. And we certainly cannot grow and

         19  develop our families if underemployment.

         20                 If we look at what is most important

         21  to our respective communities, we must employ our

         22  people.

         23                 Recently the MBLC met with the Jets

         24  ownership, and we looked at what they wanted, they

         25  looked at what we wanted. We've come out with a
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          2  foundation or a formula for what we call a hostile

          3  agreement, where we're going to guarantee a

          4  structured system of posts, as well as current

          5  employment, business opportunity, economic

          6  development opportunity. This is the way to go. To

          7  invest $600 million, when you have shortchanged us

          8  over the last three decades, it's pennies compared

          9  to what you could do if you understand the reality

         10  of economic development as it relates to our

         11  respective communities, and our need for a project

         12  such as this.

         13                 We are in favor of this project, not

         14  because it's the Jets, not because it's the Javits

         15  Center, but because it represents a possible

         16  lifeline to our respective communities in the very

         17  nature of what it is to be.

         18                 You must have some foresight.

         19  Somebody mentioned earlier today, you must invest to

         20  have something. You must be prepared to take risk.

         21  Without taking risk, we will become stagnant and we

         22  will not move forward.

         23                 And as someone previously mentioned,

         24  there is insufficient dollars currently. The State

         25  has refused to give us our educational dollars. The

                                                            270

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  City does not have a plan for economic development

          3  that meets our needs.

          4                 Such as this, that we can shape

          5  ourselves from the private sector could possibly set

          6  the model that would allow the public to take the

          7  step forward and produce the type of economic

          8  development and employment that our communities

          9  need.

         10                 Thank you. I have papers to give you,

         11  and also Williams, of 100 Black Men, could not stay.

         12  He also has papers. I will leave all of these with

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

         15  much. I want to say that Council Member Gerson has

         16  rejoined us, I believe that's a good sign.

         17                 To respond to the last speaker, of

         18  course I can categorically say for the entire

         19  Council that this Council is committed to, as New

         20  York City develops and redevelops, that all New York

         21  City will redevelop, that we have a historic

         22  opportunity and that we will see that it ensure that

         23  all of New York City redevelops. We're very, very

         24  concerned about these things.

         25                 As it is known by many people in

                                                            271

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  here, the Council is hard at work with a disparity

          3  study, which is around six months away from

          4  fruition. And this is not the last word, this is not

          5  the first word we have said on this subject, and it

          6  certainly will not be the last word.

          7                 Having said that, I will turn to a

          8  person who must have a word, and that is Council

          9  Member Lopez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to

         11  indicate that I was here in '98 when that study was

         12  done and released. That was the first year that I

         13  served in the Council. And I want to indicate that,

         14  because it's another study that was released two

         15  years ago, and it's about 77 percent of children

         16  born to Latino women in the City of New York are

         17  born in poverty.

         18                 When this proposal came out, I

         19  immediately became very, very interested on it,

         20  because the job production. And it's something that

         21  is very important to me as a Council member.

         22                 I have problems in regard of how this

         23  has been put together, but in regard of the job

         24  creation, I am very interested on that.

         25                 Saying that, what is the difference
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          2  in regard of having the jobs being created by

          3  developing the area with one thing or another. The

          4  jobs are going to be born no matter what, what is

          5  the difference?

          6                 MR. COLETTI: For building this

          7  project in this neighborhood? I'm not sure I

          8  understand the question.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: For building

         10  this project versus another, if I understand.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I asked the

         12  other panel, and it is my understanding, I mean this

         13  is a firm belief I have, development is going to

         14  happen there no matter what, it doesn't matter when,

         15  where and how, but it's going to happen. Therefore,

         16  if development is going to happen there, what is the

         17  difference between having the job that this

         18  particular proposal is going to create compared to

         19  the other proposals that can come through is jobs in

         20  each case, construction jobs, both of them. Then

         21  what is the difference for you?

         22                 MR. COLETTI: I think the difference

         23  is that these jobs will be created now. I think if

         24  we have to wait another ten years to wait for

         25  another plan. We're going to have to wait another

                                                            273

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  ten years anyway to begin to develop the residential

          3  piece and the commercial piece.

          4                 When you look at the whole Hudson

          5  Yards plan, I think one of the problems we're not

          6  looking at this project in its entirety. We've

          7  segmented this piece out.

          8                 What is exciting about this project

          9  is, this piece is ready to go, creates jobs in a

         10  year from now, whenever they put the shovel in the

         11  ground, and I hope it is in the spring, as someone

         12  was saying before.

         13                 So, I think the other pieces, which

         14  are just as critical to the creation of jobs, the

         15  creation of affordable housing and commercial

         16  development, that's going to happen and that's going

         17  to take time, but the beauty of it is, if you create

         18  the jobs now, when these jobs are done, those

         19  individuals hired for those jobs will have future

         20  jobs to go to, as the rest of the phase-in process

         21  begins to occur. The big thing is, this creates jobs

         22  now for a specific need that the City has.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes. I'm sorry.

         24  I apologize to you.

         25                 MS. NICHOLAS: Councilwoman, if I can
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          2  just add to that? I think what Lou referred to with

          3  the jobs, he's talking about construction jobs. But

          4  once the facility is fully built, the jobs that

          5  would be long-term and permanent would be the

          6  hospitality jobs.

          7                 When you look at what makes up the

          8  hospitality industry, it is the group that you're

          9  talking about. We have a tremendous amount of

         10  minority participation in the job. If you look at

         11  Peter Ward's union, which is Local 6, it's entry

         12  level, the Hotel Workers Union, the Restaurant

         13  Workers Union, these are the jobs that will be

         14  produced by the Javits Center expansion.

         15                 So, I hear what you're saying, if it

         16  is another project that will exist there, and that

         17  other project has not been discussed and we don't

         18  know if that exists today in the near future, it

         19  could end up becoming white collar office buildings,

         20  and I don't know if that's going to address the

         21  concern that you raise today, the very important

         22  concern.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Just point of

         24  clarification, I am not just concerned about jobs on

         25  the arena that you describe connected to people of
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          2  color, I want people of color in the white collar

          3  jobs.

          4                 MS. NICHOLAS: Absolutely. I

          5  completely agree with you. And when you look at the

          6  hospitality industry, not only is it entry level

          7  jobs, with the Hotel Workers Union, the Restaurant

          8  Workers Union, but we also count the cultural

          9  institutions, we count anyone from, you know, their

         10  first job is the dishwasher to the president of the

         11  Metropolitan Museum of Art. That's what makes up the

         12  266,000 workers that make up the hospitality

         13  industry. When you look at all of the employment

         14  sectors of New York City, and this is the fifth

         15  largest, I think we are the most diverse, and we

         16  have the most opportunity for elevation, for

         17  promotion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And by the way,

         19  I did not imply that you were saying the opposite to

         20  what I said. I understood you.

         21                 MS. NICHOLAS: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I want to come

         23  back to a question, and then a last question after

         24  that. But how do we know that the industry of the

         25  trade unions are going to guarantee participation of
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          2  people of color when you have a record that's it's

          3  not something to be proud of, of including women and

          4  people of color in your trades? You have been sued

          5  in order for people of color to be included and

          6  women to be included in the trades, how do you

          7  guarantee and make clear to all of us that's not

          8  going to be the story one more time when these jobs

          9  are created?

         10                 MR. COLETTI: Councilwoman, you're

         11  absolutely right, in terms of what's happened in the

         12  past. But this is a new day and a new age. Whether

         13  it be from court order, the numbers that I quoted

         14  come from reports that must be filed with the US

         15  Department of Labor, the New York State Department

         16  of Labor, where violations and filing false reports

         17  are criminal violations. No one is going to take

         18  that chance.

         19                 What has happened in the past, the

         20  construction industry is going through a very

         21  serious demographic change. I'll give you two

         22  specifics in the interest of time.

         23                 We are finding that the age group in

         24  our workforce, between 45 and 55 has grown

         25  dramatically, and over the next couple of years
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          2  we're going to lose a lot of that workforce.

          3                 On the other hand, the young age

          4  between 20 and maybe 35 of coming into our industry

          5  has also been reduced. That's why every one of Ed

          6  Malloy's union has embraced the program coming out

          7  of the New York City high schools as their primary

          8  recruitment vehicle. And those kids have been

          9  terrific, and they go right to the top of the list.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This is not a

         11  statistical information. Currently, as the

         12  individuals who are part of the union, that is not

         13  the reflection, right?

         14                 MR. COLETTI: No, it is. The number I

         15  gave you is an accurate reflection as we sit here

         16  today. Forty percent of the 100,000 members in Ed

         17  Malloy's Building and Trades are African-American,

         18  Latino and women. Women, way down on the bottom.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I know that.

         20                 MR. COLETTI: Way down on the bottom.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That I know.

         22                 MR. COLETTI: But you just walk by any

         23  construction site, don't take my word for it. Walk

         24  by any site in any borough and you will see the

         25  change in the demographics that have occurred in
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          2  this industry.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And my last

          4  question to the Olympics representative: Why is it

          5  that we need this stadium connected to the Olympics?

          6  What is it that has to be where it's proposed? Why

          7  is it that have to be the site it is, and why it

          8  must be before we even know if we get the Olympics?

          9  What is it that is so critical?

         10                 Are we going to lose the opportunity

         11  to get the Olympics if we don't do this? What is it?

         12  Be specific to us on this.

         13                 MR. KRIEGEL: Well, it's not required,

         14  but you have to recognize that of the cities we're

         15  competing against, Paris already has the Olympic

         16  Stadium built, Madrid has an Olympic Stadium built,

         17  Moscow has its Olympic Stadium built, three of the

         18  four other cities already have the stadium. This

         19  City's record of completing projects of this size on

         20  schedule may not be the best in the world. So, we

         21  have to make a representation to decision-makers,

         22  and we see what's happening right now in Athens with

         23  the problems they're having in completing  the work

         24  that's been promised. It is our belief that to win

         25  the Olympic games, demonstrating to them that the
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          2  community can come together and have this project

          3  approved, financed and going forward in

          4  construction, removes the single biggest uncertainty

          5  in the bid, and that uncertainty factor today is a

          6  very significant issue for the International Olympic

          7  Committee. They do not want to take more risks with

          8  major construction projects. They are risk adverse.

          9                 So, if we want to win the games, it

         10  makes a profound difference in our chances.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You left out

         12  the location. Why it have to be the west side? Why

         13  can it not be in another place of the City? Why it

         14  have to be there?

         15                 MR. KRIEGEL: We originally looked at

         16  18 different locations. I'll be happy to go through

         17  that with you, came down to three. This is far and

         18  away the most appealing of the sites. And what I

         19  mentioned was, you're not just building a stadium.

         20  They're interested in the complex that it's around,

         21  the location of about 2 million square feet of space

         22  for the media adjacent to it, near hotels.

         23                 The gathering place for the games in

         24  the center city near the stadium as well. So,

         25  there's a number of elements required with the same
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          2  plus, what use will the stadium have after.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But it doesn't

          4  have to be. Because the only thing that for the

          5  Olympics that we need is in a stadium of the

          6  adequate size to provide a space for the games,

          7  correct?

          8                 MR. KRIEGEL: That meets all the

          9  requirements, and they will judge the plan as to how

         10  good that plan is. This location gives us all these

         11  other elements, the location, the media, proximity

         12  to hotels, transportation, and a great gathering

         13  space in the parkland around it, which makes an

         14  exceptional plan.

         15                 This is going to be very competitive.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What you're

         17  telling me is that if we put a package like the one

         18  that has been described here, will be the

         19  possibilities of competing for the Olympics, giving

         20  us an advantage compared to the other places that

         21  have already the stadium, that don't have the kind

         22  of component that this proposal have; that's what

         23  you're telling me?

         24                 MR. KRIEGEL: I'm telling you this is

         25  the absolute strongest proposal, strongest bid New
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          2  York City can make. There will be other factors, but

          3  we certainly don't want to be disadvantaged by a

          4  major technicality. This is the showcase location of

          5  the games, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Madam Council

          7  Member, your last point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just need to

          9  understand this. Any other of the localities, in

         10  Moscow, in Paris, anywhere else where this is being

         11  fought for, do they have the same kind of setting

         12  that we are proposing? Or we will be the only one

         13  who have the setting, giving us the edge in the

         14  advantage of acquiring this?

         15                 MR. KRIEGEL: That's a very sensible

         16  and tricky question. Each of the cities have

         17  different plans.

         18                 They each have different benefits. On

         19  balance, our stadium complex, and the facilities

         20  around it would be very, very strong and somewhat

         21  unique. We think that would give our plan a distinct

         22  advantage in some way. There are other parts of our

         23  plan that some people might think are weaker than

         24  Paris's plan or Madrid's plan. But this complex of

         25  the stadium with the other facilities around it
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          2  would be extremely strong, if we can remove the risk

          3  factor, which they weight very heavily today.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

          7  much, my Council member.

          8                 I want to thank this distinguished

          9  panel for surviving this long in the afternoon. And

         10  I do want to state for the record that President

         11  Malloy was here today. Ed Malloy was here earlier

         12  today and wanted to testify. He's one of the many

         13  people who wanted to testify on this very worthy

         14  issue, and this is why on the 14th of June, at I'm

         15  not sure what time, we are going to have a hearing.

         16  We will have a continuation of this hearing. Bring

         17  your pajamas. No, don't bring your pajamas. But we

         18  will continue this hearing.

         19                 We will have one final panel. I

         20  wanted to just respond to my friend Lou Coletti.

         21  I've walked by many construction sites and perhaps I

         22  have two high a desire, or perhaps the progress that

         23  both of us want hasn't filtered down to Queens yet.

         24  Or it could be that I'm walking by non-union sites

         25  and this may also have a bearing on these.
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          2                 MR. COLETTI: I'm very glad you

          3  brought that up, because I would urge you to call in

          4  some non-union contractors, because their work crews

          5  are virtually all white, and if when the disparity

          6  study comes out, I will tell you historically

          7  governmental policies have always focused on union

          8  contractors and members of organized labor. And we

          9  welcome that, but we want an even playing field.

         10                 If there are going to be rules

         11  addressing us, then we want to see the non-union

         12  firms having to meet the same rules, because you're

         13  exactly right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Then your point

         15  is very appropriate, sir. We are fighting for an

         16  even playing field; isn't that the American credo

         17  we're pushing for? An even playing field?

         18                 MR. COLETTI: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: No more and no

         20  less.

         21                 MR. COLETTI: That's right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: No impediments.

         23  And if non-union gets a free pass and we have these

         24  restrictions -- your point is so well made, sir,

         25  that I assure you that it will weigh in there. And
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          2  one of our leading union advocates, please.

          3                 MS. NICHOLAS: Thank you, Councilman

          4  Sanders.

          5                 Just one point that wasn't made with

          6  all of the expert testimony that was here before

          7  this panel, whatever the merits are of stadium in

          8  Queens, I should just say from a convention and

          9  visitors point of view, when we're trying to bring

         10  in associations and bring in large trade shows, the

         11  stadium that is domed, covered, would provide New

         12  York City with something that would make us

         13  different than all the other cities. But

         14  Councilwoman said, would it give us the edge, you

         15  know, with the Olympics? I know it would give us the

         16  edge with a lot of other cities that we're competing

         17  with right now, to lure these very lucrative trade

         18  shows. If the stadium was in Queens, and did not

         19  have the dome, and was only used maybe 18 times a

         20  year, that would not help us bring in conventions,

         21  trade shows. We have such a facility right now, the

         22  USTA, and as successful as it is for the two weeks,

         23  we very rarely can use that facility to bring in

         24  conventions. Not that we haven't tried, but it's

         25  very difficult, especially with weather situations.
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          2  You know, when large scale conventions come in, they

          3  don't want to take the risk of going to a place that

          4  has an open air facility, they want a dome to make

          5  sure their event is going to happen without any

          6  problem.

          7                 So, I think it creates a unique and

          8  interesting convention corridor that would

          9  certainly, may not make us the largest convention

         10  center in the US, we would still not be the largest,

         11  but I have no doubt that we would be the best.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Councilman

         13  Gerson will have the last question, comment or

         14  statement for this panel.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a brief

         16  question. I cannot let the opportunity go by without

         17  asking a question of my constituent, and Mr. Kriegel

         18  is doing just a truly heroic and tireless job in

         19  leading efforts to bring the Olympics to New York,

         20  and it's in that vain, I just need to ask you, as a

         21  supporter of having the Olympics here, to strengthen

         22  our position, following up on what Council Member

         23  Lopez said, do we have kind of a reserve plan B if,

         24  for whatever reason, the Jets were no longer a

         25  viable part of the equation, a viable participant in
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          2  the broad plan? Whether it's some other facility

          3  here, to be converted to something else later on, or

          4  a facility elsewhere, does the City have prepared

          5  some kind of alternative plan B to reassure the

          6  international committee that one way or the other

          7  that our bid is not going to depend on one private

          8  organization's participation?

          9                 MR. KRIEGEL: Thank you for your kind

         10  words, and if you do see my wife in the district,

         11  give her my best.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: She asks for

         13  you by the way, all the time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But her kind

         15  comments are much less forthcoming than Council

         16  Member Gerson's.

         17                 MR. KRIEGEL: Only 397 days to go til

         18  a decision.

         19                 The requirements of the bid are very

         20  precise, which is you have to submit a plan for the

         21  stadium in minute detail, with detailed

         22  architectural drawings, construction plans. There

         23  are five different user groups, you have to show how

         24  each one comes into the building, what the security

         25  is. The number of pages is defined. You can't submit
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          2  an appendix or an addendum. So there isn't any place

          3  to give an alternative plan, they're not interested

          4  in alternative plans. They want no risk. They want

          5  to know exactly what they're dealing with. They're

          6  going to come here next February. We file this on

          7  November 15th. They will come here next February,

          8  they want to walk the streets, see the exact

          9  locations, talk to the bankers, talk to whoever is

         10  responsible, the industry, and be sure it can be

         11  done. So, there is no alternative for the village

         12  and for the stadium.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So would we

         14  then tell the Olympic Committee that we'll go

         15  through with this whether or not the Jets remain a

         16  partner? We'll build the stadium and if the Jets

         17  aren't going to be there, we would then convert it

         18  to something else?

         19                 MR. KRIEGEL: Well, our expectation,

         20  and I stated previously, we are working on a

         21  schedule which has all the agreements done before

         22  the decision is made next July, which would include

         23  an agreement with the Jets and all the appropriate

         24  financing, so we wouldn't have to say that. We would

         25  say this is the agreement, this is where the money
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          2  is coming from, this is the parties, and the Jets

          3  will have to put up the appropriate financial

          4  arrangements for that. There is no other way to do

          5  this.

          6                 I would say, if I could, that Council

          7  Member Lopez, in asking about whether we get a

          8  benefit, competitive edge was a terrific question,

          9  the real competitive edge for New York is really

         10  this City. What we're finding out by going around

         11  the world is that this City is an enormous draw

         12  today. The values of the City, the diversity of the

         13  City, is really unique.

         14                 So, what is our strongest part of our

         15  Olympic bid is New York and New Yorkers.

         16                 Having said that, we do have to meet

         17  extremely stringent technical requirements to meet

         18  all of the minimum standards of the Village which

         19  we've just redesigned, of the stadium, all the

         20  venues of transportation.

         21                 If we can do that, we are extremely

         22  optimistic that the values of this City, the

         23  attraction of this City, the uniqueness of this City

         24  and the world, and the reason people still feel

         25  compelled to come here, not just for convention
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          2  business but to live, is what will be our

          3  competitive edge in the end.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          5                 I want to thank this panel again for

          6  your presentation. It will be taken under

          7  consideration.

          8                 Would you be kind enough to read the

          9  last panel of this day.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Walter Mankoff,

         11  Chairman of Manhattan Community Board No. 4., and

         12  Harvey Epstein of the Housing Conservation

         13  Coordinators.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, if I

         15  could just note for the record, that Assemblymember

         16  Gottfried had been here but had to leave, and also

         17  representatives of State Senator Tom Duane and

         18  Assembly Member Glick were also here, and had wanted

         19  to testify but had to leave.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well put. So

         22  noted. I'm sure this whole hearing makes you get

         23  choked up. I understand. I understand.

         24                 Thank you very much, gentlemen. If

         25  you will be kind enough to speak into the mic. I'll
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          2  let you guys decide. I see you're wearing Jet colors

          3  so perhaps that's a sign. Would you identify

          4  yourselves.

          5                 MR. MANKOFF: Let me go ahead. My name

          6  is Walter Mankoff, I'm Chair of Manhattan Community

          7  Board 4, and I want to say good evening to the

          8  Committee, to the Chair and Council members that are

          9  here.

         10                 I know it's been a long day. I will

         11  try not to be unduly redundant if I can, but we do

         12  welcome this opportunity to speak against the City

         13  ill-advised plan to put a stadium on the west side

         14  of Manhattan.

         15                 Given the methodical attempt by the

         16  City and State, the use of the state ownership or

         17  control of the area west of 11th Avenue to evade

         18  public and legislative review of this project, this

         19  will be one of the few opportunities for the public

         20  to be heard on this vital matter. And I'm delighted

         21  you're having a follow-up hearing because a lot of

         22  the public really has not been heard, and I'm afraid

         23  that even some of us are rushing because of the hour

         24  and so on, and maybe we can come back on the 14th

         25  and add a little bit, if you'll allow us.

                                                            291

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 Our district extends from 14th Street

          3  to 60th Street, and from Sixth or Eighth Avenue,

          4  depending on where we are, to the Hudson River.

          5                 We encompass the well-established

          6  residential and business communities in Clinton,

          7  Hell's Kitchen and Chelsea.

          8                 The site for the proposed Olympic and

          9  football stadium lies in our district's heart, but

         10  it's impact will be felt far beyond our boundaries.

         11                 Community Board 4 has consistently

         12  opposed stadiums on the west side, ever since they

         13  were first proposed many years ago.

         14                 With the latest version, a 75,000

         15  seat football stadium, pretending to do double-duty

         16  as a convention center, disturbs us the most.

         17                 Our carefully considered position was

         18  arrived at after two years of study and discussion

         19  with those who live and work in our area. Unlike

         20  NIMBY positions, which enjoy little support away

         21  from the focal point of the project, an ever-growing

         22  list of highly respected organizations and experts

         23  share our views and are making their position

         24  public.

         25                 At the press level, I mentioned New
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          2  York Times, Newsday, and the Observer, which are all

          3  editorially in our column, and various columnists

          4  and op ed articles also in our column. And as was

          5  noted earlier, many of the strongest opponents are

          6  sports writers.

          7                 The stadium is opposed by many local

          8  elected officials. I acknowledge Council Member

          9  Quinn, Council Member Brewer, who was here earlier,

         10  Council Member Perkins, Assemblymember Gottfried,

         11  State Senator Duane, Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum,

         12  Congressman Jerry Nadler, and a wider group that

         13  aren't even in our immediate district.

         14                 And negative opinions have been

         15  received from fiscal analysis experts as such places

         16  as the Independent Budget Office, the federal

         17  Reserve Bank of New York, the Center for an Urban

         18  Future, the University of Pennsylvania, and

         19  countless other planning and development experts.

         20                 I want to point out, lastly, the New

         21  York Times recently reported that the Regional Plan

         22  Association, had prepared a "blistering critique of

         23  heavily subsidized stadium." Those are the words of

         24  the article in the Times, which the group study

         25  paper suggested would deter rather than attract the
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          2  large scale redevelopment the west side needs. And

          3  then RPA had agreed to delay the release of the

          4  report, following intense lobbying by Deputy Mayor

          5  Doctoroff. This was a story in the Times on May 6th.

          6                 I hate to say it, but we seem to have

          7  government by intimidation, and it's a terrible,

          8  terrible thing. Before proceeding, let me summarize

          9  the reason for our opposition to a west side

         10  stadium. A west side stadium will cause severe

         11  environmental and traffic impacts, endangering

         12  crucial New York City industries, such as theatre

         13  and restaurants.

         14                 And let me just add briefly here, you

         15  saw a chart being put up by the Deputy Mayor on the

         16  number of cars before and after. But consider the

         17  difference. A car passing through Manhattan on the

         18  way to Jersey, compared to a car that's dropping off

         19  patrons at the stadium, picking up patrons at the

         20  stadium, cruising around and looking for a parking

         21  spot and doubleparking while they're looking or

         22  waiting.

         23                 The impact is not one car versus one

         24  car, but one versus two, or one versus three. You

         25  had a very slick presentation, but the numbers don't
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          2  hold up, in my opinion.

          3                 The second issue is the cost. The

          4  stadium will cost outrageous sums, requiring use of

          5  City funds to back its securities, and this may

          6  impair funding essential for education, schools,

          7  health care, affordable housing and other crucial

          8  infrastructure items.

          9                 I draw your attention, much as

         10  mention was made of the so-called Jets study done by

         11  Ernst and Young. The key model in that study is the

         12  St. Louis domed stadium, the Jones Stadium, which is

         13  adjoining their convention center. The cost to build

         14  the Jones domed stadium in 1995 has given us $260

         15  million. If you'll allow for inflation, we're coming

         16  out with about 330 million.

         17                 The New York Stadium proposed is four

         18  and a half times that cost, without even taking into

         19  account any payments to MTA for use of the land.

         20                 It's a ridiculous cost. It's an

         21  outrageous cost. I don't know where it came from, or

         22  what they're planning to put into the building, but

         23  it's an outrageous cost.

         24                 It will discourage badly-needed

         25  residential and commercial development in the
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          2  vicinity of stadium.

          3                 It's hard to find any example as a

          4  start of redevelopment. The Deputy Mayor is fond of

          5  using pictures of Park Avenue before New York

          6  Central covered Park Avenue.

          7                 Can you imagine if we had a stadium

          8  in the middle of Park Avenue, whether the Waldorf

          9  Astoria would have been built across the street? Or

         10  whether St. Bartholomew's Church would be around the

         11  corner? We know it would not happen.

         12                 You would have a stadium and

         13  desolation around it. A stadium will force

         14  unacceptably high levels of building density and

         15  height in other parts of the neighborhood in order

         16  to make up for the lack of real development on the

         17  stadium site.

         18                 They're talking of 70- and 80-story

         19  towers elsewhere along 11th Avenue, because they

         20  don't want to use the real good development site of

         21  the railyard.

         22                 It will force potential development.

         23  This is key to the topic of your hearing, which was

         24  the impact on the City as a whole. It will force

         25  development away from every other part of the City
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          2  that needs or wants development.

          3                 They're planning to give discounts to

          4  the firms, to developers to put the buildings up in

          5  this Hudson Yard area, because they need the cash

          6  early on to pay for the bonds, and they're going to

          7  pull development from every other part of the City.

          8  And also, things like Second Avenue Subway are at

          9  risk, if you go into this project.

         10                 So, we don't oppose the Olympics. We

         11  support an extension of the Javits Center. We

         12  believe our program will provide more jobs and

         13  earlier jobs than a program which the City is now

         14  headed for, which is bound for litigation.

         15                 If the area is tied up in litigation,

         16  there will be no jobs. There will be no shovel in

         17  the ground. We need more housing. We need Javits. We

         18  need proper and rational development on the west

         19  side.

         20                 The City, the football stadium plan

         21  simply does not do that. I will I think end here. I

         22  have a lot I would like to say, and perhaps I will

         23  come back on the 14th, with your permission?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Absolutely.

         25                 MR. MANKOFF: And do it a little more
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          2  leisurely, and perhaps --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I can't do that.

          4  But I can make sure that you --

          5                 MR. MANKOFF: Well, I don't mean

          6  leisurely in that sense.

          7                 Mr. Chairman, the first panel got

          8  three hours of time to speak.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: We won't have

         10  that in the next one.

         11                 MR. MANKOFF: Okay. I think we are

         12  entitled to at least maybe 15 minutes as a community

         13  board to give you our full impression of the

         14  program, and what harm it will do to our City.

         15                 I also would urge you one final thing

         16  before I close. The City Council, as you were told,

         17  does not have an immediate direct role with regard

         18  to the stadium. However, it is our opinion that the

         19  stadium will not be built without the accessory

         20  changes that come through the zoning plan. The 7

         21  Line, the Plaza, et cetera, okay?

         22                 The City Council can hold the plan

         23  hostage by insisting that unless proper procedure is

         24  being followed and proper public and legislative

         25  review is being given, that the City Council will
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          2  not vote the zoning, and it can let it be known

          3  early on that it intends to take that action. I know

          4  it's strong action, but we need to do something to

          5  convince the City to go through the proper public

          6  and legislative review. Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          8                 Sir, would you be kind enough?

          9                 MR. EPSTEIN: Thank you, Chairman

         10  Sanders. My name is Harvey Epstein. I'm the

         11  Associate Director of Housing Conservation

         12  Coordinators, which is a community-based legal

         13  services and weatherization organization on the west

         14  side of Manhattan, which serves thousands of

         15  low-income residents who reside on the West Side of

         16  Manhattan.

         17                 I want to thank my former Council

         18  member, my current Councilwoman, for staying here

         19  for the long-term. I appreciate your comments and

         20  your thoughts. And I want to urge this Committee to

         21  be thinking about the issues of decent, affordable

         22  housing.

         23                 This City needs to figure out ways to

         24  expand the issues of opportunities of affordable

         25  housing. And this Mayor, even though he has given
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          2  lip service to the idea of more affordable housing,

          3  has failed in this plan to put forward a method and

          4  an opportunity to develop decent, permanent,

          5  affordable housing. And I encourage the Council

          6  members here to think about a method, whether it be

          7  inclusionary housing, mandatory inclusionary

          8  housing, or other methods to create permanent

          9  affordable housing.

         10                 In addition, I want to thank you for

         11  having another opportunity for people to come and

         12  speak. There were hundreds of people who came down

         13  today to express their opposition to the Jets'

         14  stadium and their plan for the west side of

         15  Manhattan. Hopefully the Council, working with

         16  community-based organizations, will be able to reach

         17  out to them, because you're talking about coming

         18  back in ten days, to be able to let them know about

         19  the next hearing and give them adequate time to

         20  speak and let the Council know their concerns. As

         21  you saw today, there were hundreds of people who had

         22  those concerns.

         23                 As the Council knows, Manhattan and

         24  the west side of Manhattan is an immigrant

         25  community, and the development of Times Square and

                                                            300

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  the Convention Center in the seventies really

          3  affected the opportunity for that low-income and

          4  immigrant community.

          5                 In response to those threats, the

          6  Department of City Planning, along with the City

          7  Council, began to study the neighborhood and make

          8  attempts to preserve the character and the

          9  community.

         10                 The Department of City Planning

         11  proposed to protect and strengthen the residents who

         12  carry the community as a low scale, low rent, with a

         13  variety of lifestyles.

         14                 The City Planning instituted a study

         15  to protect and stop displacement and secondary

         16  displacement. It was critical of high-rise

         17  development, and created a preservation area, which

         18  is now called "the Clinton Special District" to

         19  preserve the neighborhood character, low-scale

         20  residential development.

         21                 Clinton Special District zoning

         22  regulation came into effect because of a fear of

         23  secondary displacement.

         24                 However, today, before the City

         25  Council and before the hearing today, the west side
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          2  stadium has no consideration for the displacement

          3  and especially secondary displacement that it will

          4  cause on the adjacent neighborhoods.

          5                 The low-income residents, small

          6  businesses, are extremely vulnerable to secondary

          7  displacement.

          8                 We've heard numerous witnesses

          9  testify that the result of the stadium will have

         10  devastating effects on traffic, the theater

         11  community, local residents.

         12                 However, the effects are far more

         13  widespread and far reaching, this is a division of

         14  the City which we live in, and whether the proposed

         15  development will result in displacement of the homes

         16  or creation of parking lots, loss of jobs or of more

         17  parking lots, a large number of decent, affordable

         18  housing versus a stadium. New Yorkers want Manhattan

         19  and they don't believe that these resources should

         20  be spent in the way the City has proposed.

         21                 We believe in going forward with the

         22  Olympics, but we strongly believe that to play the

         23  way the Mayor has proposed the plan not only hurts

         24  the Olympic bid for the City, but hurts the

         25  opportunity that we have right now to expand
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          2  residential development and expand affordable

          3  housing.

          4                 If they were to break this up, if

          5  they were to break up the Javits Center and expand

          6  the Javits Center on its own, create a plan for a

          7  stadium that was to exist in Queens, we'd get the

          8  best of both worlds. We'd have development that went

          9  forward in Queens, we'd have an expanded Javits

         10  Center that would be used for Javits' issues, we'd

         11  have the development of residential housing and

         12  commercial development at appropriate locations.

         13                 But this is a residential

         14  neighborhood, Hell's Kitchen and Chelsea. We want to

         15  preserve and expand those characters of residential

         16  development. We want permanent affordable housing.

         17  We ask you, the City Council, the protectors of our

         18  interest, to make sure that the City and the Mayor

         19  will come through with a plan that represents our

         20  interests, represents our concerns, and deals with

         21  the issue of affordable housing.

         22                 Councilwoman Lopez asked what's your

         23  plan for affordable housing? And they said we

         24  haven't dealt with it. Just because they haven't

         25  been pushed about it, we need to make sure that this
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          2  is on top of their agenda. And groups like ours

          3  believe this is fundamental to the City and we hope

          4  that we can continue to work and have our next

          5  hearing and continue to move forward in a plan that

          6  puts our priorities right, puts our priorities the

          7  way we want them, on affordable housing, appropriate

          8  development, and appropriate development for our

          9  City.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

         12                 I can speak for the Council when I

         13  say that the Council is committed to the concept of

         14  affordable housing. We do believe that there is a

         15  role in New York City for all levels of the economy,

         16  and there is a strong commitment. I will even point

         17  to a further commitment where I will say that there

         18  are three pieces of legislation making its way

         19  through the Council, including one put forward by

         20  myself, that have questions about what we call

         21  affordable housing, where this term has been bantied

         22  about, and we understand that the area of median

         23  income that New York City finds itself in does not

         24  reflect the median income of this City. We are

         25  grouped with Nassau County, Suffolk County,
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          2  Westchester and part of Jersey, and that has skewed

          3  the income upward, meaning that the so-called

          4  average or affordable housing, income for affordable

          5  housing is out of the reach of many of the

          6  population of New York City that we represent. We

          7  have taken a strong stand and the stand will

          8  continue, that affordable housing has to be

          9  affordable to people in New York City, otherwise

         10  it's not affordable in our minds.

         11                 MR. EPSTEIN: But Chairman Sanders,

         12  this is a prime opportunity for the Council to speak

         13  up. When this ULURP comes to you again this month,

         14  whether it's 6,000 pages or 12,000 pages, it's an

         15  opportunity to say to the City, 28 million square

         16  feet in office space, and 1,200 units of housing,

         17  maybe our priorities are messed up. Maybe we should

         18  be looking at Lower Manhattan as rebuilding, and

         19  hopefully we'll get office redevelopment in Lower

         20  Manhattan.

         21                 We already have vacancy rates of 15

         22  to 20 percent.  To create a new special business

         23  district on the west side of Manhattan, without

         24  talking about our need for housing, this Council has

         25  the opportunity to say we need to change our
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          2  priorities. We need to be saying we want more

          3  housing, we want more affordable housing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Allow me to

          5  just, a friendly amendment, if you wish. The Council

          6  of course has been speaking up on these issues. One

          7  can become even more vocal on the issues, and one

          8  can use it to highlight. But there has been

          9  dialogue, not only simply in the Council, but with

         10  the Administration. And I must admit I'm seeing a

         11  certain amount of awareness on the part of the

         12  Administration that we need a new definition of

         13  affordable housing in New York City.

         14                 MR. EPSTEIN: Right. And then the need

         15  to move this plan forward in a way that is good for

         16  New Yorkers. Even when Deputy Mayor Doctoroff spoke

         17  today, he said we'll get you 1,200 units of 80/20

         18  housing. Well, those 1,200 units, 20 percent of the

         19  housing, they're aged down 20 years. That's not what

         20  we're talking about. We're talking about permanent

         21  affordable housing. And whether it's through a

         22  zoning mechanism that exists within the zoning law,

         23  or a creation of new methods to create affordable

         24  housing that I've heard our Council members speak

         25  about all the time, you know, for the years that

                                                            306

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  I've been around, this is the opportunity. Because

          3  it's not just this rezoning, it's rezonings that are

          4  happening throughout the City, and this is the first

          5  of the ones that are coming to the Council, but this

          6  is the first where the Council should be standing up

          7  and saying we want more permanent, affordable

          8  housing. Take the opportunity now, because if we do

          9  it now, the ones that will come following, whether

         10  it's Williamsburg or Flushing or the other rezonings

         11  that the City is proposing, we have worked out those

         12  issues. We will say we want permanent, 40 percent

         13  permanent affordable housing for our middle class,

         14  our teachers, our police officers and firefighters

         15  and our nurses and our home health care attendants,

         16  they should live in New York, just as much as the

         17  people who are wealthy, and maybe some people would

         18  say the people who are low-income, we want all New

         19  Yorkers, like we continue to aspire to. And I know

         20  this Council cares about this issue, but this

         21  requires putting it on the front burner so the

         22  Mayor's Office knows how important this is to all of

         23  us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Just allow me to

         25  put just as a point of information, this is the
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          2  second time a mega project has come before the

          3  Council. This Council, and this Committee in

          4  particular, has looked at the proposed development

          5  in Brooklyn and the other concept that has come

          6  before, and we raised the issue of affordable

          7  housing at that time, and we will continue to do it.

          8                 Sir, you made a statement earlier. I

          9  had forgotten your statement. You were commending

         10  the Council for doing this, as many people have, for

         11  holding this hearing as many people have. I wanted

         12  to answer it two different ways.

         13                 I wanted to say on one hand, it's our

         14  job. The people of New York City would expect

         15  nothing less than the Council to do due diligence on

         16  an issue such as this or anything like that. And the

         17  beauty of the City Council is that you hired us, the

         18  people of New York hired us, and the only ones who

         19  can fire us are the people of New York.

         20                 So, as long as we get a mandate from

         21  the people to move forward, we're going to address

         22  that mandate.

         23                 MR. MANKOFF: I apologize for

         24  commending you for doing your job. But I thought it

         25  was a very nice thing to do.
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          2                 Let me just comment briefly on the

          3  housing situation, because it's serious. The median

          4  income applicable to our area is approximately

          5  $60,000 a year for a family of four. Most of the

          6  80/20 housing or inclusionary housing that we talk

          7  about, the special housing programs now in effect,

          8  have either 50 percent of median income, or 60 I

          9  think in some cases. Which means we're talking for a

         10  family of four of 30,000, 36,000 a year.

         11                 Now, I recognize there are a huge

         12  number of people in our City, unfortunately, that

         13  fall below that kind of level. But think of all the

         14  civil servants, librarian, policeman, fireman,

         15  teacher, maybe the people who worked backstage at

         16  the theater, the waiter, going down the line, there

         17  are a whole list of people who earn, especially of

         18  two people who are working, earning too much to

         19  qualify for this kind of housing.

         20                 The community board supports a level

         21  of 30 percent of housing, new housing in these areas

         22  being what we call affordable, and we want it to be

         23  distributed among a reasonably wide range of

         24  incomes, so a typical civil servant can have an

         25  apartment in Manhattan and not have to move to

                                                            309

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  another borough. They maybe want to be near their

          3  job or near family or if there were other personal

          4  reasons they want for living in Manhattan. We want a

          5  wide range of income.

          6                 So, far the programs have not emerged

          7  to provide anything beyond the standard 80/20 or

          8  inclusionary housing bonuses that are being talked

          9  about, and we want more housing and more affordable

         10  housing. And we're working with the City, but so far

         11  the program is not on the table. If the City Council

         12  can help get such a program on the table, it would

         13  be excellent.

         14                 These are two unique areas: Chelsea,

         15  Hudson Yards area, and in Brooklyn also, you're

         16  dealing with conversion from manufacturing zones to

         17  potential residential and commercial zones.

         18                 The upzoning, which we support,

         19  provides a huge increase in value over the

         20  properties being converted. The City can gain some

         21  money through taxes, the developers can obviously

         22  gain money, or the landowners can gain money from

         23  sale or use of that property for a much, much higher

         24  use, and we say that some of the money, some of that

         25  money should be taken and used to build a wider
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          2  range of affordable housing than merely the standard

          3  programs that are now in effect. And we're looking

          4  for that and we insist on it, and we hope you will

          5  support us in it. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Let the record

          7  show that this Committee, that this panel was the

          8  only panel that drank from that water that was up

          9  here earlier. I think that says something about this

         10  panel.

         11                 MR. EPSTEIN: It could be the hour of

         12  the day, too.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: The night, my

         14  friend.

         15                 I'm going to have the last statements

         16  of my colleagues up here, if they choose to make

         17  one. We'll go starting at my left.

         18                 Margarita, if you wanted to make a

         19  statement?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want to

         21  just indicate to the public that is still here that

         22  I think that this is a good beginning, and I think

         23  that the Chairman of this Committee had done a

         24  great, great deed for the City of New York in having

         25  this particular meeting today.
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          2                 Saying that, I don't think it's

          3  right. I don't think we should proceed with

          4  approving absolutely nothing here, unless we discuss

          5  further in an official hearing where these

          6  discussions take place giving enough time for people

          7  to speak. And I believe that a couple of hearings

          8  should be put together where the public is given

          9  three, four minutes to speak, each of them, until

         10  it's over. But everyone who would like to speak on

         11  this should be allowed, and flush out these ideas,

         12  because I have to say, Mr. Chairman, today I knew

         13  about this, I had been reading, but I learned much

         14  more with the hearing. Therefore, it doesn't hurt

         15  for anyone to learn more and develop the capacity

         16  further.

         17                 Thank you very much, and thank you to

         18  the public for coming today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. My

         20  friends, this is the time that the Council is

         21  speaking, we are concluding. If anyone wants to

         22  speak to it further afterwards, I'm sure I will

         23  speak for myself, I am willing, but the time for the

         24  public will be put on to the 14th of June.

         25                 Council Member Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair. I could just say ditto to the words of wisdom

          4  of my colleague, Council Member Lopez, but then I

          5  think you would be truly worried that something was

          6  very wrong with me, for lack of rapacity, and I

          7  don't want to do that. So, therefore, let me make

          8  just make a couple of quick points.

          9                 First of all, Mr. Chair, you, as

         10  usual, have once again done a masterful job in this

         11  hearing, and I want to thank you very much for that.

         12  He deserves all the applause you can give him.

         13                 I sit here opposed to the stadium,

         14  but strongly in support of economic development in

         15  the Olympics and remaining a Jets' fan. So from that

         16  perspective, as well as from the perspective that I

         17  share with all of my colleagues as legislators, I

         18  want to be sure we have complete information and

         19  full input, I would just like, before we make our

         20  final, cast our final votes and make our final

         21  decision, Mr. Chair, I'd just like to put four items

         22  on the table for this Committee and this Council to

         23  follow up, four areas where I feel we have not had

         24  an adequate airing or received thorough information,

         25  and I'll just run through them real quick.
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          2                 One is the human factor, or the

          3  livability factor. We have concentrated, as we need

          4  to, on economic analysis, the very fleeting

          5  reference to traffic impact, did not do that issue

          6  justice and certainly did not do justice to the

          7  question of the impact on this community, on these

          8  people and the future of our City, as a City of

          9  communities.

         10                 My colleague, Council Member Quinn,

         11  has been absolutely insightful and articulate, as

         12  she always is, in bringing forward these issues, and

         13  her analyses deserve and require the full attention

         14  of this entire community and subsequent hearings

         15  with an added focus on livability of the human

         16  analysis or the analysis of the human impact. So,

         17  that's one.

         18                 Two, a more thorough analysis of

         19  alternatives. A more thorough analysis of economic

         20  alternatives, or alternative economic analyses. It's

         21  a little late.

         22                 But in response to the questioning I

         23  made earlier, we did not hear the economic analysis

         24  of what would happen if we just did the Javits

         25  exposition center expansion, and did the stadium
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          2  elsewhere. I asked that to Mr. Boyle, and he said

          3  there's been some consideration and some problems.

          4  But that needs to have a whole economic vetting, as

          5  Council Member Quinn said, to see if it's feasible

          6  for us to join the other cities which have

          7  state-of-the-art convention centers without a

          8  stadium.

          9                 And the other side of the missing

         10  economic analysis is what it would take to build a

         11  jet stadium elsewhere in this City.

         12                 Mr. Cross, I believe, testified that

         13  he was kind of operating on certain presupposition

         14  that did not give rise to those analyses, and I

         15  think we as a Council need to see that.

         16                 Thirdly, and real quick, the

         17  Olympics, there's got to be a way to have a

         18  top-notch Olympic bid which doesn't hinge on the

         19  Jets stadium. It could either be one of the three

         20  alternative sites, which Mr. Kriegel referred, and

         21  we need to know what they are and why they were

         22  ruled out. Or maybe, you know, this is an age of

         23  technology, maybe you build in modular fashion a

         24  temporary Olympic stadium on this site, after which

         25  it is converted or broken down into an expanded
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          2  exposition center in part, and in part into

          3  affordable housing or parkland.

          4                 I don't know the answer to that, but

          5  I think it needs a thorough analysis.

          6                 And, finally, Mr. Chair, the fourth

          7  area, is the coordination with development going on.

          8  In my district of Lower Manhattan and elsewhere, we

          9  do not want to pit one community against another,

         10  but we do want to have synergies between what is

         11  going on throughout our borough and our City. Lower

         12  Manhattan is actually not that far away from Chelsea

         13  and Clinton, Hell's Kitchen. And I should say,

         14  though, I'm an honorary member of that community, my

         15  mother having taught on West 48th Street, in

         16  physical education, for that matter.

         17                 But the point is, we need to see, in

         18  terms of allocation of resources, and in terms of

         19  the impact on the overall, how are we coordinating

         20  and how are we synergizing?

         21                 So, I'd like to put those four items,

         22  and I see our esteemed Counsel taking notes, and she

         23  always follows through so admirably. So, I just look

         24  forward as we continue this to addressing those four

         25  issues, as well as hearing, you know, fully from the
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          2  public.

          3                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you, sir.

          5                 Council Member Quinn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: First, I just

          7  want to add to really the appropriate chorus of

          8  voices who have thanked you, Chairman Sanders, for

          9  this hearing, for this second hearing, and for being

         10  so committed and dogged in your efforts to make sure

         11  that this proposal gets the full public hearing that

         12  it really warrants.

         13                 And I just want to say again, you

         14  know, you very easily could not have done this, and

         15  would not really probably have gotten that faulted,

         16  and it would have little personal political impact

         17  on you, not being from the west said or from

         18  Manhattan, but the fact that you did it and of your

         19  own accord, said we need to have a second, which is

         20  really a glutton for punishment, speaks to the depth

         21  of your commitment to our City as a whole, and your

         22  recognition of your role as an elected official,

         23  being one that goes beyond district boundaries, and

         24  I really, really want to thank you for that and say

         25  we're very lucky to have you at the helm of our
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          2  Economic Development Committee.

          3                 And I want to thank my two colleagues

          4  who have gone the distance, and again deserve a gold

          5  metal for endurance today. And Alan, thank you for

          6  coming back after dealing with your family

          7  situation. And I just want to thank the two

          8  witnesses for staying, for your testimony. I look

          9  forward to hearing more on the 14th, and thank you

         10  for all of the work that you've been doing on this

         11  issue.

         12                 I think your testimony, also the

         13  testimony of Joe and Anne and Gerry and the two

         14  experts was -- you know, sometimes you have these

         15  hearings and you have the Administration and it's

         16  hours and hours and then you have the other panels

         17  opposed or proposed and they're really kind of a

         18  little bit proforma. Sometimes that happens, not a

         19  lot, but this was really a good example of a

         20  terrific public hearing because I, who know a lot

         21  about this issue because it's my district, I learned

         22  a great deal from the panels and from the further

         23  discourse, and I think it's going to be very helpful

         24  to all of us as we move forward on this issue.

         25                 So, thank you all. And thanks in
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          2  advance for getting a whole bunch of people to come

          3  back on the 14th.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Well put.

          5                 I want to first and first thank all

          6  of the people who showed up out here today. Whether

          7  you are for the proposal or against the proposal, it

          8  shows your depth of commitment, and this is

          9  something that bodes well for the people of New

         10  York.

         11                 I want to thank the Council Members

         12  who went the distance here. And, of course, our good

         13  counsel, Beverly Reid, who I tried to send home, and

         14  would not go home. If they had offered to send me

         15  home, I might have taken it. The first Brooklyn

         16  hearing went nine and a half hours. This was a mere

         17  six and a half -- no, we were supposed to start at

         18  1:00, six and some odd hours, to be continued. And I

         19  want to remind people that the City Council does

         20  have an official, a more formal role in this

         21  development, and that is in the Land Use Committee,

         22  the ULURP process, for a portion, half, if you wish,

         23  of the development. It is a form that I'm sure that

         24  the people of New York want us to be diligent in.

         25                 Speaking of the people of New York, I
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          2  will speak and say in a paraphrase Ben Franklin, who

          3  spoke and said about this nation, he said "It's a

          4  great republic if you can keep it." And by that, I

          5  would remind people that democracy is a very messy

          6  thing. It's a very, very messy thing. It's not neat

          7  and clean and cut, and the alternatives to it are

          8  very still, very still a closed shop, very done

          9  things done in the back.

         10                 The real battle that we have to fight

         11  is against a pessimism, that you can't change City

         12  Hall, that nothing will be built, or nothing will go

         13  on, that the people of New York themselves have to

         14  lead and say that we have a say. Whether we are for

         15  this building, or not exactly for this building, I

         16  encourage everyone to come out and voice your

         17  position. If you can't come out physically, then you

         18  should call your representatives, and that includes

         19  all those in TV land, that you must call your

         20  representatives, if you wish, and weigh in on the

         21  issues of the day. You get one shot at this. If this

         22  project is built, that means one thing for a long

         23  time to come. If it is not built, it means another

         24  thing for a long time to come. So, I encourage

         25  people to weigh in on this measure. And on that, I
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          2  want to thank you again. And my Sergeants-At-Arms

          3  and the good officers who have held, to my friends

          4  behind the camera trying to make me look good on

          5  there, trick photography, I really appreciate your

          6  diligence also. And by saying that, I'm going to say

          7  the words that we all want to hear, this hearing is

          8  over.

          9                 (The following written testimony was

         10  read into the record.)

         11

         12  Written Testimony Of:

         13  Richard Bass

         14  Bulwark Corporation

         15

         16  Good afternoon.

         17                 My name is Richard Bass. I am

         18  speaking on behalf of the Bulwark Corporation, long

         19  time property owners, over 70 years, of property

         20  located at 524-6 West 34th Street (Block 705 lot 53)

         21  and 528-56 West 34th Street (Block 705 Lot 54).

         22  Together, the lot area for the Site is approximately

         23  56,000 square feet or 1.3 acres.

         24                 Bulwark Corporation is supportive of

         25  and welcomes the City's and the community's efforts
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          2  to revitalize the Hudson Yards/Hell's Kitchen South

          3  area of Manhattan. However, the City's proposed Open

          4  Space Plan has designated the Bulwark property for

          5  condemnation, threatening over 600 jobs and the

          6  displacement of services that are vital to the

          7  business community of mid-town Manhattan, from 14th

          8  to 42nd Streets, River to River -- exactly the type

          9  services that the business community that will

         10  occupy the future Hudson Yards area will need.

         11                 The City's proposed action places an

         12  economic cloud over the future operations of the two

         13  businesses that may be forced by condemnation to

         14  leave the city altogether. Both businesses have

         15  spent substantial money (over $60 million) upgrading

         16  and outfitting the facilities over the past several

         17  years, planning on continuing operations in this

         18  Site for many years to come. These two separate and

         19  active businesses have over 600 employees; the bulk

         20  of these jobs are entry-level positions.

         21                 Bulwark has prepared an alternative

         22  to the taking of the Bulwark property. We believe

         23  this alternative satisfies the goals of the City's

         24  open space plan, reduces the cost of condemnation

         25  and relocation, and preserves needed jobs and
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          2  services that can't be easily relocated elsewhere in

          3  the area.

          4                 This alternative creates an urban

          5  enclosed open space similar to what is found in the

          6  Sony Building and ATT Building. This alternative

          7  works whether the proposed stadium is built

          8  Manhattan or Queens.

          9                 Bulwark believes that this City must

         10  continue to provide employment to all economic

         11  strata by planning for development that keeps

         12  existing businesses and jobs -- the City shouldn't

         13  forced existing jobs to leave the City. Sacrificing

         14  jobs and needed vital business facilities for open

         15  space is not the right decision.

         16                 Therefore, we urge in the strongest

         17  terms possible that the City revise the plans for

         18  the Hudson Yards to preserve the Bulwark site.

         19

         20

         21  Written Testimony Of:

         22  Catherine Greene

         23  Secretary

         24  Tenants Association

         25  454 West 35th Street, New York NY 10001
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          2

          3                 Good afternoon. I'm sure you all know

          4  the numbers better than I do. I have a math phobia

          5  that causes me to see them - a little differently.

          6                 For instance, the Mayor and Mr.

          7  Doctoroff like to say that there are only 149 people

          8  living in the area that would be affected by

          9  building a football stadium.

         10                 Well, I live in a building with 60

         11  people, the building next door has 17 stories with 5

         12  units each (you do the math, please (laughter) and

         13  two other building on the same block - 34th Street

         14  between Dyer & 10th - have more than 200 each. In

         15  Community Board 4, there are approximately 100,000

         16  people who would all be affected. Indeed the whole

         17  city would be affected by the huge amounts of tax

         18  money that would be involved.

         19                 Two other numbers I can't understand

         20  are the housing vacancy rate --% and the 2.94%

         21  commercial vacancy rate - 12.7%; this does not

         22  include the enormous amount of floor space that will

         23  be created downtown. I can't see that we need more

         24  office space, but I know there is a desperate need

         25  for housing affordable to the working poor and the
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          2  middle class.

          3                 Some other numbers I can't make any

          4  sense of are contained in the Mayor's speech on

          5  March 25th unveiling the plan. Under the heading

          6  "Convention Corridor - Investing in the Future" he

          7  states "The project will generate $128 million

          8  annually in new City and State revenues...Total

          9  annual debt service costs on the public's $1.3

         10  billion "contribution" to the convention corridor

         11  are estimated to be approximately $91 million.

         12  Cutting out all those confusing zeroes, it looks to

         13  me as if we would be paying an amount equivalent to

         14  the investment in interest in 12 or 13 years?

         15                 They say there are "lies, damn lies,

         16  and statistics". One number give out by proponents

         17  of the stadium is that 70% of the patrons would

         18  arrive by public transportation.

         19                 Half of the fun of going to a

         20  football game is the tailgate party. People have

         21  been known to skip the game because they were having

         22  so much fun.

         23                 Psst! Don't tell anybody but YOU

         24  CAN'T HAVE A TAILGATE PARTY IN THE SUBWAY!!! No

         25  smoking! No beer! No fun! Take your pick: Is that
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          2  70% number a lie, a damn lie or a statistic?

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 You can reach the Secretary at

          5  6A1, 212.868.0723

          6
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 3rd day of June 2004.

         20
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of
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         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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